APPENDIX.

“ ~AAn A

INQUISITION IN LUNACY.

A Commission de lunatico inquirendo was opened on Friday, Aug. 12, at the
Castle of Exeter, at ten o’clock a.m., before Samuel Warren, .,‘5.0., and &
Jury. The person whose sanity was questioned was Miss Pheebe Ewings, a lady of
80 years of age, and the petitioner for the enquiry was the nearest nhdn,
Dr. Greenup, of Warrington, in Lancashire. Mr. M. Smith, Q.C., and Mr,
Karslake (instructed by Mr. Daw), appeared for the petitioner ; and Mr. Collier,
Q.C., Mr. Coleridge, and Mr. Kingdon (instructed by Mr. Gray), attended in
opposition to the petition. The learned Commissioner was attended

. Stewart, a gentleman attached in a responsibile capacity to the Master’s Office.
The jury was composed of gentlemen of high standing in the county, the
foren(xl:xa being G. W. Soltau, Esq. The court throughout the enquiry was
crowded.

The learned Commissioner, in opening the emLuiry, said that they had
assembled under the authority of the Great Seal, as they had just heard from
the officer of the court, to enter upon a question of great delicacy and importance
—the sanity or insanity of the lady whose name had been just mentioned. He
had frequently had to sustain the very painful and anxious responsibility of

ronouncing the decision of that question himself, without the intervention of &
ury, and heartily rejoiced that, in the present instance, that responsible duty ds-
volved on so large and influential a body of gentlemen, taken from the body of this
great county, as he now saw impannelled before him. He was also to have the
valuable assistance of so many of his learned friends at the bar, whom he rejoiced
to meet on this occasion, “‘I mnustremind you,” said the learned Commissioner,
‘ that the exact and the only question which you have to try is, the present
sanity or insanity of Miss Pheebe Ewings. To enable you to determine the
question, a great body of conflicting evidence, I have reason to believe, will be
brought before you ; [at a subsequent stage of the proceedings the learned
Commissioner stated that he had signed nearly 70 summonses to witnesses,] and
among other witnesses are medical gentlemen, some of them of great eminence.
But I must earnestly caution you against allowing your province to be
invaded, or surrendering your rights to any witness whatsoever, however justly
eminent. You will yourselves judge of their premises, and the inferences
which they deduce from those premises their testimony as men of great
experience and skill is very valuable, but it is you and £n alone who must
P the decision, d with your own well considered view of
their—and indeed of all other—evidence. As the law of England premises
innocence till guilt has been proved, so it presumes sanity till insanity has been
established. ly, tlemen, it is by this lady’s own act that you are
summoned together to-day—in the exercise of that important right which the
law gives her. She thereby says, in effect, ¢ You allege me to be insane : but I
will have that all-important question submitted to, and determined upon, by a
jury of my country.” That is the simple question before you, and the learned
coungel for the petition will now proceed to open the matter to you.”

Mr. Smith, Q.C., then stated the case. He said Miss Phoebe Ewings, the
lady who was the subject of the enquiry, was 80 years of age. She was born in
Devonshire, her grandfather having been rector of Feniton, and her father a
captain of a vessel ; but her mother was a native of Lancashire. In the year
1800, her father died, and her mother was left with four children—a son, who
was an idiot, and died in the same year ; and three daughters, of vh:mmn
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ings was the only survivor. Inthesame her mother removed to
n, in Lancashire, and Miss Ewings lived there till after the death of
mother and her two sisters, when she came down to Exeter. In 1853, the
sister Elizabeth died, and that circumstance g:eyed much upon Miss Phoebe’s
mind. She was observed at that period to tantly moaning, and she
wandered abott the strsets. Notwithstanding the remonstrance of her friends,
she required that her sister’s grave should be watched for a considerable period—
» course which a sane person would not have adopted. From that time her
mind, which was naturally feeble, became still more enfeebled. A gentleman
named Holland, who formerly lived at Honiton, but was now at Norwich, and
who was related to Miss Ewings, called upon her after her sister’s death, but
her manner towards him was entirely changed since he last saw her, and she
behaved with great rudeness to him. In the early part of Qctober last she was
attacked with pnnlysis, and was in a great measure deprived of speech. She
recovered physically to a considerable extent ; but her mind was entirely broken
down. Indeed, there could be no doubt ﬂ’mt disease of the brain had then
supervened, for about that period she had an attack of insanity. She fancied
that the persons about her were Eomg to murder her, and she rushed out into the
street at midnight. There could be no doubt that at that time she was insane,
Mr. Beamont, solicitor, of Warrington, then managed her affairs, and it was
thought desirable that medical gentlemcn should see her. An investigation took
&m, and she was placed in a lunatic asylum. Dr. Kendrick and Mr. Sharp,
medical gentlemen who gave the necessary cortificates, stated that she was
inooherent in her discourse, and violent to her attendants, imagining that they
attempted to strangle her. Down to the present time there was the same
incoherence, and she still laboured under the same delusion. Upon the certifi-
cates of Dr. Kendrick and Mr. Sharp, she was placed in the Haydock Lunatic
Asylum on the 30th of December last, her property being taken care of by Mr.
nt. She then fancied that the persons at tho asylum were endeavour-
ing to make her a Roman Catholic. A},ter being there a short time her relatives
thought an “illi‘:om scarcely a fitting rlaco for a person of her mcans, The
Rev. H. T. mbe, the rector of Clyst, in this county, and a first cousin
to Miss Ewings, thinking himself the ncxt of kin, visited her at Warrington
and removed her from the asylum, with the view of placing her with some of
her friends. Steps were then taken by Mr. Beamont, who now opposed the
present petition, to apply for a Commission of Lunacy, at the instande of Mr.
Ellacombe. Pending these proceedings, she was taken irom the asylum, and
brought to Exeter. When she got to the railway station she exhibited great
violence, showing that she was still in astate of insanity. Sho was placed in a
first class carriage, but she thought it was a second, and alleged that great
indignity had been shown her. On arriving at Exeter she was taken to the
lodgings of Miss Cousens, with whom she had formerly lived. Mr. Ellacombe
thought it would be desirable that a medical man should sea her ; and he called
in Dr. Shapter. At that time her manner to Mr. Ellacombe was very kind ; but
it was suddenly changed, and she became entirely subject to the influence of Dr.
Shapter. Mr. .Elboombe called a short time afterwards, but she refused to see
him. Sudden ¢l of this kind were generally a symptom of unsoundness of
mind. Mr. Ellacombe was requested by Dr. Shapter not to visit her ; but Dr.
Shapter assured him that there should be no dealing with her property, with
which he should not be made acquainted. He also added that Miss Ewings had
placed herself under his care and protection. About this time it was discovered
that Mr. Ellacombe was not the next of kin, but that the gentleman who filled
that position in the family was Dr. Greenup, who resided in Lancashire. That
gentleman came to Exeterin April ; and Dr. Shapter at first refused him permis-
gion to see Miss Ewings. He did, however, subsequently have a short interview
with her, and his opinion was that she was not of sound mind, and was not able
to take care of herself. On his return to Lancashire, Dr. Greenup wrote to Dr.
Shapter asking permission for Dr. Fox, a well-known authority, to visit Miss
. Dr, Shapter made no reply; but a letter was received from Mr.
Beamont, who was then acting with Dr. Shapter and against the relatives,
giving a flat denial. Under these_circumstances, believing Miss Ewings to be
mad, Dr. Greenup petitioned the Lord Chancellor for & commission to enquire
into her state of mind. The case came before the Lords Justices on the 3rd of
June, The application was opposed by affidavits from Dr. Shapter, and from

Egg
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some medical gentlemen whom he had called in ; but the Lords Justices were
not satisfied, and they directed Dr. Bucknill of this county, to make an im-
partisl report. That gentleman in his conversations with Miss Ewings, discovered
that she had made & will, leaving the whole of her property, except a few
legacies, to Dr. Shapter. She was utterly unable to give any acoount of her
property, but she produced a paper, written by Dr. Shapter, on which there was
a statement of the sources of her income, the property being set down at
£13,700. She herself did not know how much it was, or how it was invested.
Another extraordinary fact appurad, namely, that Dr. Shapter had been ap-
pointed by her the guardian of her property and her person. It was ocertainly a
strange thing that a ward should make a will in favour of her guardian ; and
the law observed very great jealousy in such cases. But why was Dr. Shapter
appointed guardian? o ns did not re%mre guardians, He (Mr. Smith)
was happy to come to an explanation given by Dr. Sl:apter, namely, that he did
not intend to derive any personal benefit from the affair. But, if a tﬁm of
sound mind chose to give another his property, why should not that other
rson aocept it? Upon Dr. Shapter’s affidavit going before the Lords Justices,
hey at once granted the Commission. In a letter to Mr. Beamont, Miss
Ewings’s solicitor, Dr. Shaptersaid, ‘I have consented to undertake this charge,
the guardianship) and will, therefore, be obliged by your coming here an
taking her instructions and doing what is requisite.” the 12th of March,
nmon:l:i;fteryz:er arrival inbolExete.xl-El Dr. Shapter ts'rr; :-:al Mi;ahainga has
never an; hmﬁ to me about making a testamentary disposal of her property,
but I beg most explicitly to state that I shall not in any way suggest or interfere
with her disposition of her property ; save that, were she to proj to bequeath
any property to me, placed in relation to her as I now am, I should use my
inxnenoe to counteract such an act, and should undoubtedly repudiate it if
done.” The prophecy, unlike most prophecies, came true, though it was not
every one who had the opportunity of assisting in the realisation of his own
prophecy. The acoount which Dr. Shapter gave of the instructions for the
was this :—“On the 15th of May she desired me to take her instructions
for her will. I at first declined, and desired her to consult her solicitor. She,
however, urged me to comply with her request, and I at last consented to take
her instructions. She then declared certain legacies, amounting altogether to
£1,000, and desired me to be residuary legatee. I objected, but she positively
insisted, and expressed the greatest desire to constitute me rexidnu-{' legatee,
so as to dufoae of all her property, preferring me to anyone else. To relieve
her mind, but still adhering to my determination previously made known, not
to avail myself of any benefit, [ added my name as residuary legatee, and she then
signed the instructions.” Was that the mode in which a sane person was
usually treated ? Would he not have said, ‘I am much obliged to you, but I
really cannot take this benefit ; and if you make such a will it will not be acted
upon?” A solicitor was called in afterwards, and a copy of the instructions given
him. This was just prior to the hearing before the Lords Justices ; and the will
was made behind the backs of the relatives. Giving Dr. Shapter the fullest
credit for honourable intentions, no man could say that his intentions could be
carried out under all circumstances that might ocour. The bequest under certain
circumstances might have become absolute, and it would then be beyond his
m to control it. The repudiation of the £12,700 " in the letter to Mr.
ont was no legal obligation upon Dr. Shapter. There was another fact
which seemed to show that Dr. Shapter did not treat Miss Ewings as & person
of sound mind. In his affidavit he declared that he had never received any
fees from her, and that he had not cashed the draft for £30 which she had given
him in return for small sums he had advanced to her, nor would he allow his
daughter to accept a Pmont of a work-box from Miss Ewings ; and yet he took
the will in his own favour. It was difficult to understand such conduct except
on this theory—that Dr. Shapter was under some delusion that she was of
sound mind, while in his own sane senses he believed she was not. He must
have had two minds on the subject. He had the delusion that Miss Ewings was
sane ; but as an honest man he thought she was not ; and as an honest man he
would not take the benefit of anything she gave him. The learned ocounsel
then gave a summary of the evidence which he intended to produce. In conclu-
sion he said that six months ago Miss Ewings was in an asylum raving mad, and
it was plain that she wasnow in a state in which any man of intelligence, who
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was friendly to her, could do as he pleased with her. Dr. Shapter might exercise
his cnntrol for the best, but sup she took a sudden e to that gentle-
man and became subject to the control of another person, there was no
guarantee that she would be properly treated. The object of thotgereunt enquiry
was to place her, supposing she was of unsonnd mmi under the protection of
the Court of Chancery, which would appoint responsible and imrrti.nl persons
to care for her. He (the learned co Yobeliev the jury would arrive at the
oonclusion that owing to her unsoundness of mind she was unable to manage

her 'R)pertﬁ
e following witnesses were then examined :—

Dr. James Kenrick : I am a dootor of medicine residing at Warrington. I
have known Miss Ewings for many years. I never attended her professionally
until October, 1858, For the past few years there appeared a listlessness in her
manner, she walked in the streets as if she was walking neither fqr pleasure nor
business. On going to the house in October last I was told that she had had a
paralytic attack. Upon visiting her I found the usual symptoms. I thought from
one circumstance that she was incoherent. Her speech was imperfect, and hee

ulselow. I called again and found the pulse better. In the December followin:

was desired by some of the Beamont family to go and visit her. I did go an

I examined the state of her mind. I found Mr. Wood and Mrs. Mould with
her. I had a conversation with her, and am of opinion that she was then
decidedly insane. I gave a certificate woordug lﬁ' may say that I found her
in an excited state. She said that she should like to be taken away from the
house. I said, where would you like to go, and she replied ‘I do not know.”
Upon mentioning Torquay she either said that she did not care about goi
there, or that there was no one there that cared about her, Shem
¢ Would those creatures follow us there?’ This was said in reference to a
statement that during the night some demons had attempted to strangle her and
rob her. I believe mention was made of the demons being outside the door at
that time. I said to her “ Certainly they will not follow you.” She talked of
liking to go to a Mr. Greenall, who is a magistrate, and also about a Mr.
Lowe, who had been dead twelve months. She said she should like to go with
him to Mr. Greenall’s. Mr. Wood, the clergyman of the parish, was presen
but Miss Ewings treated him as Mr. Lowe, who was the former clergyman.
bad no doubt of her state of mind when I signed the certificate.

Cross-examined : Mr. Sharp is the regular medical attendant of Miss
Ewings. The attack of paralysis might produce a confusion of words, at least
to a certain extent ; but if often repeated I should look upon it as a confusion
of ideas and not of words. When she was taken to the asylum she thought
she was going to Mr. Greenall’s.

Mr., %mith said he understood his learned friends admitted that she was of
unsound mind. o

Mr. Collier : Not in October. I admit that she was in December.

Ann Worrall : I formerly lived as servant to Miss Phoobe Ewings. Iam
now living with Mr. Hardy, in Cheshire. I lived with this lady about three
m&u ago. I r::x‘ed 15 months, then went away, and returned in January of

t year. I ect Miss Ewings having a paralytic attack in October. It
was very sudden. I went for a doctcr. I was not the only person in the house.
I went for Dr. Kenrick, Mr. Sharpe not heing at home. I think that paralytic
attack affected her memory. She was not able to recollect things as well T-
wards as before. I observed that she called Mr. Ashton Miss Ashton’s
sister. This lady was afterwards with her. She frequently called persons by
Wrong names.

By the Commissioner : This was after the attack of paralysis,

Re-examined by Mr. Smith : I don’t remember her calling persons by their
wrong names before she had the attack. I recollect her being taken to the
Haydock Lunatic Asylam.

The Con;misaioner : I think it is admitted that at this time the unsoundness
Wwas apparent.
r. Smith : This evidence is merely to show the character of the
unsoundness.
Examination continued: One night Miss Ewings followed me upstairs,
and then ran out into the street. I followed her in ovder to take care of her.
This was betweén nine and ten o’clock in the evening, and she was dressedi
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We Et her back, but she ran out again. She said she thought there was some
one in the house. I did not hear her say what she thought the person would
do to her. There was no one in the house at the time bu{ myself,

By the Commissioner : She had only one servant.

Examination continued : The second time she went out she remained until
Mr. Bhnpe came. When she was brought back she would not go to bed
because ‘‘she dared not.”

By Mr. Collier : There was no “follower” of mine in the house. (A laugh.)

Mary Lawton : I am a servant in Mrs. Lowe’s employ at Warrington. I
knew Miss Ewings for the last nine or ten years. She used to come almost
e day to Mrs. Lowe’s. I always thought her a “‘ curious” sort of person.

the Commissioner : I thought so for nine or ten years. She used to
dress very shabbily, and her house was very meanly farnished.

Examination continued : I remember her sister’s death. After that she nsed
to be very sorrowful. She used to sigh and moan. Her sister died in 1853,
and that I think affected her & good deal. I heard her say that she would
have her sister’s grave watched. I remember her having a paralytic stroke. I
stayed in the house two nights by Mrs. Lowe’s desire, there being only
one servant kept. Miss Ewings did not know that I was there. The second
night she called out ‘‘ Fire !” and said the house was on fire. The house was
not on fire nor was there any light or fire in the house at the time. She
shouted out—*‘ Who is there? Some one is there”—just before she was taken
ill I saw her and she then said I was Mrs. Lowe’s sister. She told me twice
that she was afraid of being murdered. One time she called me *‘ Mrs. Wood.”
She told me that she was afraid the window would be blown out. She said
there was a dreadful storm, instead of which the night was beautifully fine.
Just after that she went to the asylum. I went to Exeter with her by the
permission of Mrs. Lowe. She went in Mr. Nicholson’s carriage, and on the
way to the railway station, she ‘‘rambled” all the way. I cannot ray whether
:l‘:e .:i:l' alarmed or was in & merry humour. I did not understand what

e said.

By the Commissioner : Mr. Nicholson and Mr. Ellacombe were with us.

Examination continued : When she got to the railway station she
screamed out ‘‘ murder,” and said they were going to make a Roman Catholic
of her. She screamed ‘‘ murder” several times, and called out for the police.
Her manner was violent and she appeared terrified. After some trouble she
was got into the railway carriage. Mr. Nicholson went with us as far as
Birmingham. At Birmingham, when Mr. Nicholson got out of the i she
imngnedm that it was . Beamont, and called out ‘ Mr., Beunong: Mr.

‘ tl?’ ﬁtll:‘e Commissioner : Mr. Beamont was her lawyer, and was not near
at the time.

Examination continued : She called out and wanted to know if they could
not *start,” saying that she had been travelling all the winter. ‘ Can’t you
start us,” she said, ‘‘ we are almost frozen.” All the way to Exeter her manner
was ‘‘ rambling.” I saw her taken to Migs Cousens, in this city.

Cross-examined by Mr. Collier : It was after the death of her sister that
I observed the ‘sighing and moaning” I did not see her while she was in
the asylum. At the Warrington station I saw Mrs. Barnsley, but I cannot say
whether ske keeps a private Lunatic wlnm.

the Commissioner : I cannot whether it was after or before she saw
Mrs. that she refused to go.

Cross-examination continued : I do not think that the two porters who

were called to assist in placing her in the carriage placed her in feet foremost.

. ‘Will swear they did not put her in by force. One porter rode in the carriage
with her. Mr. Nicholson and Mr. Ellacombe gave orders that this porter
should ride in the carriage. .

By Mr. Collier : I did not hear Miss Ewings say to Mrs. Lowe—* You, a
clergyman’s widow, and order me to be forced into a carriage !” I did not
take sufficient notice to see whether she was tired or not. I did not ask her.

Mr, Coleridge : What were you there for?

‘Witness : I was sent for company. She had refreshments at Birmingham ;
she came from Birmingham to Exeter without any, I had refreshments
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myself at Birmingham, but not anywhere else. When Miss Ewings was at
Miss Cousens’s she seemed very happy ; I have not seen her since.

The Rev. Ralph Allen Mould: I am the incumbent of Holy Trinity, at
‘Warrington ; I have known Miss Ewings since 1852. I lived next door to her.
Her sister died in 1853. After that I observed that she walked in the streets
¢ si%hing and moaning.” I heard that she had an attack of paralysis. When
she began to go about again, I observed that she seemed in low spirits ; and
she used to call my mother my sister; and her general conversation was about
her being ‘¢ miserable.” .

By the Court: She complained of *‘ those creatures.” I'said ‘ Why do you
complain 80 ?’ and she replied * Oh dear, oh dear, those creatures.” I eannot
say that I formed an opinion of the state of her mind. The day before she was
removed to the asylum her servant ran into my house to summon me.
afterwards heard her screaming ; she did not articulate any particular sound.
I went into the house about ten o’clock in the forenoon. en I went in I
found the nurse who had sat up with her during the night aj tly
struggling with her to keep her away from the window. When I went in the
servant released her. Miss Ewings caught hold of the collar of my coat, and
asked me to protect her. She said, *They are trying to strangle me and
murder me.” She repeated those words many times over. I tried to pacify
her, and convince her that she was wrong; but I did not succeed. I tried to
induce her to sit down in an easy chair near the window. She walked across
the room still holding my collar. She then beat the window with her fists
as if to attract the attention of any one who might pass. I took hald of one
of her hands to prevent her breaking the windows, and got one of the servants
to draw down the blind until the arrival of Mr. Beamont, who had been sent
for. Mr. Reamont, Mr. Wood, Mr. Sharpe, and Mr. Kenrick were sent for.
‘We held a consultation, and it was then that we thought she had better go to
an agylum. I and Mr. Wood signed the certificate.

ross-examined by Mr. Collier : I have every reason to believe that she
was attached to her sister. I think that when a person continues in the state
of mind in which Miss Ewings was for so many years—walking backwards and
forwards in the street, sighing, &c., although it may not be a sign of insanity,
it is a sign of simg%icity and disorder.

Mr. James Nicholson: I am an attorney and solicitor practising at
‘Warrington, and living there. I have known Miss Ewings for many years.
I remember her walking in the streets. She had great difficulty in compre-
hending any subject. I may term it a *‘listlessness of manner.”

By the Commissioner : I would not say positively whether I noticed it
before her sister’s death, but it might have existed.

Examination continued : I understood that there was an ob'ectiom some
of her friends to put her in an asylum. In consequence of what was I put
myself in communication with Mr. Beamont. I went to the Haydock Asylum
in company with Mr. Wood. I had expressed my dislike to her going to an
asylum, and was aware that she had means to support her out of one. When
we went to the asylum on the 29th of January, I and Mr. Wood were
introduced into the sitting-room. There was an attendant. Dinner was on the
table. As soon as she saw us she rose up in a state of the greatest excitement,
and seized hold of my hand. She seized hold of me with one hand, and Mr.
Wood with the other.

The Commissioner : Pleased or excited ?

Witness: In a sort of ° phrenzy, or of uncontrollable passion.” We
reauesbed her to sit down on the sofa. She did so, and then addressed me
“Oh ! Richard, Richard.” My name is James. She repeated the expressions
many times. She then said ‘‘ Richard Greenall.” There was a Mr, Greenall
living in the neighbourhood of Warrington. She said ‘‘ Don’t leave me, don’t
leave me, they will murder me.” She said this in a very excited manner, and
then added *‘they will murder me to night.” Both I and Mr. Wood did our
utmost to pacify her. She then said, ‘‘They are Roman Catholics here, they
are Boman Catholics here.”” Her conversation did not seem to have any
connection. I made use of some such expression as “ nonsense;” but she said
“They are, they have a priest, and they want me to go to their prayers.”

By the Commissioner : She is a Protestant.

Examination continued : Her conversation was decidedly incoherent. 1
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have given a fair sample of her manner. I put myself in communication with
Mr. Beamont both previously and subsequently. In Febmr{ I undertook on
my own_responsibility to take care of Miss Ewings and place her in a private
lace. In February I received a letter from Mr. Beamont, informing me that
might take the responsibility upon myself. I assented. That was on the
11th of February, 1859. Several lady friends requested me to take her out of the
asylam. The next day after I had the consent, Mr. Ellacombe called upon me.
He was then a perfect stranger to me. Mr. Beamont told me that he was a
relative, and rector of Clyst St. George, ncar Exeter. The name of Ellacombe was
familiar to me. I had had conversations years before with Miss Ewings about
her family pedigree. I then understood that Mr. Ellacombe was ready to receive
Miss Ewings into his charge, when I said ‘‘ Of course now a relative has aj
peared my office is at an emi," and I rectired from any further action in the
matter. Athis request I accompanied him to the Haydock Asylum, which is a
private one. When we saw Miss Ewings, her conversation and manners were
pretty much the same as before, but we were only with her a short time, say a
quarter of an hour. We communicated to her that we were going to take
her away. She was then very much excited, and seemed gratified beyond
measure, and went down on her koees, and offered up a prayer for her
deliverance. She asked for her shawl and bonnet, and put them on. Mr.
Ellacombe conversed with her more than I did, calling to her mind family matters.
By the Commissioncr : She went with us eagerly. She kissed every body
around her before she went. Immediately after we had left the asylum she
became very excited indeed, and seized hold of me. This was without apparent
cause. She addressed me as ‘“ Oh, Joe! Oh, Joe !” 3he looked wildly out of
the window, and said ‘‘ You are deceiving me.” She never called me *‘ Joe !
Joe I” before. She said ‘‘ You are deceiving me, you are deceiving me,” at the
top of her voice. I endeavoured to persuade her that we were not deceiving
her. When we passed by churches, &c., I pointed them out, but she denied that
there were any at all. At Newton I pointed out a church but she said ‘It is
nothing of the sort, it is no church.” We took her to Mrs. Lowe's, she begging
that we would not take her to her own house. Shc did not give any reason for
it. Shestayed there till the morning of the 15th. I then accompanied her te the
station at her own request. I said, ‘‘I will go with you, Mi i if it
is any comfort.” Her answer was, ‘‘ You mustl,nfon must.” I told her she
was guing to her ‘‘dear Devonshire,” having heard her express herself in those
terms of that county. Mrs. Lowe's servant also accompanied her. When we
were leaving Mrs. Lowe’s house, I said ‘“ We must not lose time ;” and she
replied, ‘‘Oh, I must have my time.” When we got to the station her
manner was perfectly quiet, and she did not apparently object to leave. She
afterwards oried out ‘ Murder.” This was on the platform. She cried out
¢ Murder, murder; police, police; they are going to make a Roman Catholic
of me.” This was just as the train came up. I do not think that it was upon
seeing Mrs. Barnsley. Her passion for the time was uncontrollable, and she
continued to cry ‘‘ Murder and police.” Mrs. Lowe endeavoured to pacify her,
reminding her that she was going into Devonshire. It was when on the point
of starting that the porter was requested to help. She was not taken up and
put in feet foremost. There was no violence more than * pressure.” In conse-
aluence of the outbreak, Mr. Ellacombe got one of the porters to come into
] e. I rather think I suggested it. Her manner was very much
worse than it was before. I went with her as far as Birmingham, bur{d
the journey she spoke very little. We tried to draw her into conversation, bul
did not sucoeed. At Birningham she seemed perfectly content and tranquil.
She had refreshments there with the scrvant, Mr. Ellacombe, and myself.
She did not appear to be alarmed at the appearance of Mr. Ellacombe.
Cross-examined by Mr. Collier: I am attorney for the petitioner. I did
not at any time maintain that she was not of unsound mind. I did not say
she was ‘‘illegally” detained. I might have said ‘‘improperly.” My view of
her case was that she might have been provided for otherwise than by Igomg to
an asylum, that she miﬁ:btwl:ave becn cared for in her own house. I did not
threaten to apply for a corpus on the ground that she was not mad, I
certainly threatened to spgly for her discharge from the Lunatic Asylum.
The Commissioner : Did you threaten to apply for a kabeas corpus? You
know very well if you did; you are an attorney. Witness : My letter will
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say. I oertainly threatoned to make an application on her behalf. [The letter
was then read. It stated that in the writer's opinion ‘‘Miss Ewings was mi-
properly confined in the Lunatic Asylum.”]

The Commissioner : Did you write this?  Witness: Yes.

The letter went on to say unless she is at once released from the asylum,
I cannot refuse to act in accordance with their (her friend’s) instructions,
and ls{pl for a habeas corpus, or in such way as counsel may advise.”

e Commissioner : Did you write that ? Witness : Yes.

The Commissioner : Did you not know, as an attorney, that you had no
ht to a habeas corpus, exocept upon the ground that she was not mad?
itness : I cannot say that I so winutely weighed the letter.

Mr. Collier : Did you not know perfectly well that the only ground for a
habeas corpus would be that she was il]ei:lly detained, not being nad ? Witness :
T oonsidered that my application would be that she would be delivered up to her
relatives for them to take charge of her.

In reply to the Commissioner the witness said: I cannot say that I ocon-
sidered it in respect to that point of law.

The Commissioner : On what ground, if not on that ground, could you
make your application ?— Witness : That she had been hurried away lromier
house, under the Br:tenoo that she was going to see some friends.

Mr. Collier : you mean to say that you threatened to apply for a habeas
corpus because she had been taken to the asylum under the pretence that she
was going to a friend’s? Pray be careful, I am sorry to say so to you.—
‘Witness : It was one part of my grounds.

Commissioner : What was the rest ?—Witness : I considered that Miss
Ewings could just as well be cared for and attended to out of the asylum and
under proper treatmnent as in the asylum.

Tbe whole of the letter was then read. In addition to the above passages
it stated that Miss Ewings’ friends werc desirous that she should not be kept
in the asylum. .

The Commissioner : A habeas corpusis a matter of right.—Witness : Yes.

The Commissioner : Then could the application do anything else than state
that she was not 1nad ?—Witness : No ; bat the letter was written in the hurry
of the moment and without due consideration.

Mr. Collier: Did you not tell Mr. Beamont that you thought she was
not mad ?—Witness : I will swear that I did not say so. I objected to the way
in which she was hurried away from her house and confined.

Examination continued by Mr. Collier : I saw her on the 29th of January,
more than ten days before I wrote this letter. She was extremely anxious to
get away from the asylam. She said ‘* They will murder me,” and expressed
a great dislike to be there. When she was taken away I accompanied her in
the carriage. She went pretty quietly for the first 40 or 50 yards. It did not
occur to me that she might think that having been *‘tricked” once she was
going to be tricked again. She did not say that she mistrusted where we were
going to take her. I told her where we were going, but she denied the truth of
1t. en at the railway station she called out before Mrs. Barnsley came up to
her. I differ from the other witnesses on that point. I was utterly unable to
acoount for her mi out. She had been tricked once, but I will not say
whether it was through this that she cried out. The porters led Miss Lwings
to the carriage. She was unwilling and resisted, but I cannot say that she
made “‘active” resistance. The porters said, ‘‘ Now, lady, the train is going
on.” A porter was put in the carriage with her. She would not speak after-
wards. and Mr. mbe were standing by when the porters put her in.
There is a_Roman Catholic chapel at Ashton, about & mile from the Haydock
Asylum. I cannot say whether there were any Roman Catholic patients in the
asylum. It was my intention if she came out of the asylum that she should
be taken care of, either by myself or other friends. I have known Miss Ewings
for 30 years, and her manner was always very peculiar. Her conversation was
strange, and she was esscntially dull in comprehending. For the last seven or
dshtyears she had a difficulty in remembering names and circumstances. I con-
sidered that it formed a feature of her conduct, snd it must have struck every-
body. I do not know that it occurred to me that this peculiarity was any sign
of her madness.

Elisabeth Bennett : I was attendant at Haydock Lodge Asylum, but I am
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not 8o now. While I was there I attended on Miss Ewings, who always
seemed in a very excited state. She said, ‘‘ I am sent here, because my servants
ill-treated me.” At another time she said, ‘ There are some persons behind the
door coming in to me with ropes, or killme.” This she repeated whenever
she was left alone. hen she came to the asylum she had some money

about her. There were some notes, about £60 or £70 concealed in her stays.
Tfh;; stntlef of her mind was bad. Ido not think she was capable of taking care
of herself.

Cross-examined by Mr. Coleridge : When I was putting on her dress she
said, ‘‘ Here is sumething to buy me a dress.” What she said led me to look
for the notes.

By the Commissioner : The notes were stitched in a piece of calico, both
'ide'nff ool Romeis e eaident at Haydock Lodge Asyl
r. Dani iter : I am resident surgeon, lum,
and have been connected with other asylums before. I was at Haydock when
Miss Ewings came there, and I visited her daily. Her memox;{ was very defeo-
tive, she laboured under several delusions, one of which was that she was going
to be murdered, and after she had been there a month she believed that we
wanted to make her a Roman Catholic. This delusion continued the whole
time she was there. There is a chapel in the asylum, the service being ocon-
ducted by a clergyman. There are no Romnan Catholic ladies in the asylum, and I
can say that no attempts at conversion were made. When she left her health
was better, and there was a slight improvement on the mind, but I consider
that when she was in the asylum, and when she left, she was insane.

Cross-examined by Mr. Collier: She had apartments to herself. S8he
always had an attendant, Elizabeth Bennett, who did not attend on any one
else. When there was any amusement going on she came down into the
ladies’ room. Sowe of the ladies oould visit her.

By the Commissioner : I cannot undertake to say that no Roman Catholic

atient had communication with her. I cannot say to two or three dozen

w many Roman Catholic patients there were, but to the best of my belief

there was no private Roman Catholic patient there. The others were paupers.
th classes were provided for in the asylum.

The Commissioner : Do you call it a first-class establishment?

‘Witness : Yes, we take private patients. At the time Miss Ewings came,
there was about 140 paupers and 40 or 50 private patients. 50 of these might
have been Roman Catholics. The Friest came about four times., There is
only one priest that ever visits the lodge; there may be more in the neigh-
bourhood. e first time I was told of his coming was in March., I found
that the priest occasionally came there, and I gave directions that I should be
told when he came.

Re-examined by Mr. Karslake : I have no reason to doubt that my instrue-
tions were obeyed.

By the Commissioner : Miss Ewings went to the chapel and oconducted
herself well. I will not swear that there was no Roman Catholic lady there,
but I believe they were all Protestants.

By Mr. Karslake : There is no communication between the paupers and
private patients.

By the Commissioner : I never heard of a proselyte. I have heard patients
complain of the priest not visiting them.

‘I'he Rev. H. T. Ellaconbe, rector of Clyst St. George: I am a relative of
Miss Ewings ; I was supposed to be the next of kin ; I am a third.cousin onoe
removed. I had a correspondence between 20 and 30 years ago with the Misses
Ewings about our family pedigree or relationship. The letter might have been
sent to the sister who is dead. _Ido not think that I had ever seen Miss Ewings
till I went to Warri . I received a letter from a lady, a stranger, in
consequence of which I wrote to Mr. Beamont, saying that I believed I was
related. I went to Warrington on the 11th of Keb: . I was informed
that Mr. Nicholson was willing to receive her ; T received her from the two
gentlemen who had signed the certificate. I afterwards made an arrangement
with Mrs. Lowe that she would receive her until she could be placed in com-
fortable lodgings. I went to the asylum, and I was introduced to Miss Ewings,
She seemed to recollect my name. I told her we were come to take her away,
and she said “When?’ She was told * Now.” When she was satisfied of our

https://doi.org/10.1192/50368315X00007520 Published online by Cambridge University Press


https://doi.org/10.1192/S0368315X00007520

X

%

she fell on her knees and appeared thankful. She took my arm,
down stairs, where I handed her into the carriage. Before she left
i all the attendants. On our way to Warrington she ‘‘rambled”
nversation. [The witness then confirmed much of the previous
as to the absence of mind manifested by Miss Ewings as to certain
ings and places on the route.] I made arrangements for Miss Ewings to
down to Devonshire with me. I took her to Miss Cousens, and reported
to Dr. Shapter. She arrived here on the 15th of Febnm?. ‘When I left
at Miss Cousens I said she would remain there only a short time. Dr.
gave orders that no one was to see her, and I did not see her when I
the next day. I saw her on the following Friday, and she asked what I
had been about, and I replied, to try and get a comfortable place for her; but
she refused to Igo, became excited, fell on her knees, and said, ‘ You can’t
take me away, I am very comfortable.” I said I am not going to take you away
immediatelg,obnt you must go. I have since met her twice accidentally. I was
prohibited from visiting her, and I consequently made no endeavour to do so.
the Commissioner : I refrained from visiting her because I understood
that it was the wish of Dr. Shapter, and also that she had taken a great dislike
to me. I afterwards understood that I was not the next of kin. Miss Ewings

g

2
i

‘was born in 1780.
The Commissioner : How do you know it? Witness: I have an affidavit
made by her mother.

Cross-examined by Mr. Collier : Miss Ewings was to come to Exeter,

but I did not hear her say anything after I left her in the custody of Miss

. I cannot say whether Miss Ewings was very glad to see & servant

called Mary. I will not undertake to say that she re d that servant, I

believed she was comfortable at Miss Cousens. When I went to her the next

ing to tell her that I had a comfortable house for her, she did not seem

m to go. The words J used might have been, *That she must go,” but

she was exoeedingly annoyed at it. I did not attempt to persuade her, though
I gave Ler to understand that she must ﬁn

ﬁ the Commissioner : 1 did not think from her manner to me that she
had taken a dislike to me. She has the demeanour of a lady of education.

By Mr. Collier : I cannot say, without looking at iy notes, when I learnt
that I'was not the next of kin. I do not know when I heard that Dr. Greenup
was the next of kin. I have made no arrangement with anyone respecting
this matter. .

By Mr, Smith : At Warrington she said she was very glad to see me, and
that I ahauld have all :l;ebmoney she hadf Fe?km ‘mt{ngvtn ol dervation p‘:{) lMissf
Ewings she appeared e & person of wi in and not capable of
managing I:e:P own affairs. I have made a note to that effect.

By Mr. Collier : At the interview on Friday after she came down, I did
not think she was sane. . . .

Mr. Collier : }Vas there anything at that interview to show that she was

of unsound mind ?

‘Witness, after a long pause : If I had not seen her before I should not
have said anything about it. .

The Commissioner repeated the question and the witness replied : Certainly
not, nothing occurred to lead me to think she was of unsound mind.

By Mr. Collier: She knew the persons where she was staying, and was
aware I wished to remove her.

By Mr. Smith : My opinion from the whole of the interview was that she
was ofy unsound mind. I have done duty in a Lunatic Asylum, and have had a
gentleman lunatic under my own care. .

Dr. Frederick Greenup : I am the petitioner in thiscase. Some years nnee‘
about 14, I called upon the two sisters. The conversation which ensued abou
our relationship lasted twenty minutes. At that time Miss Ewings appreciated
the relationship. I did not see her again for some years, when I heard that
gshe was in Exeter. It was my intention to call upon her. Before going to see
her I called upon Dr. Shapter understanding that he was her medical attendant,
I told him I wished to see her.

The Commissioner here interfered by saying that he was not here to enquire
infodthe conduct of Dr. Shapter, but only to ascertain the state of Miss Ewings’
mind,
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Mr. Collier: I shall call Dr. Shapter.
Dr. The Commissioner: I do not either want to oriminate or to exonerate

Examination continued by Mr. Karslake : I went to see her, I sent in my
card, but she said she did not know any one of the name. I said I had ocome
from the neighbourhood of Warrington, and that some of her intimate friends
of that place wished to see her. I mentioned the name of Mr. Nicholson, when
she hesitated and said, “‘I dont know the name.” She afterwards said to me,
¢ Are you Mr, Nicholson I”

The Commissioner : Did she put the (iuestion ?

‘Witness : Yes, I am quite certain. I then explained who I was, and Miss
Ewings’s attendant in a very kind manner explained the matter, but she merely
said, ‘‘ Eh, Eh,” and made no further reply. Mentioned other person’s names,
and particularly that of Mr. Blackburn, but she did not know them. Aftera
time she said, ‘“I am much obliged to them.” T was with her about a
quarter of an hour. I considered that her memory had in a great measure
left her. I should say that her intellect as far as regarded memory had gone.
An uppl.icttion that Dr. Fox, of Bristol, should see her was answered by Mr.
Beamont.

The oorrespoadence upon this point was put in and read.
: Cross-examined byh&)(}ollier: Dr. Fox has since seen her. I had seen
Miss Ewings once in my life before.
Mr. (?:llier: Do you generally make such an impression upon ladies?

(Laughter.)

uﬁy Mr. Collier : Miss Ewings did not intimate that she thought I was come
for her money. I only came to judge of her mentsl state. I did not come to
Exeter to see if I was next of kin, but I had that obi];egt ‘“ ultimately.”

Mr, Collier : *‘ Ultimately !’ Did not the old lady know what you came
for? Witness : No; when I saw her 14 years ago it was at the suggestion of
my sister. During the interval I have not sent any message. I have made
enquiries from other persons. I did not come to Kxeter until I understood
that I was next of kin. I have brothers and sisters. I have not made any

ment that we are to share the costs of this action. I am to bearthe
cost, but if I am unsuccessful, I believe brother will bear me out. I
that my brother will have part of the money, or at least as much as

e law allows.

Christopher Holland: I am a surgeon practising at Norwich, and am &
cousin of Ewings. In 1827 the two sisters sought me out at Honiton :
I was then an apprentice. They understood from enquires that I was the
sole survivor. They were my'% at Sidmouth, and invited me to visit them.
Their manner was very kind. 1831 th in visited Devonshire, when
I saw them. I dined with them at the York Hotel, and they were very
kind to me. In 1853 I heard of the eldest sister’s death. I visited Miss
Phosbe in that year, at Rochdale, and she received me with great rudeness.
She knew me well.

Dr. John les Bucknill : I am the superintendent of the Devon Coull:s
Lunatic Asylum. I have been so 15 years.  During 18 years I have
experience in lunacy. The present number of patients in the asylmn is 600, and
it increased gradually from 400. If you take the average it would be 450.
I received a order from the Lords’ Justices to visit Miss Ewings, and to Tt
to them upon her mental condition. I visited her upon the 6th, &h,nl&)h,
11th, 13th, 15th, 17th, and 21st of June. The interviews were generally long.
On six oocasions I had interviews with her at Miss Cousens’, at St. Sidwell’s.
I made notes of my visits. The result was that I thought that her powers of
mind were in a state of decay, and that she was undoubtedly in an unsound
state of mind, not being able to manage her own property. She was very
tranquil, and seemed glad to see me; she offered me roses and straw-
berries, and pressed me to see her again as a friend. In the first interview
I elicited very little except defective memory. The memory was parti
defective with regard to names. Her manner was very lady-like and self-

80 much so indeed that persons not gox:f below the *‘surface, ”

might obeerve no defect. On the seocond interview, although Miss Ewings was
erally tranquil, I found that she had been crying, and she said that Dr.
gmhr, had been with her, and that she felt anxious about the termination of
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the matter. She also said frequently, “ Won't protect me, won’t you
become my friend. Th m’thkemswsymd!:l: me cruelly ¥ 1 uied
her if she was in the asylum, and she said, * Oh | no, I have been
used most kindly,” but added that she did not like in the asylum. I
then examined her with the view of elici & delusion which she in the
asylum as to her attendants wanting to kill her, and she laughed at the ides, and
denied that she had ever entertained such a thought. She said that she had heard
strange noises in the asylum, but that they had been explained to her. She
oould not tell how long she had Leen at her present lodgings in Exeter. She
said she had been here about six months, and Miss Cousens who was \
remarked—*‘ You mean to say you have left home six months.” Miss gvmgt
then said she left home at istmas, 'When I explained that I wanted to
know how long she had been in the house, she could notthen tell, but afterwards
she repeated that it was six months, which confirmed my opinion as to the loss of
memory. She was afterwards spoken to about her property, and the death of
her sister. She said that she was born near Honiton; and she fetched a
drawing of Feniton church, of which she said her father had been rector. I
believe now that it was her grandfather who was rector. She added that her
mother was wife to Dr. Bertie, cousin to the Earl of Derby. Other parts of
the oonversation oonfirmed my opinion as to her loss of memory. She proceeded
without any enquiries from me to say that she had no relatives. She said that
Mr. Ellacombe was not one, and that she had never seen him in her life before
he came to the asylum. en she proceeded to say, that she was afraid the;
would take her away, and that she %ht they onlti wanted her money.
said “ Very likely ;” and she said *‘I take care that they shall not have
any; it is all provided for.” She then stated that she had made a will leaving
some legacies, and also some money to the Christian Knowledge Society, but
all therest to Dr. Shapter who had been & very kind friend to her. I asked her
if he was to be her executor, and she said ‘‘ Yes.” I said to her ** perha;
this enquiry is being made to prevent your making a will,” when she repm “R
is d:::gy done,” but in & manner which made me doubt whether the will had
actually been made. 8She said Dr. Shapter had made all the arrangements,
and was to have the management of everything. Before I went to see her
I asked Dr. Shapter to inform her of my visit and its purport, and I dare say
that he had done so.

The Commissioner : What made youn doubt it?

‘Witness : She mentioned it in a hesitating way, asif in fact she was onl.
expressing an intention. I wrote down my impressions at the close of m‘
interview. I uired what heaogrope was, and she said *‘ I don’t know.”
I asked if she could tell to a £1,000, and she said * No I cannot.” ** To £5,000,”
and she said “ I cannot.” ‘‘ Any money in the banker’s hands ¥’ and she replied

¢ alittle for t use.” * What does your proj consist of ¥* her repl;
was * of funds and railway shares.,” Upon the poll’:ir;t{)f time I asked har“&z
day of the week.

A discussion here took place between the Commissioner and the co
respecting the report of Dr. Bucknill, which was very volumious. The learn
Commissioner remarked that if he had a full copy before him, he hardly thought
it would be necessary to write down Dr. Bucknill’s statement as read from
notes of which the report was a copy. The original report sent to the Lords
Justices was then handed to the Commissioner.

Dr. Bucknill then proceeded to read his report at length. The following
were the most striking es :—*‘ Did she know the day of the weekY’—
¢ No.”—*‘ The day on which I last visited her ?”—¢‘ No.”—She said my last visit
was on a Sunday, which was not the fact. I thoughther powers of apprehension
were defective as well as her memory. June 10th, T visited her and questioned
her about her property. She said she had made Dr. Shapter her residuary
legatee, ¢ was Emt not the proglr word ¥’ I asked Dr. Shapter if & will were
made, and he said it was. Dr. Shapter added ‘I should wish some alteration
to be made in the will for my own sake.”

Mr. Collier : My learned friend has made an attack upon Dr. Shapter, and
I think I shall be to show that he is a man of honour.

Mr. Smith said he had not made an attack.

The Commissioner ; I think undoubtedly that a statement has been made—
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we will not call it an attack—and it is only reasonable on the part of Mr. Collier

that an ion should be given.
Mr. er : It is an indirect attack, which is worse ; and. therefore, I wish
Dr. Bucknill to say all that

Dr. Bucknill : I make the statement, because I feel that it is only fair to
Dr. ter, He told me this—although, when I drew up my report and sent
itto the Lords Justices, I did not feel myself called upon to mention it.

Mr. Collier : What was it he mentioned ?

The Commissioner read the statement made by Dr. Bucknill—“ I asked Dr.
Shapter if she had made her will, and he said she had and had signed it. I asked
him when it was done, and he said subsequently to the visit of Mr. and
that he 1Dr Shapter) wished some alterations to be made in the will for his own
sake.” is conversation took placein Dr. Shapter’s cottage garden, on the 10th
of June. My fourth visit was on the 11th June. 'Whenever I questioned Miss
Ewings about her will, it was only to see what her state of mind was. At this date
I questioned her respecting her annual income and what the interest was, but she
could not tell. Iaskedher what she paidfor her lodgings, and she replied supposing
I pay £100 a-year— that is £50 for the half-year, an for the quarter. She
could not tell what it was per week. In ing of the will she said Dr. Shapter
was her sole executor. iss Cousens said she witnessed the execution of
thewill, Iwas rised to find her deficiency in figures. At one interview she
aaid, *“ What would my poor mother say if she knew that they persecuted me
for my money.” [Dr Bucknill then stated at considerable length several
trials m esunting money, to which Miss Ewings had been subjected. In
some instances failed, but in others she succeeded with some difficulty.]
At my dictation she wxote a cheque for £15,000, but_ thinking it might
not be a fair trial, as she might have thought it was only done to shew her
power of w:l-iﬁng, I tore A}he cheqao up. Her xtx]l:nner at these inht::zi::s
was calm and possessed. ter mentioning many other instances, in whi e
was tried with figures, Dr. Bucknill said "&told er that she made abad hand ;”
when she replied, ‘I know you have a right to examine me, but you are very
kind and patient.” Iasked her to read, and she read two or three sentences from
the *Companion to the Altar,” and ‘‘The Common Prayer.” She said she
h:{od that she would be allowed to take the sacrament, adding that she was
not allowed to take it while she wasin the asylum, and that they tried to make
her a Roman Catholic, but that she said to them ‘I am a member of the Church
of Christ.” She read seven verses from the Psalms, but she miscalled or omitted
one-fourth or one-fifth of the words. I wrote a note to Dr. Shapter, and asked
her to give it to that gentleman. I can’t say whether she knew what I had
written, but she promised to deliver it for me. Dn.tini & long examination re-
:Eeoti.ng & visit on the 17th of June, the witness said I again subjected her to

e figure test, and with the same result as in former trials, though if anythi
more favonnl;le. She told me she had learnt the multiplication table, and sai
twice two made four, and twice three made six. She said 20 pence made
1s. 8d., and 30 pence 2s. 6d. She could not tell me the names of the at
the asylum where she had been, nor the name of the asylum itself, f asked her
if she could tell the time by my watch.

The Commissioner : Had she her glasses on?

Dr. Bucknill : No 8ir. It might have been owin&hto the want of spectacles,
or to thei bilit{ of the dial, but I cannot say. e time was ten minutes
to nine, and the light was good.

The Commissioner : It was a rather sharp test for an old lady of 80,

Dr. Bucknill then referred to the examinations on the 21st of June, which
were similar in character to former ones. Miss Ewings said she had been
oﬂtated by remembering that Haydock and Haddock were the same. She said
she thought she had been with Miss Cousens six months. She thought her
income was or might be a £1,000 a-year. She could not tell what she had given
to the Christian Knowledge Society, whether it was £500, £1,600, or £15,000.
She oould not tell the time on my watoh, it being in the middle of the day, and
the time (r;ite legible. The decay of mental powers may be set down as in
part due to mania, and in part due to i thepnmnmlyhd
oocurred without mhe%\::;mni;, thde.farobsb' ty is that we sh have found
her mind in a state of without delusion,
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The Comnmissioner : Are you with regard to her advanced age.
Dr. Bucknill : No. It would vgznnjuttomwith regrdto & person
wglnol in the same way as with regard to a person of of age.
:l:ﬂdhmood."o age & person was getting into what might be ulm“&oond
gm. Smith : I think those two causes would be more likely to produce
the ofimmi‘?innpemn_ofadnnoodlge. In fact I have no of it,
Cross-examin Mr. Collier : Dr. Shapter read to me the names of several
})eﬂomto whom Miss Ewings intended to make legacies. I said * Will she
eave you anything?” Dr. Sh:ipter replied *‘ Some trifling matter, perhaps.”
During the course of a conversation I understood that she intended to make a
will, and I said to Dr. *“ Will you allow her to make a will while this
ia pending " Dr. ¢ you, on my honour, my inten-
are straight and honourable.” Dr. Shapter said “‘She is in as sound a
state of mind as I am.” When I left Dr. Shapter I was under the belief that a
will would not be made. I don’t think she is a person to be shut upin a Lunatic
Asylaum. I go farther and say I think she ought to be placed under the care of
her friends. I do not think her mind is quite gone. I have examined her eight
times, extending altogether over nine or ten hours. I went into this en

with the thought that Miss Ewings was sane, and have put down things wi
perfect im ity. Ihadno desire to prove her insane. I went into the
mm an imparti a&nﬁ. The witness was then cross-examined upon his
d with by Miss

E s
Niohoﬂon and Mr. Ellacombe, she was going to be taken to a place where she
would be cruelly treated. She several times repeated her acoount of the
journey in a very consecutive manner, and this goes to & certain extent
to prove that she was of sound mind. Her loss of memory and her mis-
statement of facts were evidence as far as they went, that her mind was
unsound. She stated that she rode in a second-class instead of a first-class
, and also that she was put feet first into the carriage. Upon the first
interview alone I would not venture to say that she was of unsound mind.
Nothing then passed sufficient to determine the fact. By itself imperfect
memory is not a proof of unsoundness of mind. On the first interview Miss wi:au
was agitated when I first went into the room, but afterwards became tranquil.
She seemed to have a fear of ‘‘ those people,” meaning her relatives, taking her
to an asylum. Iam not aware that she knew that her liberty would depend
tly upon my report to the Lords Justices. I stated in my report that she
ﬁvodin ‘“dread of this event,” meaning thereby her removal to an asylum. The
knowledge of my reporting to the Lords Justices would tend to make her nervous,
and thereby affect her calculating powers ; but I may state as a fact that she was
not nervous. She did not complain of my questioning her about money
caloulations. At the second interview she told me she paid £100 a-year for
lodginr, and she said that is £560 the half year, and £25 the quarter. I then
tell

er how much £100 a-year amounted to per week, but she could not
me.
Mr. Collier: Can ourself tell ?

Bucknill hm

Mr, Collier : Don’t be nervous; take time., (Laughter.)

Dr. Bucknill : I decline to tell you.

Mr, Collier : You wont or you can’t?

Dr. Bucknill : I decline.

The Commissioner : I almost question whether the learned counsel himself
could have told unless he had been instructed. (Laughter.)

Mr. Collier : Do you generally ask such puzeling questions.

Dr. Bucknill : No, but it was not done to puzzle her.

Mr. Collier: Was such a question likely to produce a soothing and
WM? (Laughter.)

. Bud! : Certainly not.

Ro-examined : When 1 had the first conversation with Dr. Shapter he
said “I give you my honour that my intentions with regard to this property
are straightforward and honourable,” and I believed him. To a casual observer
there would be nothing in Miss Ewings’s manner to indicate unsoundness of mind,

By the Commissioner : Judging from my last interview on the 21st of June
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last, I should say that she was of unsound mind. I should call her unsoundness
of mind a mixture of chronic mania and dementia. Speaking in popular
language I should call it a mixture of mania and fatuity, ing in & person
who once had a sane understanding. Her age and paralysis might be concurrent
causes. The death of a beloved relative occurring to a person whose mind was
already enfeebled by these two causes, might tend to bring on an attack of acute
;1:;:;{ _disease—mania, but the sister died seven years before the attack of
ysis.

The following is the conclusion of Dr. Bucknill’s Report to the Lords

Justices on the mental and bodily state of Miss Phoebe Ewings :—

¢ Your Lordships will perceive from the above recital that it is impossible
for me to concur either with those witnesses who believe that Miss Ewings is in
the full possession of her faculties, or with those who consider her quite
incoherent or imbecile. There can be no question that she suffered an acute
attack of insanity in December last, and during the early part of this year. Her
present state appears to be that of imperfect recovery. The attention, the
memory, and the general intelligence remain to a oertain extent permanently
damaged ; but not so far as t1:)1_})revenl', Miss Ewings from taking fu-t in '°°i°§{;
or to justify the slightest interference with her personal liberty. It is im
for me to say how far the suspicion and dislike which Miss Ewings en
towards her relatives are the result of unsoundness of mind. The only
indications that they are so are to be found in her unfounded belief that Mr.
Ellacombe placed her in the asylum, and in her great and constant fear that she
will be again taken to an asylam. The only trace of delusion I can discover is
the belief that at the asylum they attempted to make her a Roman Catholis.
This belief was expressed to me in 80 cautious and circumstantial a manner that
I thought it might possibly be founded upon some miu})prehemion of reality.
I therefore wrote a letter to Mr. Sutton, the proprietor of the agylum, requesti
him to be so good as to inform me whether any of the official persons conn
with that place were Roman Catholics, and whether the service of that faith
was celebrated there. His reply in the negative, together with a letter on the
subject from the Superintendent, to whowmn I did not write, I transmit to you.
On one point my examinations have been conclusive to my own mind, namely,
that Miss Ewings is quite incapable of transacting business, or of m her
property. On the other band I am convinced that any interference with her

liberty would inflict much needless suffering upon her, and as she lives
{n dread of this event, I beg leave to suggest to your Lordships that if not
inconsistent with your duties in this case, you should cause her mind to be set
at ease on this point without delay. Miss Ewings tK.l:oes the greatest confidence
in Dr. Shapter and in Miss Cousens, and the fear she may be removed from
them and placed among strangers or persons to whom she has unfriendly feelings,
embitters a period of life which all would desire to render as smooth andbl:n
a8 circumstanoes permit. At present Miss Ewings enjoys excellent bodily {y'
She takes long walks, and has a good appetite. To a person, however, of her
age, who has recently suffered fromn paralyis and insanity, the probability of some
recurrence of active disease of the brain is very great. I think it right to
inform your Lordships that Dr. Shapter consulted me on these proceedings on
the 18th of May last, but that I declined to give an opinion on Miss Erm'l
state of mind on his statement, or to visit her, on the ground that your Lo: ps
might possibly wish to place upon me the duties of medical referee. I beg leave
to subscribe myself.”

Jou%l:nChulton Parr: I am a member of the firm of Messrs. Parr, Lyon,
and Co., bankers of Warrington. Miss Ewings had an account at our bank;
and when she left Warrington for Exeter, she had a balance of £2,124 3s. 6d.
Since that time £211 9s. have been added to the credit side, making
£2,335 18s. 6d. The sum standing to her credit on the 30th of J'nne, was
£1,672 16s.—£663 2s. 6d. having been drawn out since the previous Febnu‘r{.
The t had remained untouched from the 24th of November, 1 to the
165th of February last. In March we received an order signed by Miss
directing us to honour cheques drawn by Mr. Beamont. We have
honoured one cheque since, for £18 2s. 6d. Of the £663, £500 was for the
Christian Knowledge Society drawn by cheque, signed by Miss Ewings, on the
28%h of May. We were not surprised at so large an amount, I received the
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divl&ndunﬂ?,wlinthemwthmpormu, and on £300 in the three per
oen

Cross-examined : In Decomber, 1853, Miss Ewings and her sister gave £500
to the Christian Knowledge Society ; and in November, 1858, Miss Ewings
herself gave another £500, making, with the £500 in May last, £1,500,

Dr. Charles Joseph Fox : I am the proprietor of an asylum for the insane
at Brislington, near Bristol ; and have been in practice nearly 30 years. I came
to Exeter on the 10th of March, and in company with Dr. Shapter visited
Miss Ewings. I received from her an incoherent account of her fears at
Wurz'ﬂhn, lest she should be injured by her servants. She told me that
she been placed by ‘¢ those persons” in the asylum. I referred to Mr.
Ellacombe having liberated her from the asylum, but she seemed oblivious of
that fact, and only mentioned her apprehensions as to her removal to the
station. My interview was not with reference to my giving evidence to-day.
The interview was so short that although I formed an opinion I declined to
make an affidavit upon it. ©On the 21st of July I saw Miss Ewings again, the
interview lasting an hour and a quarter. She received me kindly an mlml{
I told her I came at the request of Mr. Nicholson, of Warrington; and she
spoke of him and his family as kind friends. She first said Mr. Nicholson was
a Roman Catholic, but wards corrected herself, saying she meant her
neighbour Mr. Ashton. She said she would not remain in her own house any
longer but would rather remove to the parish workhouse as she considered
herself in danger. She expressed t indignation against ‘ those persons”
who caused her to be removed to the asylum, though she said she had been
kindly treated. Dr. Fox then confirmed former evidence as to the fesrs
entertained by Miss Ewings respecting the designs upon her faith while at
the Lunatic Asylum. I could not find out why she apprehended it. In her
account of her resistance at the railway station, the reason she assigned was
that she was placed in an inferior carriage. I asked about her property. I
said is it £30,000? and she said ‘‘ £30,000,” repeating the words. I then said
¢“Is it £20,000 or £13,000?’ She then said ‘“Oh! £30,000 is not much.”
‘When I asked her what would be the interest of £1,000 at five per cent. she
oould not tell—I said £60, and then I asked her what would be the interest of
£1,000 at two-and-a-half per cent., and she replied £25, and she added
‘‘the bankers only allow ne two-and-a-half per cent.” I then said * If
the cost of your boarding be £3 per week, what is that per month?’ She
oould not answer, so I repeated the question, but instead of answering it, she
said ‘ My income is more than I can spend.” She could not tell me anything
about the details of her property. I did not press her to get the details. She
said that during her sister’s lifetime she knew all about her money matters.
I asked her what year it was, but she could not tell, nor could she tell me the
day of the month or of the week. I gave her my name, and repeated it once or
twice, but she afterwards addressed me as ‘‘ Dr. Buckland.” I putno questions
to her respecting her will, but said ‘‘In case a person dies without a will the
law provides for its distribution among the relatives,” and she replied *‘ I have
Bovings frequently spposiodto et for n anwer 5o my dusstions, T hod oo

uently er for an answer to my questions. an
opportunity of forxzxpng an opinion about the state of Miss Ewings’s mind, and
I came to the conclusion that she was of unsound mind, labouring under dementia,
consequent upon paralysis. Assuming her to be 80 years of age, I should think
it highly improbable that her health would be restored. Jane Warren, who was
the attendant, told me ‘‘she was not out of her mind.”

The Commissioner : That is not evidence.

Cross-examined by Mr. Collier: What I based my opinion of her
insanity upon was her great incoherence, her ver{ impaired memory, and her
difficalty of comprehension. In no inst: do I recollect that by repeating
my questions she could give me an answer. But I will not swear that such was
not the case. I do not think that simply looking at the fact of her repeatin,
my questions was a conclusive fact in itself. I could not get any oonneoteg
statement of the occurrences at Warnington before her removal to the
Haydock Asylum, nor the names of any one connected with her, but she
spo{e of them as ‘‘those persons.” If she had becn *‘lugged” into a carriage
by two porters I should not be surprised to hear her speak of it. Mr.
ﬁhoombo gave me an account of the manner in which she was treated, and T
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understand that she was not roughly handled. She ocould not tell me the
day of the week, nor recollect my name. I think that when I pressed her she
tried to recollect. She could not ber the diffe between Dr. Bucknill
and Dr. Buckland, though I do not attach much inportance to that. I think
her memory must have been defective to forget the name of a person who
frequently visited her. 1 did not question her, being an old lady, in the same
manner as I should a person of greater powers. She knew Dr. Shapter perfeot]
well. She did not remember Jane Warren being in attendance upon her. l{
is not unusual for old ladies to forget names and dates. She seemed to thi:
that she was in d r from her servant. That was certainly a delusion.
Upon my asking her the amount of her property she did not ‘t:a{l she could tell
the amount :{ caloulating, but she did say that she could another day.
‘When I asked her how much £3 a-week would be per month, I did not say
whether it was a calendar or a lunar month.

It being now quarter past eleven o’clock the court adjourned.

SATURDAY.—SECOND DAY.
The enquiry was resumed this morning at ten o’clock.
Dr. Samuel Budd, who was the first witness, said I am a &hynonn
grwﬁsing in this city, and am physician at the Devon and Exeter
have paid two visits to Miss lgwmgs with the view of ascertaining the state
of her mind. The visits were on the 5th and 6th of the present month. I
made notes of the questions, and the answers show strong evidence of the state
of her mind. At the first interview, on the 5th instant, I conversed with her
about her property and found her ideas very indistinct. She had no knowl
of the funds and ocould give no account of her property ; she could not
where it was placed, she thought it was in the Savings’ Bank. She ocould
comprehend nothing of principal cr interest. J said to her *“ When you want to
buy anything where do you go for money?” She told me she had money in
her purse, but knew not how it got there. She said at last when she awoke
in the morning she found it there. I said ¢ Snppocins all that money spent
and gone where would you go for more?” She said Dr. Shapter would give
her some; he was so kind to her. I said, ‘* If Dr. Shapter was unable to
give you any what would you do then?’ She then said, shedding tears, she
supposed she would then be obliged to go into the workhouse. Miss Cor
was present. After remaining with her some little time her excitement subsided
and she laughed and seemed to enjoy herself. She shook me heartily by the

hand. The interview did not seem painful to her. There was notlnnf r
in her manner. My interview lasted about an hour. The next day I paid her
a shorter visit. Her manner was not strange. She shook me by the hand and
seemed to remember me, though she did not recollect the time of my previous
visit, but seemed to think it was on the previous night. On the 6th I first
spoke of the weather. It was raining hard, and she said, ‘‘ The rain will do
a good deal of good to the harvest and make the corn swell out;” she said
that during the hot weather she had been very well. I said the season of the
year had arrived when we must extfect the heat to abate, aud she said,
¢ October and September.” She said the present month was September, and
that she came to Exeter in October. She said first that she was born in
Lancashire and then in Devonshire. I said *“ Do you know Mr. Ellacombe ?’
She replied ‘“No.” ‘“Is he not a relative of yours?” Bhe answered ‘No.”
She added ‘I have heard of such a man, but I never saw him.” I said ‘‘ Did
he not take you from the asylum in Lancashire and bring you to Exeter ¥’
She replied  What business had he to do that?” Her responses quite
convinced me that she is in a state of imbecility, and that she is quite
incompetent to manage her property or to transact business. She is sufferin,
from dementia. I should be quite surprised to hear that after an attack of
paralysis, and an attack of acute mania, a lady at such an advanced age came
out quite unscathed or recovered her mental faculties in their integrity.
ss-examined by Mr. Collier : I should be rather surprised to hear that
an old lady of her advanced age, should, after an attack of paralysis and
dementia, walk several miles a-day. I understood that I was employed
the court. I was aware that there had beea a petition for a commission.
preferred being employed by the court rather than by the petitioner. I consider
that Isaw her on the part of the court. I communicated th: notes I made
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to Dr. Bucknill, and I think I sent a copy to Mr. Daw, the attorney for the
petitioner, but not to the attorney on the other si though of
course I should not hesitate to do so. I put down the answers w. I thought
would be evidence. There were many I did not take, and many which were of
» negative character. I should think it was impossible to converse with her ten
minutes without discovering her loss of ties.

Mr. Collier : Do you with Dr. Bucknill that a person might converse
with her for a hour and a- withoat being convinoed of her unsoundness of

mind ?
Dr. Budd : It is not my ]‘)n:lgrudon. I do not think you could converse
with her for an hour and a-| without seeing it. It is probable that her
condition will not improve. .

Mr. Collier: Of course it is not likely that a lady at 90 years will be
brighter than a person at 80 years.—Dr. Budd: I will not say that her
condition will materially alter in a mouth. I do not think she made hundreds
of answers to my questions. I conversed about the weather, &o., on both

occasions.

Mr. Smith : Did remark anything peculiar in Miss Ewings’s manners?

Dr. Budd: No; Mought her manners premood.

Mr. Smith : Could a person sit at table with Miss Ewings for a certain time,
and unless his attention were directed to her mental condition, might he go
away without discovering that she was of unsound mind ?

Dr. Budd: I think it possible that she might pass muster under such
conditions. Bat it is a very thin crust which in her case sustains the ordinary
amenities of social life, beneath which lie the mere ruins of a mind.

By Mr. Collier: I cannot say that she liked being * trotted” through
her property. I dare say that she knew the object of my visit. She did
not appear to know anything respecting the funds.

£ . Collier : Why did you ask her then ?— Dr. Budd : I first asked her if
she had money in the funds, and I found that she did not know anything about
them. I cannot say that those were the terms. I did not ask her ﬁirectly
what the funds were. I'cannot recollect all her answers. J will not swear what
her answer was about the funds. With respect to her property I might have
gaid, *“Is it in land?” but I will not swear one way or the other. I have not
a very distinct recollection. .

By the Commissioner : I have no belief on the subject but probably I
might.
lgCross-exmni.mt.ion continued : I have no recollection that she said ‘It

is not in land, but it is in the bank.” I will not swear that she did not
use the words. She told me that all her money was in the ‘Savings Bank.”

Mc. Collier : I ask you if your recollection is so clear that you will swear
that she did not say so.

Witness : I thoroughly believe she did not. I did not say * What are the
funds?”’ or at least I don’t think I djd. I will not swear positively that I did
not. My recollection is not so clear that I will swear to every word used durin,
80 long an interview. I did u{oshe had no distinct idea about prorrty ms
income. She appeared not to be able to draw the inference that if she had
money in the fands or anywhere else it would bring her an income. I did
not put any direct enquiry upon it.

Mr. Collier : T am asking you what are your premises; because, with all
respect to you, we may come to a different conclusion.

Witness: I did not ask her any direct questions on these points but
I give you whatI inferred. I don’t think I asked her if she was in the habit
of going out and buying things in the shops, and paying for them. I
ﬂlil& she might be capable of 'gomg about to shops, and paying for articles,
and taking the change. She would know that a penny would b:i s bun.
To a slight amount she would do shopping, but anybody might easily cheat her.
I think she might sometimes, but not always, see that the change was right.
I can’t say whether she would ask for discount, but I think she might be
taught to do it parrot-like. I did not know that she had some money in the
:: Ravings Bmk’.,” I said, where is your money placed? and she said in the

Savings Ban

Mr. Collier : That she told you. You said before ‘“all the money” was

in a bank, and youn said what bank, and then she replied “In the Savings’
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Bank ¥’— Witnees: I can’t say that she used the word *all”—but my impression
was that she did. I asked her where both her property and her money were
placed, but I cannot recollect whether she or I used the word * She
told me that Dr. Shapter managed her affairs. She said *¢ “f lodgings are
managed.” It would not seem extraordinary that she received money from
a person who managed her affairs. I think her condition shows a considerable
extinotion of faculties. I did not detect any delusion. I did not find there
were any signs of mania. Judging from what I saw, I should call it dementia.
I saw no signs of distinct mania.

Mr. Collier: Do you differ from Dr. Bucknill, who said that it was a
?eilxhgre of dementia and mania ?—Witness : Dr. Bucknill said he had detected

usion.

Mr. Smith: You may ask him his opinion, but not whether he differs
from Dr. Bucknill.

‘Witness : I give you the result of my impressions upon her mental state
from my own observation only.

Mr. Collier : I want to know whether you doctors agree or differ because
we have to judge between you. Do you think it is a mixture of chronic manis
and dementia? Do you agree with Dr. Bucknill upon that ?— Dr. Budd: I
suppose I must differ so far, that he observed what I dié not. A person who
has a delusion may not show it. You may have to seek for it. It does mot
always come to the surface. I consider her, judging from my own observation,
to be in a state of dementia. T did not detect the signs of mania; and,
therefore, so far as that goes, I suppose I must differ from Dr. Bucknill.

By Mr. Smith : I decidedly think she did not know the nature of discount,
&o. er condition may differ from day to day.

Dr. Harrington Tuke: I reside at Manor House, Chiswick, and am
Superintendent of a private asylum at_that place. I have devoted my entire
attention to mental di s for 18 or 19 §em. I was requested to visit Miss
Ewings. I saw her on the 10th instant. I was introduced by Dr. Bucknill in
the presence of Dr. Shapter and a young lady. I did not understand her to
be Dr. Shapter’s governess, but learnt so subsequently. Dr. Shapter went
away in a few minutes, and I was left with Miss Ewings and Miss Anthony.
Pinding that she was tranquil and calm, I suggested that Miss Anthony should
leave, but she went up to lﬂ:ss Ewings, and said *‘ You don’t wish me to leave,
do you?’ and Miss i replied, ‘ Oh, no.” I felt her pulse, and found it
fast. I mentioned this to Dr. Shapter, and he said it would naturally be so on
the introduction of a stranger. Afterwards it became tranquil, and so was her
manner, except at intervals. I was with her two hours and a-half. She was

rfectly agreeable to sit with e, and I think I could have sat there all day.
f.sevenl times asked her if I tired her, and she said ‘‘ No.” She said Dr.
Bucknill never tired her. I said * I thought you were ill after two interviews;”
but she replied, * Oh, no.” I put this several times, and she said positively,
¢ Oh, daar, it was not so.” found her very rational upon some things.
She retained considerable gowet of mind both as to memory and facts, but
it was unocertain power. It was deranged in its acti Sometimes there
seeemed to be an absolute want of memory; the general answers evinced a
want of the power of comprehension. I asked her who was the reigning
sovereign. She did not seem to understand the questi I said, * Who

wverns the country, but don’t hurry yourself ; I want to know who is the
go“d of the country; who administers the law.” I put itin all the ways I
could think of, but she seemed unable to understand it. But the other lady
very kindly interposed, and said ‘‘ Who is the present Queen ¥’ Miss Ewings
immediately said, *‘ Queen Victoria to be sure.”

The Commissioner: I think she beat you in your question.

Witness : The governess knew that Miss Ewings was aware of that fact,
because she had heard her say a short time before that Queen Victoria was
a good woman. I asked Miss Ewings * who is this lady ?” and she said Miss
Shapter ; when Miss Anthony said *‘you mean Miss Anthony.” Miss Ewings
had been addressing Miss Anthony as Miss Shapter during the conversation.
She answered many questions pretty well when they were put slowly and
carefully. I asked her the day of the week, month, and year, but all separately.
She said it was Thursday, whereas it was Wednesday ; she also said it was the
J2th of September, I asked her the year of our Lord, she said 1839, The

https://doi.org/10.1192/50368315X00007520 Published online by Cambridge University Press


https://doi.org/10.1192/S0368315X00007520

XX

verness said you mean ’59. I again expostulated with Miss Anthony, but
ftom not done by her offensively, although it interfered with me. I asked
her the above questions at different intervals, five times ing her to take
time to answer them. Each answer was wron%. although I carefully told
her each time. Sometimes she said it was March, and at others September,
but never August, although I told her it was the harvest month, and she said it
was her favourite month. Twice she shed tears, and several times laughed ;
tears on account of her state of thankfulness to Almighty God for her then
state of happiness, and also when she mentioned the death of her sister.
8he laughed once very heartily. When I mentioned the subject of money, she
seemed a little nervous, but after a time talked freely. I asked her the amount
of her property, and she replied, with great hesitation, £13,000 and then
£700. She then asked *‘Is that right?’ I said I could not be sure,
but I thought it was. I asked her how it was invested ? Those were m
words as near as I can recollect ; where it was and how much it produced.
asked those questions singly, but could only get an answer to the Lt. she said
—* About a-year. Is that right ?” I think she said I could caloulate it.
I am sure she did. I said I thought it was right, and that she need not trouble
herself. I was very anxious not to put her throngh difficult caloulations. She
said she did not think she could write a cheque. ‘Do you know what a cheque
is?” She did not. Do you know what a draft is? She said, * Yes. It is
always what I signed when I went to the bank to get my money.” * Do you
sign sach things at other times?” “ No, never.” Did you not write a cheque
for Dr. Bucknill ?” She denied it and asked the governess, who said she had
never heard of it. Miss Ewings then seemed convinced she had not. * You
must have written cheques for Dr. Shapter ¥’ I said this slowly over and over
again, but she denied it. It suddenly occurred to me that I recollested the
amount of the last cheque and said ¢‘ Did you not give a cheque for £30 ¥’ She
had no recollection of it, and positively denied it. It was an extraordinary
instance of want of memory because I mentioned about the charities. She then
said—*‘ Yes £500 to the Christian Knowledge Saciety,” but she denied as to any
other. She could not state what her expenses were, but that they were paid
once a fortnight. I asked her if she paid her bills with the £12 (the money
in her pocket) how long it would last her ?—She had previously said she had
that sum. She could not answer the question. I could not get any reply as
to her expenses, she never looked at the bills. She said when her sister was
alive she managed the joint money affairs. They took it in turns once a
fortnight. She counted £12 10s. well. She said she did not pay Dr. Shapter
because he was her friend and protecter. I said ‘‘ What does he protect you
from ! and she said.—‘‘He is my protector, at my age I want a protector.” I
said have you not relations, and she answered ‘‘ None at all”—*‘ No second
or third cousins ?” ‘‘Mr. Ellacombe?’ The suggestion of the name came
from the governess. Miss Ewings said she would not have anything to do
with him. This she said angrily and added, I would send him out of the room
if he came into it. I expostulated with her, asking her reasons. She said she
had been oruelly used and that Mr. Ellacombe had sent her to an asylum. I
suggested the reverse, that he had taken her out, and she admitted it. I asked
her what motive she thought Mr. Ellacombe , but she did not seem to
understand the question. At last she said—*‘ It must have been a bad motive
of Mr. Ellacombe”—She told me a long story about her journey in the railway
carriage. She said her feet were placed foremost. She stood up desiring the
young lady to hold her shoulders, and take her feet up as indicating the way
a person would be carried. Believing it to be untrue, I repeated it; and she
said her own servants held her with Mr. Sharp. I asked her about the asylum,
- but she could not mention the name of the place. I asked her who paid the
expenses. She answered ‘‘ I did not, and my lawyer did not.” She said she
was well treated, that she had a fine room, and that it cost her nothing.”
She then laughed most heartily, seeming quite to enjoy it. I asked her about
her house, but she said she did not know W about it. She said the
furniture was taken to the bank. I said, * You don’t mean the furniture ?”
and she replied *‘ No, no, I don't know where it is.” She then ?ve me a long
account of her journey from Warrington. It was coherent, but I did not think
lt?;:smt:& She said that she rode in a seond-class carriage, and that I found
guairug,
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By the Commissioner : I asked her now much money she had, and she replied
that she did not know. Witness: I asked her if she went to the bank would
they give her any money she asked for,and she replied *Yes, they would give
£5, or £10,000. Would they give £20,000? I sai£ She husitated, and said
¢ f should never ask for so large a sum.” I then asked her about her will. She
said ‘‘Thave made my will ; it was my own act and deed.” I asked her as
fently a3 I could how she had left her money, and she said she had given some
egacies to servants, and £500 to the Christian Knowledge Society. She said
she had a great many legacies given to her. I said Vxh:t have you left to
Dr. Shapter 7 She could not tell. Iinferred this, as she did not answer. Con-
sidering this very important, I suggested various sums to her. Have you left
him more or less than £500? She said “I cannot tell.” I am quite certain
about the words. I said Do you know you have left him & handsome fortune,”
Shesaid ‘“ Yes, it may bo; he 1s oy friend and protector.” This conversation
ocoupied some time. I asked her about her illness, whether she had been ill.
8he said *She never had been ill.” I said * Have you never had an attack of
paralysis ?”  She did not understand the tion, and I explained as well as I
oould what the attack was, and she said ¢ No, thank God, I have never lost my
sense of sight, my speech, or any of my senses.” She seemed angry, and said,
what will they say next? I apologised, saying, I had information from her
own medical attendant, Mr. Sharp. She was angry and agitated, and said *“ It
is impoesible.” I asked her whether she had ever suffered under * nervous
derangement.” I said this as delicately as possible. She said ‘‘ Never.” She
said it as if the thing had never occurred to her. I said, you have been in an

lum. She said ‘ Yes.” Isaid ‘ No onecan be put in an asylum without a
certificate of mental derangement. She said ‘‘It was quite absurd. Me ever
insane ? quite absurd.” I asked her if she believed in the Roman Catholics,
trying to make her a papist. She said * No, never.” But you surely have
said so previously? She said ‘‘ No, I never have.” I mentioned Dr. Sharp’s
name, saying he might have thought you ill and signed the certificate thinki
that you were ill. She said ‘“She could not suppose it, she was never ill.
She said Dr. Shapter never gsve her any medicine, he came to see her only as a
friend. I said had you not 100 guineas in your stays when you were taken to
the asylum. She said “I will tell you all about that.” This story of hers, like
others was told at length, but very difficult to get at in consequence of her
¢ rambling manner.” It was very difficult to get at her meaning. She said she
believed people were coming in and going out of her house improperly, but she
could not say what people, only she was sure they were there improﬂerly and
that they were ﬂnrryi:g her, and therefore she iut all the money in her stays.
That she was frightened, and added * Life you know is very dear to me.” I
asked her if she was frightened of her lifc, and she said no, only she was afraid
of the house coming down. The people came in and out, she was then seized
and cruelly used, and then taken to the asylum. She showed me again how she
was put in the carriage, which was the same way as before. Mr. Sharp, she said,
was not present. It was her own servant who held her. I could not succeed
in obtaining who it was had cruelly used her. I examined her to the best of my
ability. She said she never read the newspaper, but at my request would try to
do so. I handed her the paper, but finding that she was quite bewildered, so
as to make to the list by misplacing words, I said, ‘ Oh, I will
read it then.” The governess said *‘ It is because her hand -fmku 80,” but I gave
nq the attempt, thinking it flurried her. In the course of a conversation she
told me that she liked Dr. Bucknill very much, and that he was coming to see
her that afternoon. When I took leave of her she evidently seemed to mis-
understand who I was, I said I hope this long conversation has not tired you,
and she said ‘‘ No, oh dear no. It is so kind of my friends to come and see me.”
At other times she seemed to know me, and the object of my visit. She was
excessively kind and affectionate, sittingby me and holding my hand, but this
might have been through my trying her pulse. The other hand olasped that of
the governess. I do not like to forin & judgment upon one visit, and applied for
leave to make another, but was refused. 1 formed an opinion of the state of ber
mind. I think she is of unsound mind, and incapable of ging herself an
property, but wish to be distinctly understood that in her present state, she
should not be placed in an asylum for the insane, because I think she might
be taken care of out of an asylum, and her delusion about strange people would
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be inereased by the mnoe of other patients. To the question do you believe

strange people had in your house improperly? she told me that she still
thought it was so.

The Commissioner : To what category do you refer her disease ?

‘Witness : It is difficult to refer it, I consider it to bs weakness of mind,
following as it constantly does, either paralysis or acute mania, but there is
.(f’ntie chroﬁn.ic delusion, and in technical languago I will say it was the first stage
of dementia.

By Mr. Karslake : Loss of memory, and inaccuracy of dates and facts and
names are often conzejuent upon paralysis, not so often the result of mania.

Bythe Commissioner : Attacks of paralysis in the cass of a person of so
advanced an age are generally fatal.

The Commissioner : Supposing delusion to exist, is it more likely to be due to
seute-mania than paralysis?

‘Witness : Probably acute mania and not to paralysis, The loss of memory
and the errors as to dates, facts, and names, which I observed are in my judg-
xflent the result of deranged action of the brain, and not the result of olj age

one.

Dr. Tuke, cross-examined by Mr. Collier. He said : I wished to see the
old lady again, but I had not the permission. I came here on Tuesday,
hearing that her medical attendants did not wish me to see her on Thursday, the
day before the commission ; but I saw her only on Wednesday, and could nof
see her on the Tuesday.

Mr. Coleridge explained that it was in consequence of the legal gentlemen
beins absent at Wells.

ross-examination continued : I would strongly advise your side, as you call

it, not to produce her before the court at all. Upon a hypothetical case, I should
say it would be better that she should not be examinel by a meilicil gentleman
the day before t®e commission. I mean to say that a conversation of two hours
and a- conducted in the way I did, would not have injured her. I tried
whether it injured her physically, and think it did not. Upon my oath it did
not confuse her, for at the end of the conversation she sezmed more alert. In
cases of feeble circulation it would act as a stimulant. Her defects arose in some
B degree from weakness or feeble circulation. There isa difference between weak-
ness through too little circulation and madness. Her loss of memory, dates, &e.,
might be owing to a feeble circulation through the brain, and I think I may
attribute part of her symptoms to fecbleness in the circulation through the
brain, but I cannot say to what extent it may be. It would be very variable.
8he might be better after dinner than before, or after a little wine, but it might
act the reverse, but so far as my observation went it did. I think her very
extraordinary and marked mistake as to persons, is one symptom of derangement
of brain, and not old age. One mistake was calling Miss Anthony Miss Shapter.
Another feature was her persistance in the mistake of names, which is a sign
of the decay of tho brain. I should not say that it showed *‘‘derangement”

though.
uﬁy the Commissioner : Miss Anthony is a young lady.

Examination continued : She talked of several persons being at places where
they were certainly not. The two things, names and places, are in my opinion
the same. I should not think it derangement if she said Ellacombe instead of
Nicholson. She used the word ‘‘ workhouse” for *‘‘asylum.” When she said
*‘ workhouse” the governess said you mean *‘ asylum.” This she said frequently.
I am aware that this asylum was a place where paupers were, but she certainly
confused her ideas about two places, so that her conversation was quite
I think she knew what *‘ asylum” was. An old lady might be obhivious of dates,
&ec., without being deranged, but after I had told her four or five times she oould
recollect. If I see there is a ferson that cannot understand ‘‘ Wednesday” when
I tell her time after time, I think there is some deficiency of brain. I put
down those questions which I think bore upon her unsoundness of mind. o
two hours and a-half were much taken up by the conversation of the lady herself
and Miss Anthony. I have put down what might be evidence of soundness of
mind. I asked herif she was afraid of the * French invasion,” and she said
¢ No.” There were several questions which she answered most oorrew, and
like & person of sano mind., I know that if an old lady is interrupted when
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telling a story she is ‘‘ put out.” I asked her several questions about the head
of the Constitution.

The Commissioner : If you were to ask Mr. Roebuck who was head of the
Constitution, he would say the House of Commons. (A laugh.)

Mr. Collier : To witness. Who administers the law ? A : I don’t answer.
Q: You complain of a question you put to a lunatic and yet when put to yourself
you say it is not plain enough. A : I don’t understand you. (A ;ﬁh. Q: I
put it to you clearly enough. Who rules in this country? A : The g or
the Queen. Q: Should you say it is the Queen or the Chief Justice of England
who administers the law? A : I should have said ‘It is the Queen.” Q:
‘What would you say upon consideration? Mr. Montague Smith interrupted.—
Mr. Collier : 'Here isno commission upon you. (A lmgh.{’eeAfter being further
pressed the witness said this question might not have been put in the most
‘;:roper manner. After a variety of questions the witness said that one of

er symptoms of insanity was her morbid aversion to Mr. Ellacombe, the
reasons she gave being insufficient. ‘‘If an old lady gives me an opinion
founded upon insufficient reasons I do not say it is morbid” I, therefore, recall
that answer. The dislike to Mr. Ellacombe was exaggerated and untrue.
Snﬁlposing that Mr. Ellacombe was * fallible” and that Miss Ewings’ dislike
to him was just her behaviour to him, would be exghined. If she no wish
to go into the train, and Mr. Ellacombe ordered her to be put in by porters,
it mhi{ht account for her dislike, but she had ‘‘condoned” the matt
r. Collier : We are to suppose we are in the Divorce Court.

Cross-examined : I belicve tgnt she was very happy and contented at Miss
Cousens. Mr. Ellacombe wishing to remove her might have accounted in part
for her dislike, and especjally when he said you *‘ mustgo.” Still I think it was
& morbid opinion as sheé had no causs of complaint against him. It did not
occur to me that her friends had not informed her that she had had an attack
of paralysis. I told her that Dr. Sharp had said she had had an attack of para-
lysu. ‘When I told her of it she was much excited and was angry, and said,
““ What will they say next?” I presumc that she said about losing speeeh,,
sight, &c., from my explanation of paralysis, and then she said ‘‘ I thank God.”
On my oath as a medical man it did nét alarmn her. She then said ** What will
they say next.” I don’t think it is right to conceal from persons of old age
that they had an attack of paralysis.

The learned Commissioner : It might embitter or poison the rest of her life.

Dr. Tuke : I am very sorry that I mnentioned it at all then.

Cross-cxamination resumed : I said it was the first stage of dementisa, I do
nmunk it right to put me in the box upon a conversation of two hours and
a half.

Bgthe Commissioner : I do not think Miss Ewings is likely to recover.

This was the last witness for the petitioner; and Mr. Smith applied tha
the original instructions for the will and the will itself should be put in as
evidence. Mr. Collier objected to put in the will, as great difficulty m’_li'ﬁht be
experienced supposing hixsa Ewi was not found to be a lunatic, e in-
structions were broken up when the will was signed.

h ‘E'I'nbf Commissioner agreed that there would be difficulty in putting in
)

Mr. Karslake then summed up the evidence for the petitioner, contending
that it proved the unsoundness of Miss Ewings’s mind, and her incapacity
to man her property.

Mr. Collier then adgreased the jury. He said this was an extremely q.:ﬁﬂ

enquiry, and one that was altogether unnecessary. There was not the slightest
necessity for disturbing the few remaining years of this old lady’s life. ere
Wwas no reason whatever why she should be questioned and cross-questioned by a
number of mad doctors. V‘lnt was her state according to the evidence of the
petitioner’s own witnesses? She undoubtedly had an attack of paralysis, and
suff at one time from mania; but that was at the close of last year. Since
that time Miss Ewings had come to Exeter, and weordinéoto the petitioner'’s
witnesses she was now perfectly comfortable with Miss Cousens. What had
she done that all these ﬁ i should be taken against her? Had she
ever injured anybody? Had she ever acted like a mad woman except at the
time when she was taken to the asylum? Why then had these p ings been
taken? The answer was this, that Dr, Greenup, towards whom she all her
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life entertained a well-founded aversion, wanted her money. The question thab
was now being tried was in effect the case of Greenup v. Ewings. Dr. Greenup’s
family some years ago had instituted a chancery suit against her branch of the
family, and Dr. Greenup’s side had had to pay the expenses. Acoording to Dr.
Greenup’s own evidence he had only seen her once before during his life, and
yet he came down to Exeter, searched her out and then commenced these pro-
ceedings, which had the effect of torturing the old lady. He (Mr. Collier)
regretted the manner in which this case had been conducted. It had been
m like an ordinary nisi prius cause—the only desire of the petitioner being,
I’I’y nisi prius manceuvres, to obtain a verdict. What evidence had been produced ?
here was Dr. Holland, who was brought all the way from Norwich to state
that in 1853 Miss Ewings behaved rudely to him. The fact was that her sister
died in October, and Dr. Holland went in the following May to condole with
her. His learned friend (Mr. Smith) was going at great length into her con-
dition some years ago ; but the learned Commissioner very wisely suggested that
the question in which the jury was more immeliately interasted, was her mental
condition since she had been in Exeter. Why had they not called Miss Cousens,
with whom she had lived here? If they had been sincere in their desire to throw
any light upon the case, they would have produced that witness. Instead of
d that, they had called a number of mad doctors, who were always looking
out for insanity, and beating about the bush to find madness. He hoped the
jury would bear in mind the warning contained in the learned Commissioner’s
charge not to surrender their judgment to dootors. God help all our old mothers,
grandmothers, and aunts, if their faculties were to be tried by mad doctors. The
opposite side had designedly withheld Mr. Sharp who had been for 30 years,
the medical attendant to Miss Ewings. Dr. Bucknill adinitted that that gentle-
man’s evidence would have been important; but nevertheless ho had not been
roduced, and the reason was that his opinion did not agree with that of Dr.
%nckni.ll. Evidenoe had been given to show that she was much distressed at
the death of her sister. He (Mr. Collier) conceded to his learned friend that she
did grieve at the loss of her dear relative; he gave himn the full benefit of all
the madness which he conld extract from grief at her sister’s death. He (Mr.
Collierz believed he should be able conclusively to show that since Miss Ewings
had left the asylum she had perfectly recovered. Mr. Collier then went on
to state that he should call Mr. Sharp before them. What was the manner in
which the case had been brought before them ? The other side had come before
them (the jury,) saying they were only desirous of affording every information.
They repudiated the idea of trying to get a verdict against Miss Ewings, but
that the enquiry was only for her benefit. And yet they withheld from them
the most important information they could give them. He (the learned counsel)
would enquire how the case had been conducted, before he disclosed to them the
evidence which he should bring before them. His learned friends had carefully
avoided calling before them persons who had ever had dealings with Miss Ewings
in Exeter. And by giving themn no information whatever themselves upon
the manner in which her affairs were conducted, they contented themselves by
calling medical gentlemen, who were perfect strangers to her, gentlemen who
formed their opinions partly upon what they said and partly upon what they heard.
The first medical gentleman was Dr. Bucknill. This gzntleman had made a very
long.report. The first observation which occurred to him to make was this, that
probably if the jury had read that report themselves they would have come to con-
clusions quite opposite to that at which he arrived. He could not help thinkin
—and he thought his learned friend had thought so to — that they were not at
anxious that the whole of this report of Dr. Bucknill’s should be read to themn
(the jury). It was his desire that the whole of the report should have been
placed before them, because he thought that it would show that this old lady was
never mad atall. They had not the opinions of the medical gentlemen only, but
the premises upon which they founded their opinions. They could, therefore,
form their opinions upon those premises as well as upon the opinions of the
medical gentlemen themselves. He did not know that dealing with lunatics
strengthened the logical powers and bestowed powers of reasoning. The doctors
said, ‘‘ We think she is a lunatic because of this, and that, and so on.” But we
were able to judge as well as they could, and we could draw our conclusions. He
the learned counsel) invited them to take notice of the premises, and he had no
doubt that they would differ from them in their conclusions upon these said
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remises. He had three or four medical gentlemen, of the highest respectabilif
aho would be put before them, and who would entirely differ from Dr. Bnckn?l.i
and the other medical gentlemen called by his learned friends. They would
tell them that they thought the lady quite capable of managing her affairs at the
present moment. He would beg their attention now while he went into detail
upon the evidence. With respect to the evidence of Dr. Bucknill, that gentleman
expressed a somewhat hesitating and qualified opinion upon the matter. He
thought he was allowed this observation with respect to Dr. Bucknill’s evidence.
The case seemed to have puzzled him a good deal. It was a long time before he
could make up his mind that the old lady was mmad. He examined her for one
hour and a-half at the first interview, and he said very candidly that although
. there were some indications of loss of memory, still if he had been called before
them as a witness, after the first interview, he would have given his evidence in
favour of Miss Ewings. That struck him as a strange fact. Here was Dr.
Bucknill accustomed to discover insanity and trace it in its lurking places. He
went to her for the purpose of discovering it with regard to Miss Ewings. °
examined her for one hour and a half, and the result was that he could not form
a decided opinion that her mind was unsound or that she was unable to manage
her own affairs. That same gentleman tried her again and again, he believed
altogether eight times. Well Dr. Bucknill told them that all this was very
leasing to her, and that she liked it very much. He thought they would
satisfied before the case closed that it was quite different, and that she
dreaded those interviews beyond everything. She knew but too well all that
was going on. She knew perfectly well that there were those who wanted her
money. She knew that proceedings had been taken against her in Chancery,
and she knew that they— (the jury)—had to determine upon her sanity or
insanity ; and that upon the result of their verdict depended her liberty ;
aye, her life, and all the comforts of her remaining days. She knew if, an
felt it painfully. She knew that Dr. Bucknill was a man of great power. She
knew that he was an agent of the court. She unde that she was to
be put as it were through her catechism, and that she would be sent
to school again. She knew the puzzling questions which were put to her,
and although Dr. Bucknill and the other medical gentlemen did not
mean it, yet it was their way of doing it. Why the poor old lady lay
half awake with the multiplication table floating before her eycs in all directions.
He dared say she lay awake counting twice two are four, twice three are six,
twentypence make one and eightpence and thirty pence two and sixpence. (A
laugh.) She really must have thought that she was to be put through a kind of
catechism in this respect. When she was asleep some visions of the multiplication
table were no doubt there topsy turvy or before her in some shape or other.
(A laugh.) Talk of the ordeal of the plou(fh share in olden times ; this was worse.
Upon that examination it did not depend whether she was to be admitted to a
degree, but upon it depended whether she was to enjoy her liberty for the rest
of her life. She knew that it was so. She understood what it was to enjoy
life, and she was apprehensive of the examination of those powerful men. He
said that it was the very auxiety on her part to do well before Dr. Bucknill,
which prevented her doing well. He had known very able men who were entirely
broken down because of their anxiety to do so. A very able man in this state
lay awake thinking of the examination, and through it he was ‘‘plucked.” He
believed that she had been plucked by Dr. Bucknill. After further remarking
upon this point, the learned counsel went on to say that he believed that when
they came to examine her themselves thiﬁ would find that she possessed a great
deal of knowledge, that would astonish all these mad doctors. A peculiarity of
the disease under which the unfortunate lady suffered was then pointed out by
Mr. Collier, who explained that its effect was some days to make a n able
to transact business with comparative facility and again the reverse. ’.l‘he evidenoce
of Dr. Bucknill, which he criticised with much ability, was then noticed, the
learned counsel at great length contending that instead of being unfavourable to
Miss Ewings, it would, if they looked at it in its proper light, tend decidedly in
her favour. The difference in the testimony of the various medical witnesses was
inted out, and from it the conclusion drawn that one day Miss Ewings was
epressed, which caused an unfavourable impression, and the next day was much
better. It spoke nothing inst her total incapacity. In of the
questions which were put to the old lady, Mr. Collier characterised the majority
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of them as too difficult, and quite sufficient to cause nervousness. He gtrﬁcnhrly
alluded to the £100 a-year question put by Dr. Bucknill, who when asked himself
the very question he had put to $his alleged lunatic, what per week is £100 a-year,
oould not tell. Her answers to questions about her property they found exactly
correct. What was it? £13,000, and then in a few seconds the second answer
£700. This was found to be the case; her property was £13,700. " Then, what
is your income? £400 a-year. What was it? £396! Did this bespeak insanity ?
'ggon these answers were they to found a verdict of insanity? After further
erence to conversations, Mr. Collier directed the attention of the jury to the
difference in the medical testimony resgectmg her actual mental condition. Dr.
Bucknill said she was of unsound mind, because she did not know her pro y
but that was done away with by Dr. Tuke, who said she did. So they would
find that they all differed more or less. He begged them seriously to consider
the question. Dr. Tuke asked her about her will, and the property she had left
to Dr. Shapter, but she did not answer. That was no proof of madness, because
she might not have wished to tell, and only replied in that form by way of an
evagive answer. But this was put down to her non-comprehensiveness, and upon
these premises they built their conclusions, and they said—*‘ She is labouring
under delusion, and chronic mania.” He believed that u:ythingl less like a
maniac they had never seen. She was no more of a maniac than either of them.
Then they said, she is suffering under insane delusion and morbid aversion. Her
aversion to Mr. Ellacombe was no proof, and yet they were told that it was.
Acocording to Dr. Tuke it was evidence of insanity—not mere weakness from old
ago—but derangement. The learned counsel then remarked upon the circum-
stances which probably led Miss Ewings to entertain a dislike to Mr. Kllacombe.
He thought it would turn out as complete a ‘‘ mare’s nest” as was ever imposed
upon mad doctors. Mr. Ellacombe thinking that he was next of kin took all
of a sudden a great interest in this lady, but as soon us he found out that he was
not next of kin, his interest vanished. (A laugh.) Mr. Collier then expressed
his delight that he had to appeal to them- a tribunal of jurymen—instead of
doctors—and had to ask them whether this lady was really under a delusion. It
‘was said that one of her delusions was that violence was used when she was taken
to the asylam. But the truth was that some force was used. She discovered
that she was being taken there, and she resisted, so that her attendants employed
some violence. Then with regard toRoman Catholics, it was an undoubted fact
thay there was an unusually large number of Roman Catholics at the Haydock
Asylum—the proprietor having admitted that there were at least 50. Another
material fact was that the proprietor could not swear that one of the lad
inmates was not a Roman Catholic, and had not had communication mﬂ
Miss Ewinil, and that that lady was not in the habit of attending a Roman
Catholic church within half a mile from the asylam, and the priest
was in the habit of visiting the asylum. If all this were true was it
unlikely that some efforts would be made to convert her there? Roman
Catholics, when they were sane, looked upon proselytism as their great
object ; and we could understand that that object would be pursued even more
eagerly when they were insane. At any rate 1t was clear that the whole thing
was not a matter of the imagination. Miss Ewings was a strong protestant,
and like many others she entertained a dread of the Roman Catholics. Then
with regard to Mrs. Barnsley, Miss Ewings saw that person at the railway station,
and it ocourred to her that she was again about to be tricked, as she had been
tricked before, when she was taken from Warrington to the Asylum, when she
had scen Mrs. Barnsley. The party handed Miss Ewings over to a porter, who
bundled her into a carriage heels first. A porter was also placed by her side in
the carriage, and it was not rising that she thought she was in a second class
carriage. He (Mr. Collier) in his experience had never seen a porter riding
in a first class carriage ; and it was quite excusable that Miss Ewings should be
mistaken. Then it was stated that she did not speak to Mr. Nicholson and Mr,
Ellacombe during the journey to Exeter; but this was accounted for, when it
was remembered that she felt indignant at their ordering a porter to place her in
the carriage. When she arrived at the house of Miss Cousens, she recognised
that person, and her state of mind rapidly improved. Mr. Ellacombe was begrd
to leave her alone, as she had endured a long journey ; but he called to see her
the nextday. He also went again three or four days afterwards. And what did
he go for? Although she was perfectly comfortable at Miss Cousens’ he told her
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that she must leave and go to another house. She thereupon took a dislike to
him ; and this the mad doctors called a proof of insanity. Thus the delusions
when they came to be grasped disappeared. He did not impute anything wrong
to Mr. Elfwombe, but his conduct at the railway station, and his desire to remove
Miss Ewings, caused her to dislike him. That was the kind of evidence upon
which the medical witnesses had formed their opinion as to her sanity or i A
He believed he might have rested satisfied by replying to the case of his learned
friend on the other side. When the evidence of the witnesses was analysed their
conclusions vanished. The alleged want of memory was to a great degree
explained by nervousness and other causes. When the doctors differed from each
other as to the character of the disease, and the facts upon which they formed
their conclusions, he might well leave the case in the hands of the jury, feeling
satisfied that they would say the allegation of insanity had not been proved. He
intended, however, to call Dr. Shapter and a number of witnesses, inoluding those
whom the other side had withheld. In the first place he should call Mr. Beamont
an old friend, who was acting as Miss Ewinge’ solicitor. That gentleman would
give a short history of her case before she came to Exeter. This would not
differ from the statement of the other witnesses as to the fact that when she
was in the asylum she was suffering from mania ordelirium. Mr. Beamont would
farther tell them that she had such a knowledge of her affairs as might fairly be
expected from an old lady of 80 years of age. She was never a woman of busin
or a woman of figures ; but she knew quite enough of her affairs to be trus
with the management of them as well as with her personal liberty. He would
also call Mr. Sharp her medical attendant, whom the other side were exceedingly
anxious not to call. Mr. Sharp would tell them that her memory for a few
years somewhat failed as regarded names and dates, » failing common to most
old persons ; but at the same time he believed there was no reason whatever for
any interference with her liberty or with the management of her affairs. Another
witness would be Miss Cousens, with whom Miss Ewings had lived perfectly
happy since she had been in Exeter. Miss Cousens would state that she had
oomguotod herself like any other lodger. Ann Rattenbury the servant at Miss
Cousens would also be produced. 1t would be shown that Miss Ewings had walked
about Exeter, making small purchases, giving the right money and taking the
right change. In addition to these witnesses, he should call Dr. Shapter, and
in reference to that gentlemnan he felt it necessary to make a few remarks. His
learned friend (Mr. Smith) had disclaimed all intention of attacking Dr. Shapter,
but he had nevertheless insinuated everything against him. The facts were these.
Miss Ewings came to Exeter, but not at the solicitation of Dr. Shapter. Dr.
Shapter had known her when she and her sister were here before in 1852. They
had corresponded with Dr. Shapter’s sister, which continued till the death of
the latter in 1858. When Miss Ewings came to Exeter, in Feb: .
Ellacombe called in Dr. Shapter. Miss Ewings at once recognised him, and he
treated her with great kindness. She had no relations about whom she cared &
farthing ; she disliked Dr. Greenup, for the reasons already mentioned, and she
was also displeased with Mr. Ellacombe, who was a third cousin once removed.
She had lost her onlv sister, and she had not a friend or a near relation in the
world. Dr. Shapter behaved very kindly to her, and what was more natural than
that she should become attached to him? Any old lady of that age would
require some one to take care of her; and Miss Ewings took a likingto Dr.
Shapter. He knew this, and being a highly honourable man, and thinking that
she might make a testamentary disposition of her property in his favour, took a
most manly and honourable course. He felt that, however straightforward his
conduct nﬁht be, and however free might be the disposition of the property, yet
as a medical man, such an act might be reflected upon. To be free, therefore,
from ill reproach he adopted a course than which none more honourable could
have been pursued. He wrote a letter to Mr. Beamont, sending copies to Mr,
Nicholson and Mr. Ellacombe, in which he expressed his determination not to
accept any bequest that might 0e made in his favour. A more unfounded attack.
therefore, than that mnade by Mr. Smith had never been made on any professiomi
man. Miss Ewings strongly urged him to become residuary legatee, and he only
consented when he wrote those letters renouncing all benefit to himself. If, after
writing such letters, Dr. Shapter had taken possession of any of the property,
he would never have been able to have shown his face in Exeter again. An
important fact connected with the will was, that Miss Ewings did not resolve
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upon making it until after the visit of Dr. Greenup. She knew that Dr. Greenup
wanted her money, and she was determined he should not have it. She knew
also thatif she died without a will her property would go to him ; and accordingly,
as soon as he had left, she determined that the will should be made. These were
the facts, and he anxiously hoped that the jury would not by their verdict deprive
Miss Ewings of her liberty during the few remaining years of her life.

The learned Counsel then cslled the following witnesses :—

Mr, William Beamont, solicitor, Warrington, said: I have known Miss
Phoebe Ewings for more than 50 years. She lived in a house of mine for 30
years. I have been on intimate terms with her. I am her attorney, but she has
not had any law business since her sister’s death on the 10th of October, 1853,
Then I settled her affairs. Her mother died in my house in the year 1826.

Mr. Coleridge : Do you know that there has been an estrangement between
the petitioner’s branch of the family and Miss Ewings ?

itness : I know it now, but I did not know it before. Miss Ewings
frequently went away for a long time into Devonshire. On one occasion she
was away for three years, and on two other occasions she was away two
years. She had L for a considerable time with Miss Cousens previous
to the last occasion. I recollect Miss Ewinfs being much distressed at the death
of her sister. She withdrew at t e time from society more than was thonght
wise. I tried to pacify her, and told her to go more into society. I always
considered the elder sister had the entire guidance of all her affairs when she
was living. I did not live in the house with them, but three doors below.
I saw them tantly. I llect in October last having heard that Miss
Ewings had had a %alytio stroke. Perhaps it was a month after that time,
but T heard of it. en I saw her she bo?lreared just as before. Shbd appeared
to be completely restored so far as her ily appearance went. There was no
. trace of it in her body, but there was a little in her mind, and also her disposi-
tion. She seemed rather more melancholy than before. She appeared quite
capable of di ing matters with me. Isaw her on the 23rd of December
at her house ; I went there. She seemed quite as usual. I called on her as a
matter of friendship. She was tolerably cheerful, more so than usual ; she
asked me to come again. She was not at that time a lunatic. She talked to
me about my wife and all sorts of subjects the same as another old lady. It
did not occur to me that there was anything the matter with her mind. I
{romised to see her again in a week. On the morning of the 30th of December,
he 1morning on which I was about to visit her, I was fetched by Mr. Mould
to go to Miss Ewings. I went and found there Mr. Mould, his mother,
Mr, and Mrs. Wood, a Miss Harrison, an attendant, and a servant. Miss
Ewings was very much exhansted. She remained at the window and called to
the persons who were passing for protection. She complained of persons being
in the house. She complained also of her servant. I don’t remember that
she said anything but that her servant was dishonest, and that she was going to
harm her. I did my best to pacify her. I succeeded in the course of two
hours in ing her to sit down. Mr. Shugl, of Warrington, was her medical
attendant, and I sent for him. He did all he could to soothe her, but without
effect. She had the belief that there was great danger in remaining in the
house. She showed me her throat, and said persons had tried to strangle her.
‘We all (eight of us) came to the conclusion that the best thing would be to send
her to en asylum. I thought her decidedly insane. There was an interval of
three hours before she was sent away. She was taken to the asylum in a
carriage. She wonj in the carriage in the expectation that she was going to
live somewhere else. 'Whilst she was in the asylum I asked Mr. Sharp to
visit her and report to me. I wrote on the 31st of December to Dr. Shapter.
I knew that a correspondence had taken place between Miss Ewm%s and Dr.
Shapter, and that was the reason I wrote to him. In consequence of the letter
I wrote to Dr. Shapter, I received a communication from Mr. Ellacombe.
From time to time I received reports from Mr. Sharp, and I transmitted
them to Dr. Shapter. I sent one or two of the reports to Mr. Ellacombe.
On the 6th of February last I received a letter from Mr. Ellacombe. In
oonsequence of that letter I sent him a full report of her case. He arrived at
my house on the 1lth of February, and he went with Mr. Nicholson and
m, the next morning to Miss Ewings. I never saw her after she left
arrington uutil I saw her in Exeter. I heard of her arrival at Exeter
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through Mr. Ellacombe. In eonse?iuenoe of a letter previously received from .
Dr. Shapter, I went to Exeter, and I there saw Miss Ewings. She was v
cheerful, and said she was very happy ; she appeared more lug){ than I h
seen her for several years past. In my oiinion she appeared as er mind was
in no way affected. In speaking of her business, she said *‘ You know I don’t
like business, and I hope it will be settled for me.” She then gave me a cheque
for £100 for the gayment of several debts. I filled up the cheque, and she
signed it. She told me to settle with Miss Cousens about the expense of her
living, and told me that I was to get the money when I wanted it. She said
sl:emgid not want to be stinted, as she had property amounting to £12,000 ; she
said her income was several hundreds of pounds, and that was the reason she
did not want to be stinted. At that time I was not aware of the total amount
of her personal property.

It being now half-past six o’clock, the court adjourned till Monday.

MONDAY.—THIRD DAY.

The court resumed its sitting this morning at ten o’clock. The interest in
the case was evidently nndimmm%:’ ished.

Mr. Beamont was re-called. He said, Miss Ewings first said she thought
her income must be about £600 a-year, but she ipoke doubtingly. I told her

) that I thought it could hardly be so much. was some considerable time

with her. I'said *‘yes, madame,” and she said she had told me three or four
{ears before not to use that term, which was quite true. She showed me some
etters received from her friends, and made some comments, which ap
quite just. One letter she said she should not answer, as she did not think the
writer had behaved well to her. I think it was a just conclusion. It was a
lady who wrote the.letter.

The Commissioner : Does it compromise the lady to mention it ?

‘Witness : Yes.

The Commissioner: Then we had better say nothing about it.

‘Witness : Her statement was quite rational about the letter. I saw her
the same evening at Dr. Shapter’s cottage. The conversation took place at
Miss Cousens’. In the evening when I saw her at Dr. Shapter’s she was
exceedingly polite, pointing out several places in the scenery. She named
the %lwes correctly, because I have since learnt such is the case. She showed
me Exmoutb, the direction of Dartmoor, Starcross, &. Ermouth is some
distance. She was quite correct; I did not discover any want of compre-
hension. No conversation on business passed except this :—‘‘ What present
was I goin to take home to my wife,” and begged that I would show it to her.
I saw her the next day, when general conversation passed, and she begged to
be remembered to all her friends. I communicated with Mr. Ellacombe, sen.
that day, and I told him what had passed. He sent in his acoount, and i

aid it. I saw her in church on the morning of the 17th of April. We walked
ome together. We talked about ordinary subjects, she alluding to her friends
at Warrington. She said that she was very glad that Dr. Greenall was likely
to come in again, referring to the election then pending. She said that she
had read my speech, and produced the Warrington paper containing it. On
the 18th of April I talked to her about her will. Dr. Greenup had been there,
and that was one reason of my coming down. I told her she was well enough
to make her will, and if so she had better make it. She said ‘“I will when
I am a little more tranquil, but I will mention it ‘to Dr. Shapter,” who was

not in Exeter that day. think nothing else took place.
y the Commissioner : er that she r make her as

By the Commissi I told her that she had better make her will,
people came hunting after her money.

Examination continued: She said nothing more about her will then. I
saw her again on the 2lst, 22nd, and 23rd of May. She seemed somewhat
alarmed. She had been served with a process in lunacy on the 17th.

. ]35 the Commissioner : She said she knew what I had come about and she
wished me to defend it,

https://doi.org/10.1192/50368315X00007520 Published online by Cambridge University Press


https://doi.org/10.1192/S0368315X00007520

XXX

Examination oontinued : I came in consequence of her sending me the
“paper.” She told me to defend it, and signed the notice for this jury.
She would not sign it till it was explained. I told her it was a notice that
she meant to resist the petition. At first she said she was afraid, I acked Dr.
Shapter to explain it, who was present. He told her what I had said, and
she then signed it. Nothing else passed, I came away. That was on the
Monday. My imfression is that she was not at church on the Sunday. I only
saw her once. came late on the Saturday night. I was employed about
the affidavits. I saw her again on the 18th of June, first in Exeter and after-
wards at Dr, Shapter’s. She told me that Dr. Bucknill had been putting her
through her calculations. She said ‘ He asked her to count.”

By the Commissioner: I won’t swear that it was the exact words that
ghe used, but I think they were.

Examination continued : She took out her purse. She said she had been
puzzled. She was sitting at the time. She said ‘‘ He had asked her to count,
and said something about the multiplication table.” She had been puzzled.
She took the money out of her purse and counted it correcttl[y. she said she
was ashamed of her shabby purse, I then gave her mine. The purse was
shabby, and I believe she was ashamed of it. My purse was a very handsome
one. She put her money in her own purse, and folded mine carefully up
and put it in her pocket, and said she would use it when this enquiry was
over. I have seen her in company with some eifht people at dinner. She
oonducted herself most rationally and properlg’; think it was in April last.
She joined in conversation. She spoke of her friends, she starting the subjects,
which were principally about Warrington. Her remarks about what other
people said were quite }l))qrtinent. I recollected repeating an epigram about a
marriage which she laughed at very much. I have known her 40 or 50 years.
I think she is of perfectly sound mind and capable of managing her affairs. I
saw her yesterday and she talked ntionalli.

. Seil‘)hngto mtixess here offered to repeat the epigram which related to the seige
of pol.

The learned Commissioner intimating that he should like to hear it, the
witness repeated the following :— :

‘What means to-day the mingled rattle,
Of bells and cannons in our town ?

Is it that Mars, the god of battle,
Has brought the Russian eagle down ?

No! still hov'ring o’er us, in defiance,
Mars has not slaixn the traitor yet ;
But love and hymen in alliance,
Have caught a Lion in their net |

By the Commissioner : I think her quite capable of managing her affairs,
and should have no objection to take her instructions to make a will. But I
would say that I have not seen her at any lengthened interview latelg. In
May, when she had been served with a process, I don’t think I should have
liked to have taken her instructions.

Examination continued : I received all her letters. I ought to have received
& dividend warrant from the London and North-Western Railway. I did not
open her letters though. The dividend warrant did not arrive, and I asked if
it was among the letters which I had sent her. She brought out her papers,
and it dwas not among them. I afterwards learnt that Mr. Ellacombe had
sto] it.

ppé:ross-exmined by Mr. Smith : I searched to see if the letter was there.
1 believe she said she was not aware that it had not arrived.

By the Commissioner : It had not arrived. N

Cross-examnination continued : I am the solicitor in opposition. I came on
the 21st, a Saturday. I came because she had sent me the paper. She did
not send it, but Mr. Campion did. I saw her on the Monday morning. I saw
on the Sunday a gentleman, Mr. Charles Ellacombe, about making an afidavit.
I had spoken to Dr. Shapter about steps to be taken to oppose the petition.
Directly I received the notice, I commenced steps to have it tried by a
jury before I saw her. I think it was begun in London. She said that she

ew I was one of the persons who had helped send her to Haydock, and,
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therefore, she asked Dr. Shapter about it I think before signing. I can only
explain it that, though I have been her solicitor 80 many years. [Mr.
Campion’s r wasput in and read.] She seemed to be attached to her friends
at Warri and was not therefore friendless. She had received kindnesses
from them. . Lowe was one of them. After the paralytic attack she seemed
more melancholy. I did not observe that her memory was any worse or more
defective. I know that it was thought desirable that she should be placed in
s private place and not in an asylum. I did not visit her in the asylum. I
think Bowden was the place mentioned. I believe it is a very healthy and
pleasant place. Itisa suburb of Manchester. I did not know there were any
relatives, but afterwards understood from Mr. Ellacombe that she had relatives
in Devenshire, He stayed at my house. My firm is Beamont, Urmson, and
Davis. It was agreed that an order should be made for an application in chancery.
I think when she went to the banks for money they filled up the cheques
and she signed them. I came down to Exeter in consequence of Dr. Greenu
having been here. I think Dr. Shapter wrote the letter which I reoceived.
have not received a letter from Miss Ewings since she has been in Exeter. I
do not think I received a letter from her for the last twelve years. I told her
she was well enough to make her will. 1 commenced the conversation. I think
it is very likely that I might have heard from Dr. Shapter, either by letter or
word of mouth, about it. I won’t undertake to swear about it. I believe I did
not speak to Dr. Shapter about it. I think it very likely that Dr. Shapter, in
some of his letters, had alluded to her fitness to make a will. [A letter, dated
12th of March, was here put in and read.] I said on one occasion that she was
too much excited to have attested a will, I saw her alone on the 18th of April.
[Another letter, of the 7th of May, was here g‘lit in and read.] I did forward an
account of her property to Dr. ter. I have never written to her about it.
I sent the letter to Dr. Shapter. I did not prepare any document in consequence
of the letter of the 12th of March. I have oertuni y not prepared any docu-
ments for her, except the cheque for £500, which I sent down in blank to
Dr. Shapter. 1t was filled up by me on the 10th of May, and sent on that day.
She %ointed the places to me. In some respects her eye-sight was remarkable.
y the Commissioner : She had ‘“long sight.” I have not seen her read
[ t at church,
-examined : She had friends at Warrington.

' wBy the Commissioner : Her friends comprised many of the principal people
at Warrington.

Re-examination resumed : She was greatly displeased with Mrs. Lowe about
the asylum. She said Mrs, Lowe had ordered her to be placed in the carriage
by force when she was coming to Devonshire. She repeated it again and again
that she was displeased with Mrs. Lowe. Mrs. Lowe had nothing to do with
taking her to the asylum.

By the Commissioner: I wished her to state the names of the friends to
whom she wished to leave her money. She said nothing to me about being made
a Roman Catholic. I knew nothing about her delusions except from the affidavite.

The Commissioner : Don’t you think that any one sincerely wishing to
ascertain the true state of her mind, should have made this enquiry ?

‘Witness : I did not do so.

Mr. John Sharp, surgeon : I live at Warrington, and have attended the
Ewings’s family for 30 years or more. Miss Ewings’s sister died in 1853, I
was in the habit of seeing Miss Phoebe Ewi from time to time before
her paralytic attack. I do not know whethe:? attended her professionally.
She visited my family. She retired from society much. She seemed to be
more desponding. She had peculiarities, but not more than most old maidens or
bachelors. (A laugh.) Her general disposition whs generally good. Her con-
versation was natural but often trivial. This is the character of her mind.
Her conversation, however, was natural. From the time of her paralytic stroke
her, memory was rather defective, and increascd at the time of going to the
asylum. I visited her in the asylum four times.

The Commissioner : Mr. Collier admitted that she was at this time.
Examination continued by Mr. Kingdon : On the 8th of February, the last
it, I did not.detect loss of memory, but she said she heard noises in the
house. I did not see her again until the 28th of May, at her lodgings, at Miss
Cousen’s, in Exeter. I put down on a bit of paper notes of the conversation,
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witness then proceeded to read from his notes which he said he had made
e same day.] Dr. Shapter told me that he wished me to see her. She shook
me heartily by the hands, said she was very to see me ; began by refenins
to the recent troubles in Warrington ; she said ‘‘ You know,” but did not ad
what. I said to her ‘‘ Come, now, you must not say anything about Haydock,
m know you are far removed from there.” S8he then enquired after Mrs,
g?urp, my sons, the alterations of the parish church to which she had given
some mon —ui:ing if any of the vaults there had been disturbed. Her mother
and sister been buried there in vaults, but not her last sister which the
law prevented. This disturbed her, She was buried in a vault in St. Paul’s
Church. She thanked me for a newspaper I sent her, containing an account
of the laying the foundation stone of the extension of the church, and of Mr.
Greenall’s election ; asking about her pew in St. Paul’s church she used to go
to. It had been cleaned. She asked if her house had been turned ‘‘up side
down.” I know no more about the pew she mentioned. She asked how her house
in Busy-street looked. This was the one she lived in. There were five persons
at the dinner table that day besides Miss Ewings and ?ﬂelf She asked me if
I would take a parcel for her to Warrington. She ed chiefly about the
election, and asked what the Radicals did. She was a good Tory. (A laugh.)

Mr. Smith : She has not chosen her counsel. . .

Mr, Collier : You cannot say not well. I don’t think my friend can call it a
proof of her madness. (Laughter.) <

. Smith : inly not.

Examination oontinued : When I was going away she gave me a parcel and
told me what it contained. It contained sea-weed collected by herself and
sister, and desired me to give it to Miss Sharp. When about to leave the
table she spoke to Dr. Shapter. All I heard was the *‘ fee.” She did not sa;

- anything to me about the ‘‘fee.” I was at Dr. Shapter’s about two hours.
thought she took the greatest amount of talking, which rather interfered with
my eating. (A hughsre The presence of an old friend was interesting.

By the Commissioner : Her conversation was quite rational, and such as
she had been in the habit of using when in Warrington. I say the same of it
in the evening. I saw her yesterday morning and evening. In the morning I
was with her about a quarter of an hour. Mr. Cole and Dr. Shupter were with
her. In the morning she enquired after my health. Mr. Beamont went into the
sitting-room first, and I followed him. She was standing on the floor. She was
dressed in a walking dress. She 'said, *‘I won’t go to church this morning.”
Dr. Shapter advised her to go, but she said, ‘‘No, I will go this afternoon.”
Then she made some reference to this ‘‘shameful affair.”

By the Commissioner : I don’t know that those were her words. I said
keep your mind easy, all will go on right. She then said something about Dr.
Kendrick and Mr. Mould going to the railway, that she met them, and that she
supposed they had been ** g)ing against me.” I said I heard their evidence, and
I think it was as much for you as against you, if not more. She did not
make any reply. Nothing was said about seeing her in the evening. But about
six o’clock f was at Dr. Shapter’s country house, and Miss Ewings came. I
had three-quarter’s of an hour’s conversation with her. The principal part of
the conversation was about her friends in Warrington. She called their names
except two. One was Mrs. Lowe’s daughter, whese name I do not kuow
though I know her personally.

The Commissioner : During the three-quarters of an hour’s conversation,
did she refer to this enquiry ?

‘Witness : I believe she did not once make allusion to this enquiry.

Examination continued : Her conversation at that time was quite rational,
and the same as before the attack of paralysis. She enquired about Mrs. Lowe,
who had told them to put her in the carriage. She asked how Mrs. Lowe an
her daughter were. I said she had had a paralytio stroke. Shesaid “I am
very sorry for her though she behaved very cruelly to me. Her family is subject
to palsy.” I said I don’t remember whether they are. Twice she said she was
sorry, and twice that the family of Mrs. Lowe was subject to palsy. i
she i8 of sound mind, but her memory is still defective. I think decidedly she
is capable of managing her property. I should have no objection to attest any
will she might execute. But I think she should not be excited. I have said
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that I think she was quite competent to execute a will. I have said so to
several persons.

Cross-examined by Mr. Smith: Her conversation was natural, but on
trivial subjects. Her memory so far as manner was concerned was failing. In
the year 1853 I observed it particularly. She was very much affected by her
sister’s death. The pml{tio attack affected her speech, and one arm. I signed
the certificate under which she was sent to the asylum, and visited her four times.
I saw her afterwards on the 13th of February. I thought she was unsound,
and I am still of opinion that at that time she was unsound. I did not see her

in until the 28th of May. After the paralytic stroke and before she went
to the d:;ylum I found that she entertained some suspicions about the servants.
But I did not know at that time whether there was any foundation for the
thought. Mr. Sharp then confirmed a former witness’s statement about Miss
Ewings wandering in the streets, and especially when she run out of the house.
I liked the servant to be present at my professional interviews with her, to see if
she answered right. She ‘‘ thanked ” me for a newspaper which I had sent her.

The Commissioner : I took it to be that she only ¢ thanked ™ me for it.

By Mr. Smith : I rather avoided any conversation that would excite her.
I did about her *‘delusi ” Last night she was quite calm when talking
about her Warri n friends. She was calm, in good spirits, and frequentl{
laughed. Mr. Ireland Blackburn lives about eleven miles from Warrington.
recollect Mr. Isaac Blackburn’s family. They have left for a great number of
years. The Bostons have left about 20 years. Mr. Ireland Blackburn’s family
did not live in Warrington. I heard the word ‘‘fee.” Dr, Shapter nodded
hishead. She did not give me a ““fee.” She formerly paid me TX amount every
year. Mrs, Lowe was always very kind to Miss Ewings, who had a very strong
objéction to go to the asylum. She appeared contented to be in Exeter, and

ke words to that effect yesterday. She is able to manage her property, but
;gooourse requires a person to assist her. I can’t say whether she is able to
correspond. - . .

By the Commissioner : Her sister could continue a conversation for a longer
period. Miss Phaebe would stop abruptly at times.

The Commissioner: Did you take wine? A. No. Q. Did you see her
take wine? A. No.

Cross-examined by Mr. Smith : If she was free from excitement she would
be free to execute a will. Assuming that she was told that persons were coming
down hunting after her money, I don’t think she would in a fit state to
execute any instrument, especially if she was told that they were coming down
in an hour or a short time. If eight or ten peogle were to go and see her,
I don’t think she would be excited. A little tended to excite her, ially

~ gtrangers being present. I don’t think she is in a fit state $o be taught any-
thing, or to learn by herself. I should have enquired about her ¢‘delusions”
had I not known her. I only wonder her ‘‘ mania” has not returned after the
examinations she has undergone.

Re-examined by Mr. Collier : I think her memory has failed since her sister’s
death. She used one person’s name for another. I think it arose through a
mistake of words. Her mind had not failed so far that I should think her of
unsound mind. This is up to the time of the paralysis. When I saw her at
Exeter she had recovered very mpch to my astonishment, and I found her as well
as she was before she had the attack of garalyaia. She looked very well, and
more like she used to do, sho used to be very tﬁrett . Bodily and mental
health often go together, but one may fail without the other. She looked better
than she had for six years. There is nothinﬁvery peculiar in her failing, more
as reﬁds memory, than when not excited. I was in court when Dr. Bucknill
%e is evidence. I think the examination of that gentleman did confuse her.

en cross-examined by Dr. Bucknill as she was, I should think she would be
confused, and should be astonished if she was not. "When nervous she would
not be fit to make a will. But supposing her excitement to have subsided, and
only friends to be with her, then I think she would be in a fit state to make a
wﬂi‘ Each of the times I have seen her, I think she could have made a will.

. Mr. Collier : Does she know by whom she is surrounded? Witness : Yes, I

80.
Re-examination resumed : She shook me heartily by the hands.
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Mr. Collier : Does she know what going to church means? A : She was

protz in her attendanoe.
r. Collier : We must assume a good motive.

‘Witness : When she is calm she knows her friends from others, and could
call them by name.

By Mr. Collier : She has told me that she has visited the Rostons. She
mke to me about the newspaper, and spoke about the contents. She asked me

ut the vaults, &c.

The Commissioner : Did she refer to the contents in such a manner as to lead
you to believe that she had read it ?

‘Witness : Oh w I think she had said she had read every word.

Mr. Collier : We heard from Dr. Tuke that she failed to read a paper.
N ht'i:?be that when put into her hand she might fail through the examiner

oing i

itness : I thought so when I heard the evidence. If excited she could
scarcely be able to read. She might be able to read, but I have no proof that
she can read.

Mr. Smith : I was going to ask that question.

‘Witness : I cannot say anything about her knowledge of ﬂTnel. I should
say ‘ certainly not” to the question that every old lady was a lunatic because
she ocould not do figures. (A laugh.)

The Commissioner : You have told us this morning the state of mind in

. whie%vyon say ?u found her yesterday ?
itness : 5

The Commissioner: It was your judgment that so far as her powers of

mm%ement goes, she can manage her affairs ?
itness : Yes. .

The Commissioner : Now the question is, and I have written it down for
you, supposing Miss Ewings had yesterday taken the life of another person, and
you were this morning asked—if she were being tried for her life—whether she
‘was a rational being and accountable for her actions, would you answer that she
was of sound mind, or that she was not?

‘Witness : I should say she was of sound mind when I saw her, but that
having had an attack of mania it miiht suddenly return, and then of course she
would be of unsound mind, but if she had done it while talking to me then I
will say “‘ while in a sound state of mind,” but no medical man can say how
suddenly an attack of mania may return after it has once agpeared. If my
memory serves me right, I might say that on the evening of the day when she ran
out of the house in an excited state she was ealm in the morning.

The Commissioner : But supposing no attack of acute mania had sapervened
—of which we pave spoken—do you think that if she had killed any one it
would have been ‘‘murder?” Would you now sitting in that chair tell the
jury that in such an aspect of the case, you believed that she was of sound mind ?

‘Witness : Of sound mind.

The Commissioner : Suppose with your present knowledge—which you have
iiwn to the learned counsel and the jury—you were now to be suddenly informed

y some one that she had taken away hfe?

‘Witness : The answer would be, that a sudden attack of mania might bave
set in; but my impression is that she would not have done it while talking
with me, but she might have done it in qr of a sudden attack of mania
hﬁni come on.

The Commissioner : Are they very liable to such attacks of acute mania?

Y‘itnq:s : Ican’t say peculiarly liable to sudden attacks, but I know they
may have it. ;

yThe Commissioner : Did you ever hear of the late Dr. Pritchard’s work ?

‘Witness : Yes.

The Commissioner : Do you consider him a good authority ?

Witness Yes.

The Commissioner : Do you agree with this—‘ The disease—mental insanity
—often appears in a more marked and sudden manner in elderly l1;»::'50113 who
have sustamned a slight attack of apoplexy or paralysis—which perhaps
ﬁedﬂy recovered—and which might be expected to have left traces of the disease.

e ex|
oerned,

tion is verified so far as the sensative and motive powers are con-
ut the seat of intellect is found to have been shaken at its very centre.”
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‘Witness : I don’t think my experience will enable me to say.

Charles Nicholls Cole : I was at Dr. Shapter’s last evening, about six o’clock,
and saw Miss Ewings. Dr. Shapter and Mr. Sharp were there. I walked up
with Mr. Sharp to dine there, and Dr. Shapter afterwards arrived. Miss Ewings
arrived afterwards. I was in her company from a quarter past six till & quarter
past eight. She was introduced to me. Mr. Sharp spoke to her for ut a
quarter of a hour, when I left. I could sve that she knew to whom she was
conversing, I confirm all Dr. Shapter said about her while I was there. At
dinner she sat near me. She ap&?red reasonable. She did not manifest any
want of intellect, and she talked about ordinary matters the same as other people.
Speaking about archery she said she could not pull the bow. I spoke about a
lady who broke her leﬁl:; the Crystal Palace. 8he said she it, and also
she was sorry thatshe never seen the Palace. Sheshook hands with
us and said, ‘I trust my affairs will go on all right.” |

By the Commissioner : She had a smile upon her countenance when she said
it. Perhaps it might have been in a cheerful manner.

Cross-examined bivlkM.r. Karslake : Her manners are ladylike. She did not
of course talk to me like she did to Mr. Sharp, because I was a stranger. Our
oonversation was upon general subjects.

By the Commissioner : I did not attempt to elicit the state of her mind.
She seemed very self-possessed. There was no depression about her. She does
gst look ﬁove 60 odd years, She is the most remarkable person I ever saw for

years old.

Dr. Thomas Shapter examined by Mr. Collier : I am a physician, of Exeter.
I knew the Misses Ewings seven years ago when they were in Exeter. They
lod here some months when they were here. I and my family saw & good
deal of them. I was their medical man, or, I should say, the eldersister. There
were acts of intimacy. M% sister and Miss Pheebe Ewings contracted an intimacy.
After they went back to Warrington the elder sister died. Durh;f her illness I
was corresponded with, and after the death mourning was sent. y sister occa-
sionally corresponded with Miss Phoebe Ewings. I had the misfortune to lose my
sister last year. I forwarded a letter ten days afterwards to Miss Ewings, which
I found addressed to her. Isent a note myself announcing her death. I received
a letter in reply, written by Mr. Wood. About Christmas last I received a letter
from Mr. Beamont, announcing Miss Ewing’s illness, and making some enquiries
about her relations. I forwarded that letter to Mr. Charles Ellacombe, of
Alphington. To the best of my recollection I heard nothing of her till the 15th
of that day, when Mr. Ellacombe called and said he had brought her from
‘Warrington. He gave me a general description of her being in an asylum. We
agreed that I should see her the next morning. I did call and see her. I will
speak chiefly from memory.

Mr. Smith : The book I am referring to embraces all patients who visit me.
. Smith : I must see it if necessary.

The book was handed in.

The Commissioner : As to everybody else it is strictly confidential, because
it is the ‘‘ general diary.”

Examination continued : When I saw Miss Ewings on the 10th, at Miss
Cousens, she was rather excited, but she told me in a coherent manner the
history of her troubles. She first spoke about my sister’s death, and said she
hoped I had received the letter from Mr. Wood, which I had. She could write,
but it was rather the work of time, and labour, and trouble. Immense labour,
I may say, and not satisfactory to her afterwards—she doubted her power. She
immediately recognised me, and asked at once about my children and family, and
seemed very glad tosee me. She then proceeded to detail to me what she termed
“‘ the sorrow she had gone through.” ~She first told me that she had had great
agitation, and that she distrusted her servant, because she thought her servant
was robbing her. She said one night she heard a noise up-stairs, that she crept
up quietly, that she looked through the keyhole of the maid servant’s bed-room,
and she saw there what alarmed her. She said ‘It was shocking ; it alarmed
me greatly, aud shocked me horribly.” ¢‘I then,” she said, ‘‘ran down stairs,
rushed out of the house, and cried thieves and murder, for I thought they were
goinﬁo murder me.”

. Collier : Did she tell you then what she saw ?

‘Witness ;: No, not at that time.
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The Commissioner : Why? Did you not ask her?

‘Witness : Because I listened to her tale. She said subsequently that she
thought she saw a man there. She then went on to say that she had been vi
violently used in her own house. She said that she had been very violently held,
and.that she had been thrown down by the person who had held her. Then the
next day she said eight or ten of her friends met in my house, and they told me
if I staid in my house that injury would come to me, and that Mr, Gilbert
Greenall would be glad to see me (Miss Ewings) at his house. She said *‘ I doubt
the fact, because I think he was away”—however, I was put into a carriage with
& strange woman. I thought it might be important, said Dr. Shapter—but I
only ascertained it lately that the person who clasped her around the neck was
a one-arm person. She said she was put into the carriage with astrange woman.
After we had gone some little distance I discovered that we were going the
Lancashire and not the Cheshire road, upon which I became alarmed, and said
““You are deceiving me,” and she then described how she put her head out of the
window and called out to the postboy or driver to stop, because he was going the
wrong road. The woman in the carriage first endeavoured to soothd me, and
then held me down by force until we came by a turnpike-gate, when another
woman got in and assisted in holding me down, I then gave myself up as lost,
and was quiet for the rest of the journey. She then proceeded to relate
that she was put into the asylum and described to me the staircase, which
made an impression upon her. She said she was obliged to attend one or two
balls given to the insane patients which was distasteful to her. However,
she said they behaved very kindly to her and very proper. She then
said that Mr. Nicholson and Mr. mbe had called to take her out of
the asylum, and she said, ‘‘Very glad I was to get out.” She said Mr.
Ellacombe told me that he was the ncarest relative, but I knew that he
wasn’t.”, Then I was taken to Mrs. Lowe’s, who told me (Miss Ewings) that Mr.
Ellacombe had told her that he was the nearest relative, and that he, the elder
Ellacombe, and all the Ellacombes were to have my property. Jane Warren and
Miss Cousens were present at this interview. She then described to me in nearly
the same terms as the other witnesses have done the scene at the railway
station at Warrington. I think she said she called out, * You a clergyman’s
widow, and yet see me treated in this way.” She spoke of Mrs. Lowe standing
by and seeing her thrown into the carriage in that way. She said the porter in
the carriage was in'his shirt, and that it was in a second class carriage she was put.
8She spoke of Mr. Ellacombe with disrespect and dread. The cause she assi,

‘was that he had been the cause of the violence at the railway station. When
Mr. Ellacombe called on me about one o’clock, I told him that she being an old
lady it would be better for him to let her stay three or four days. ¥From my
conversation with Mr. Ellacombe he imgressed on my mind that she suffered
under dementia, but I thought her much as before, except a little agitated.
On the 17th she expressed a strong wish to stay at Miss Cousens. Her story
was coherent. On the evening of the 18th, when I came home, I found there
was an urgent message from her. I went and found her much agitated. She said
Mr. Ellacombe had been there, and had thought to remove her violently from
Miss Cousens, but that she had fallen down upon her knees to him, and then
he said “‘ She must go to-morrow.” She then appealed to me. Jane Warren
and Miss Cousens were present at the time. She asked me as a christian, and
as a geatleman, to protect her, and said ‘‘May I not apply to the Lord
Chancellor.” I told her no person could remove her against her will without
& proper medical certificate that she was out of her mind, and that I was not
prepared to give such a certificate. I left her much calmed and comforted. The
next morning I saw her and told her I had received a letter from Mr.
Ellacombe, saying he had abandoned the intention of removing her. She

in appealed to me as a christian and as a gentleman. They are her terms.
ﬂ there was any attempt to remove her I was to a pi{to the Lord Chancellor.
In the presence of Mi. Winslow Jones and myseﬁ e repeated the story of
being taken to the asylum. Thonih he was a stranger there was no inoon%:nity,
or incoherence, though she might have been agitated. She is perfectly able to
oconverse, and has proved an agreeable friend to me.

The Commissioner : If I and the jury see her will that make her nervous ?
A. : To a certain extent it will, but I have prepared her for the visit, and I think
she is quite willing to come this afternoon and see you in this court.
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‘Witness ¢ I think itis beyond her mind to be asked ‘¢ calculation questions.”
If sheis not agitated I think her capable of conversing upon all subjects. I
answer that without the slightest reservation. It is not remarkable for an old
woman of 80 to be easily puzzled. She told me she was 80 on the 18th of this
month, I don’t think she looks more than 70. [As a proof of her physical
power the witness tioned several inst: , among which was that she had
walked to Cowley Bridge about a mile and a-half, and that seeing his
children using some ‘‘ dumb bells” about a month since in his garden she took
them up and used them well. Each bell weighed 7 lbs.] If there is any relict
of paralysis it is that she cannot propel her tongue. It was agreed between .
myself and Mr. Jones that she should be left quiet for one month. Isaid I
would see Miss Ewings and ask her to pledge herself that during that period she
would sign‘nothing. Mr. Jones attended professionally on the 24th February
on behalf of the next of kin. She then complained of her want of wearing
apparel and money. She had, I am sorry to say, no change of linen from the 16th
to the 2Gth. She said she was kept without. On the 28th she repeated the.
complaint. She was very anxious to go to church on the 2nd Sunday after she
was in Exeter. She spoke about the church of St. Lawrence, where she used
to go. Upon putting a question to her she said, ‘“I recollect the clergyman
of St. Lawrence used to administer the sacrament in a way which I did not like.
For he used to give us the bread and cup together and then merely say the
words,” It is true that seven years before she had made that complaint.
I think it is a remarkable proof of her strength of memory. Dr. Fox called
on me on the 10th of March. It was left entirely to Lim whether he would
see her, and he did. In the presence of Dr. Fox and Mr. Ellacombe I said, in
my opinion, Miss Ewings was quite capable of trmsactinﬁm and all business.
1 said to Dr. Fox, and Mr. Ellacombe on the 1Gth of March that ‘I thought
she was quite capable of signing any document properly explained to her, and
that I should have no hesitation in witnessing it. That she could leave her
property to whom she liked, but that I was the only man in England who could
not accept it.” I further told Mr, Ellacombe that if she signed any document
I would let him know.

By Mr. Collier : I said I could not accept it in reference to myself and my
position, and not out of any mistrust of her capacities. I know that observa-
tions are made upon mcedical men when wills are made in their favour under
such circumstances.

The Commissioner: And it is very salutary too, that such observation
should be made. )

After relating the particulars of an interview between Miss Ewi and
Dr. Fox on the 10th of March, Dr. Shapter proceeded to say :— the
12th of March she desired me to write to . Beamont, authorising him to
make me her guardian. Sae said she wished to have her affairs settled, and
that she had never had the care of money. She said she had no relations,
or none she cared about. That her nearest relations were unkind to her and
her mother, and that she wished to be protected against them. She hoped
I would not let Mr. Ellacombe come to her. She desired some money as she
had not given Miss Cousens her Christmas-box. It was her custom to send
her a guinea every year, but had omitted it this. I still adhere to the fact
that I think her mind is clear, and that she has mind to manage her affairs.
[A letter written by Dr. Shapter, in relation to this point, was here put in,
read, and oonfirmed by him.] Her wish to make me her guardian did not
make me think her unable to manage her own affairs. I certainly do think that
it does not indicate an unsound mind for an old lady of 80 to wish a guardian.
I think her capable of slgmng anything she is called upon to do. She is a woman
of very remarkable mind. I will defy anyone to make hér sign anything which
she does not wish to sign. [Instances were given by the witness to support
his testimony. . Among them was one in which Mr. Beamont asked her to
sign a paper relating to the action, but which she declined to do until
explained. Other instances referring to the gift of £5600 to the Christian Know-
ledge Society, and £45 towards the restoration of the church of Warrington.]
She signed a ohe%‘ue for me for £30. I had advanced her the money. She
asked if she could sign the drafts, but I told her her money was her own.
She said this because of the pending action. She said she had a right to give
her own, went into a back room, sat down, adjusted her spectacles, and read the
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cheques. [The witness detailed at le the many enquiries she made
respecting the cheques, &c., to indicate her soundness of mind.] She said
¢ Would you sign it if it were yours ¥’ I said * Yes.” She then signed it, a
cheque for me for £30. She had no difficulty in doing so. She told me that her
clothes had arrived. She showed me a printed report of the Warrington
Ladies’ Society, and gave me a description of the persons. Her own name was
down, which she said was spelled wrong. When speaking of Mr. Nicholson—
who, she said, was an old friend of the family—at the railway station, she said
¢J saw his heels.” (A laugh.) She also added something else not compli-
méentary to him.

By Mr. Smith : These notes were made at different times. One note
was made on the 28th of March, and there was a little addition' about a
month ago. In looking over my notes I made some addition.

‘Witness : She wished me to open her letters. She received a letter
from a lady on the 4th of April—say from a Miss G. She read it and did not
very well like it. She said it was stuff and nonsense. She made a running
comment upon every paragraph read.

The Commissioner : One lady commenting upon another. (Laughter.)

‘Witness : It was a most accurate description of the leiter. Her remarks
were 8o just that I made the remark. Having deposed to a call of Dr. Greenup,
Dr. Shapter said ‘‘When he came I thought he came to see her, because
he was the next of kin.” It was after & good deal of persuasion that she
consented to see him. Afterwards she said she would make her will and leave
her money to whom she liked. She was only sorry that she had not done it
before, but she always disliked business. She said, *‘I particularly wish that Mr.
Ellacombe and Dr. Greenup—who, when she saw them, she received in a very
reserved manner—shall not have my property, b the G ps have
tried to take my sister’s and mother’s property ; but there was a friend—
I don’t recollect the name—who fought the battle for us, and they had to payall
the costs,” The next day she again resumed the subject of her will. She wished
to have the particulars of her property, and I was to write to Mr. Beamont about
it. She remarked what an injury it had been to her not making her will, and
said she had nearly done it four years before. A reply was received from Mr.
Beamont, and I communicated it to her, when she said I thoudﬁht it was
rather a little under £14,000. I made a copy on a Eiece of paper. I did not give
her Mr. Beamont’s letter. She went through the items, and at length said
¢ There are £200 in the Sa.vinfs’ Bank. [Evidence was then put in to show
that this was :B:;fecﬂy right. It appeared that each of the sisters had £199 in
the Savings’ k.] She said ‘‘ My bankers at Warrington give me two per
cent., but my lady friends tell me that it is too little.” [A letter dated the
11th of May, and written by Dr. Shapter to Mr. Beamont, was then put
in and read. ]—A long conversation here ensued respecting the regulations of a
will, but it possessed no public interest, except to show that Miss Ewings
exercised her reasoning faculties in giving certain directions respecting a few
gratuities to ten poor old women.— Witness : She perfectly comprehended what
she was about. e gifts to the ten poor women of 2s. a piece were to be
immediate. She knew the difference bejween an immediate gift and a bequest.
She said I should like to give away several things, but I must not make
myself too poor. After a few more questions upon this point the evidence
went on to Dr. Shapter’s dealings with Dr. Bucknill. I showed to Dr.
Bucknill the letter I wrote to Mr. Beamont, saying that I would not take any
bequest. Dr. Bucknill made a couple of comments. When he came to that
passage which says ‘‘I should repudiate anything left me, he said ‘‘ Yes, that
13 all very right.” On the 30th of May I again visited her, and she said she
wished her will to be made out of hand ; I gave her the paper and pro
to send for Mr. Beamont. She said, ‘‘but you can do it, can’t you. said
yes. I then read over the legacies and asked if they were the right sums,
and she said they were. She then said I wish you to be executor an
residuary legatee. I told her I did not wish to have her prﬁﬂerty. She remon-
strated, and said she had a right to give it where she like. I then said I
would send her instructions to Mr. Beamont. She said, ‘‘I wish to have it
done now.” I then e‘;n'oposed that Mr. Gray, an attorney of Exeter, should be
sent for. She asked me who Mr. Gray was, and said he was Mr. Beamont’s
agent, and was acting in Exeter on her behalf, I also said he was the gentleman
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who had drawn up Mr, Sharp’s afidavit, and whom she had seen on Saturday.
She said she did not know and had no confidence in lawyers. She had
no confidence except in me. I told her there must be two witnesses; and she
said she should like old Mary, the servant, and Miss Georgina. T told her
there was a difficulty, as Miss Georgina Cousens had a legacy. She said,
¢ Pay her at once.” I rang the bell for Miss Cousens, and desired her to go for
Mary, saying it was to witness Miss Ewings's will. I added at the top of the paper,
“ This is the will of me, Phoebe Ewings,” and at the bottom, * tppoint%r.
Shapter residuary legatee and executor.” By this time Miss Cousens and M:
were in the room. I then explained to Miss Cousens that her witnessing the wi
would invalidate her legacy ; that I had mentioned this to Miss Ewings, who had
said I was still to carry out her instructions and give her the legacy. Miss
Ewings, who at this moment had the pen in her hand, and was sitting at the
table rose from her seat, walked up to Miss Cousens and said, ‘‘ You and your
sister can have your legacies directly,” and then turned to me and said, ‘‘ Let
them have their money at once.” She next turned to old Mary and sai
¢* Recollect there is no legacy for you.” . She resumed her seat and sign
her name in the best signature I ever saw her make. The two witnesses signed.
I then explained to Miss Ewings before them what she had done, that her mo::ﬁ
was still her own to give it away in charities, that she could destroy her wi
or do what she liked with it, and that when Mr. Beamont came he must read
it over to her and explain it fully. I took it away and by that post I wrote a
full account of the transaction to Mr. B t. I also showed it to Mr.
Gray, who attended on Miss Ewings and made another will. She then said,
taking the original instructions, ‘‘ People are very curious,” and then tore
the paper to pieces. On the 2nd of J\Ey the second will was made, myself,
Mr. Gray, and Miss Cousens being present. Miss Ewings would insist on my
remaining, and she executed the will. Immediately afterwards I wrote to Mr,
Beamont. I have seen her before and after Dr. Bucknill’s visits ; and I noticed
that she was then very nervous and dreaded them excessively. On the day after
Dr. Bucknill’s fourth visit she was dreadfully agitated, and her mind was so
disturbed that she could not say a word. She said she had been disturbed during
the whole of the night with figures. The night succeeding my interview was
a sleegileu one, and she was much agitated on the following morning. I agree
with Mr. Sharp that the effect of such interviews would be to impair her cal-
oulating powers. Her politeness would often induce her to conceal a great deal
that annoyed her. On one occasion Dr. Bucknill cross-examined her in my
garden, and she fell back against the rails exhausted, saying, ‘I can stand it
no longer,” and I remonstrated with Dr. Bucknill. think Dr. Bucknill’s
visits would confuse her mind altogether. On the second visit of Dr. Bucknill at
my garden she was very cheerful and lady-like ; and it was quite impossible
for the most imaginative man to find out that she was insane. She is a little
enfeebled and embarrassed by these proceedings and examinations. She is not
looking so well now as she did & month ago; but I am rised that she bears
it so well, as she understands the nature of all these promnga. Undoubtedly
she is in sound mind. I have never seen anything during the six months she
has been in Exeter to indicate that she was of unsound mind. I do not say that
her mind is not enfeebled by age. At times she does not show much quickness
of perception. You address a question to her, and you fancy she does not hear
it. You address it a second time, and then she is herself again, and will enter
into conversation. That is not uncommmon in persons of her . She has a
most remarkable memory ; much better than fe have. She will, however, at
times make use of wrong words. She has a little difficulty with regard to
. getting out the right name. If she were speaking to you (Mr. Collier) for ten
minutes she might turn round and address me as Mr. Collier. This is a
mistake of words, and not a confusion of ideas. I attribute it to the creeping
on of old age, and to the paralytic attack, which has given that peculiar quality
to her mind of making use of wrong words. That habit constantly recurs in
persoms who have had paralytic attacks. My opinion has not been altered by
the evidence of Dr. Bu&m , Dr. Fox, or any other medical witnesses.
Mr. Collier : Have you made the slightest concealment of anything ?
Dr. Shapter : Never, at any time. 1 showed the letter to several medical
gentlemen. Ibelieve all who came except Mr. Roberts. On the 28th of M:g;
she was told that it was thought there would be an end of the petition, and
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then asked if she were to make a will if it would be disputed? I said, “I
don’t think that any will which you were to make ocould be successfully dis-
puted.” Dr. Shapter, in luding his evid , stated that Miss Ewings in

iving instructions about her will wished to make-him resid legates.
?l:hongh he had never heard her use the word before. She said, Is it right?
¢ told her I really did not wish to have her property.”

The court here adjourned from five o’clock until seven,

Dr. Shapter was then cross-examined by Mr. Smith : He said,—I had not
geen Miss Phoebe Ewings from 1852 until she came to Exeter lately. My sister
corresponded with her. I think she must have written within the last twelve
months. My impression is that she had paralysis which affected her tongue. I
never from the first to the last said she had any unsoundness except from the
decay of old age. I am not convinced that she has had any attack of mania,
I have very great doubt about it, and I still doubt it.

Mr. Smith : When she was put into the Lunatic Asylum do you think she
was unsound? Witness: I thu& she had a severe-attack of delirium,. -

By the Commissioner : I mean that disturbance of the mind that she had

no control over herself.
By the Commissioner : Do you not call that insanity ?—Witness: You may
call it ing insanity.

By the Commissioner : Do you think the medical gentlemen who signed
the certificate wrong !—Witness : I question the delusion. There was an
exaggerated feeling about her. She might e: erate very much what took

, but I think there was very good gro for her belief. She told me
fh&t & woman of one arm had thrown it around her neck.

Mr. Smith : Do you believe what such patients tell you !—Witness : I have
gince ascertained such to be the fact. I do not think she has been subject to
any delusions except sane hallucinations. There might not have been a man in
the room when she said there was.

' Mr. Smith : What is the difference between delusions and haluncinations?—
‘Witness : She might have seen a shadow, and have become alarmed.

‘Witness : en she went into the street, I think there was'an exaggerated
feeling from that hallucination.

The Commissioner : You do not think she was under any delusion?

Witness : I do not think she was, but at any rate she had an ex: ted
impression. Taking her to the asylum might have made her mind more feeble.

The Commissioner : Do you think when she was removed that she was suffer-
ing from unsound mind?

‘Witness : I think she was suffering from delusion.

The Commissioner : Was she rightly taken to the asylum as a person of
unsound mind ?

‘Witness : I doubt the policy of it.

A variety of similar questions by Mr. Smith were then put to some of which
the witness said : I do not surrender my opinion to that of others, who have seen
her before she went into the asylum, and when she came out. It is very difficult
to define the difference between delusions and mania. I should be very sorry to
doit. Deliriuia is more a passing irritation of the brain, while mania depends
more ugzn disense of the brain, and is more likely to be permanent. Deliriam
would be likely to pass off with the source of irritation. I have known persons
suffer under delirinm more than two months.

Mr. Smith : They would be in a state of bodily fever at the same time?
‘Witness : Yes.

) Mr. Smith : Have you heard of any bodily fever in her case? Witness: I
have not heard of any deliriumn while she was in the asylum, I have not heard
in evidence of her being in & feverish state.

Cross-examination continued : Delirium might pass off with the exciting
cause. I discussed with Mr. Ellacombe the ro;])‘riety of suitable lodgin{ for
Miss Ewings near Mr. Ellacombe’s house. I think I advised it, at least I knew
about it. e communicated her dislike about Mr. Ellacombe the first time I
saw her. He had been the means of bringing her out of the asylum. She said
Mr. Ellacombo had forced her into the -railway carriage, and that she doubted
his intentions. I tried to remove her doubts, and have never spoke des-
paragingly o.f Mr. Ellacombe. She believed that he had something to do with
placing her in the asylum, She could not believe that he had & good motive
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in bﬂnﬁu her to Devonshire. She had a grudge against Mr. Beamont for
putting her in the asylum. Though he is her soli:l@gteor now, she still *‘ reflects”
_upon

him.
Mr. Smith : She has confidence in him as a solicitor, but thinks him wrong
in putting her into the asylum.
‘Witness : Precisely so. I think she has entire confidence in Mr. Beamont,

and still thinks him as a friend, but thinks of the *indignity” put upon her in

ing her into the railway carriage. I think she was treated there with

indignity. I told her generally that I thought Mr. Ellacombe intended

act kindly towards her.” Her conversations are very agreeable and not

trivial. [The witness was pressed upon this point by the Commissioner, but
maintained his opinion that her conversations were not frivolous and trivial.
I differ from Mr. Shux if he said so. I withdraw my words if I said she cor
oonverse rationally on * all” gubjects. That is too comprehensive. I think she
had a good education. I had authority from Miss Ewings to refuse ission
to persons calling themselves “ next of kin.” (A laugh.) She said she had no
relations, and that her nearest relations had been unkind to her. I did not sa;
“Oh ! It is a family quarrel, it will be 05100‘1 feeling to make it up.” I did te)
Mr. Fox and Mr. E{hcombe on the 10th of March, ‘‘That I was the only man
inEn.Emd who could not receive her money.” The idea aroee in my mind
that she intended to leave me something, and I knew miﬁposiﬁon was v

jar. She was a person of remarkable memory. I told Mr. Ellacombe that
would let him know before she signed any document ; that was on the 16th fo

h.

Mr. Smith: And afterwards you spoke o{vfthnc the powers to enable her
to make you the protector of her pmpeﬁ. at position did you expect to
oocupy? Witness : I thought she wished me to manage her pecuniary arrange-
ments.

Mr. Smith: You might have done that without being formerl{)roonstituted
the protector of her property. Mr. Smith read the letier by Dr. Shapter,
stating that he was desired to apply for the power. Witness : I thought I should
take the charge of her, that nobody else should interfere. I told Mr, Ellacombe
I thought he was not the next of kin.

By the Commissioner : I think Mr. Ellacombe was rather a ¢ connection.”
‘Witness : I think no man would make her sign a document if she did not wish
to doit. I do not say she could understand anything. As a general rule she
had a dislike to transact business. She would not sign the notice for the

ury till it was explained. She signed a cheque as I have said, and one for me
or £30 for money advanced.
MBy the Commissioner : I have not used the draft. The date was the 16th
ay.

Cross-examination continued : I think she had a perfect right to do as she
liked with her money. I did not prefer cashing this cheque. communication
with her was by me. The 5th of April was the first day mention was made about
her will. I don’t think she was in a state of excitement. I gave her the par-
ticulars about her will, the day after I had received them. She first mentioned
her intention of giving me a legacy on the 11th of May. She merely said she
wanted to give me a legacy, I explained to her the position I was in, and that I
should not accept the legacy. She said *‘Their must be some thousands left
and I should wish you to have them.”

By Mr. Smith : The legacies altogether were about £800. That would leave
about £13,000, or the bulk of her property. She said these persons are all wealthy
geople, and my property is nothing to theirs, I only want to give them something

y which to recollect me.

Cross-examination resumed : She still wishes me to be the residuary legaiee.

She clearly understands now that I am. Mary and Miss Cousens attested the

i She had given Mary £10 a short time before. The will was entirely in

handwriting. fx did not tell Mr. Ellacombe that she was going to make a wi

nor Dr. Greenup. I did tell Mr, Holland. I said, in a letter, *‘ I mean to

repudiate all benefit myself.”

- Mr. S:Iaith: Hg:lh you s'nﬁcienel;h %ﬂt?enoetf re:;]x;: itt;. I;eing dopo!:;: itness:
was not done with any prem on. 01 anything she wishe

to do under present mnm&noel ought to be done,
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Mr. Smith: Why? You would not take the cheque money ‘‘under existing
circumstances ¥’ Witness : No, but I used a frut deal of influence.

Mr. Smith : Could you have prevented it if you like? Witness: I think

. I might, but it would have placed me in a difficult position ; I rather wished to

avoid it if she asked me what she must do with the money. I never influenced
Miss Ewings in any one respect.

Mr. Smith : Did you use your influence to counteract it? Witness: I did
use a fair amount of influence.

The Commissioner : You said just now, that you never influenced her at
all, and now you uz you used a great deal of influence. Is that consistent ?

. Smith : Did you not say you used a great deal of influence in order
to get her to sign a paper, which Mr. Beamont couldn’t? ‘Witness : I explained
the ﬁer and so far used that influence.

. Smith: And should have undoubtedly have repudiated it if done?
‘Witness : She believes I am now residuary legatee.
¥ L%r&ismith: You said you never disguised anything from her? Witness:

“’ . ..
- Mr. Smith : This is a pretty considerable disguise, is it not? Witness:
o8, it is.
Mr, Smith : Do you think it is a strange thing to make you the depository
of £13,000? Witness : I should have repudiated it.
Mr. Smith : Did you intend for the ‘‘ next of kin to have it?” Witness: I
took it that the “next of kin” would have had it.
The Commissioner : You intended that the x‘g&udiaﬁon should comprise not
only yourself, but all members of your family ? tness : Most unquestionably.
Mr. Smith : Did you suppose that it would ultimately have come to the
next of kin? Witness : I did not suppose anythiniabout it.
Cro inati tinued : If that will had come into operation to-
morrow I should have paid the legacies, and the other money to the next of kin.
That has been my expressed opinion.

Mr. Smith : Then you would have done this, and yet did you ever treat a

sane person that way before? Witness: (After a long pause,) did not reply.
Mr. Smith: I mﬁpose not? Witness : I did not know that you were waiting
for an answer. (Oh'!)

The Commissioner : Did you ever treat a sane person in that way ? Witness
No, certainly not.

The Commissioner : This is a solemn question. Did you believe her sane at
the time? Witness : Yes, and I think so still. I think she has a perfect right
to leave her money to whom she pleases.

The Commissioner : Su;)sosing you had died the instant after she had, would
not your executors have had the property ? Witness: It did not flash across
my mind. I rather thought I should repudiate it, and not take the money.

Mr. Smith : Then this will was made by this old lady because Dr. Greenup
came and annoyed her, and then you take the property with an intention of
repudiating it. Witness : I believe so. That is the case. Persons were not

wed to see her by my sanction at her request. I don’t think that I should
refer seeing a patient alone in such circumstances. The £10 she gave to
thy was included in the £30. I think it is understood that Mr. Beamdnt
paid her lodgings. She paid nothing except little casual expenses about the
town. She had not made any agreement with Miss Cousens, because she desired
that I would. There are additions to my notes. I have never received any
fees whatever myself.

Re-examined by Mr. Coleridge : If I remembered anything afterwards I
added it to my notes. The cheque for the £30 settled my account. I have never
treated any one before in a simil , b T was never placed in &
similar situation. I mentioned to several persons that I intended to repudiate
this money. I formed in my own mind a definite notion of what I intended
doing with the money. Supposing the will should have come into operation
I questioned in my own mind whether I should give it to charities, and I then
came to the conclusion that I must repudiate it, because if I could give it to
charities I could put it in my own pocket. Whether it was to go to charities
or to Dr. Greenup I had never thought, I distressed Miss Ewings if I expressed
& wish not to benefit.
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Mr, Col :+ Was that the inducement to let it be done? Witness:
That was the inducement to let it be made in that form.
. Coleridge : Did it appear to give her relief? Witness: Very great

Mr. Coleridge : Since the will was made in its present shape these proceed-
ings have been taken? Witness : They have.

Mr. Coleridge : Therefore you have had no opportunity of bringing to her
mind the effect of the present will? Witness : That is precisely the position of
the case. She had told me that she had no near relatives. She is disinclined
to transact business. Assnming Dr. Sharp’s account to be true, I should say
she was labouring under delirium, and that it wm off. The common
sense of mania is that it is a disease of the brain itself. I should say there was
some il:‘yisicd cause for delirium, and that it subsided as it passed off. It is a
distur! rather than a diseased mind. My notions of delusion are *false
conclusions ’—a belief in something which does not exist.

Mr. Coleridge: May a person in an excited state have impressions made
?on their mind greatly exaggerated and yet not a foundation forit? Witness :

s, undoubtedly. L.
Mr. Coleridge : That is different from a delusion, is it not? Witness: Yes.
Mr. Colerige : Is that belief in continuing to entertain an exaggerated
mpression of a past fact perfectly consistent with a person being sound in mind ?
‘Witness : I think it is.

Mr. Gray, solicitor, of Exeter, said, I am Treasurer of the Lunatic Asylum,
I have, therefore, seen many lunatics. I attend a weekly board. I have met
Miss Ewings within the last two or three months. I met her at Dr. Shapter’s.
T had an opportunity of judging of her manners. She joined in gen: oon-
versation rationally, and there was nothing in her manner to induce me to think
she was anything different from other persons. I met her on the 28th of May

. Imet her at dinner. After co: ing much of former witnesses’ evidence

e witness went on to say that he had been employed in making the will. Dr.
Shapter told me that Miss Ewings would be for me to make a will, and in
consequence I went to that lady. Dr. Shapter had furnished me with a list of
the legacies. I told him that I should like to see her alone. I went into the
back parlour, and she shook hands. I thought from her manner that she expected
me. I said, I understand from Dr. Shapter that you have a wish to make your
will. She answered in the affirmative. I read every name with every amount,
and she nodded assent to it. I ascertained that she fully understood the matter.
I said have you tn{ other legacies toleave ? She said ‘‘ No.” I then said to whom
do you propose to leave the residue of your proj ? She said *‘ to my dear, kind
friend, Dr. Shapter.” Dr. Shapter was present. He had proposed to leave the
roomi, but she would not permit him. She took hold of his hand and said she
wished him to remain. She said I don’t wish to leave anything to any relatives.
I asked her this, I said to her, ‘‘ supposing Dr. Shapter should die in your life-
time, to whom then would you leave your property ¥ After some consideration
she said, ‘‘ That can’t be, I am too old.” said it is an event which might
happen. She replied, ‘ True, life is uncertain.” She then said, *“ I would then
ish my property to go to Master Tom and the rest of the children.” I said do
you mean Dr. Shapter’s children? She said, ‘‘ Yes.” In what shares? She
replied in ec}gal shares.

By the isud

: Dr. Shapter was present all the time.
‘Witness : When she said she would leave the residue t him, he said ‘‘ Pray,
don’t do it,” but she said you must, you must have it. She said *‘ I wish Master
Tom to have the larger portion.” I said * What Btoportion ? and after a time
she said, ‘I think I shall give him the whole.” Dr. Shapter did not make any
remark. *‘ But suppose he dies in your lifetime ?” ‘‘Then the other children
oan have it?’ ¢ lgq\nlly ?” “Yes.” I then went into another room and
prepared a will in accordance with those instructions. She said * Dr. Shapter
‘was to be the executor.” I said ‘‘ Ishall want a second witness.” Dr. Shapter
said ‘‘ Won’t Miss Cousens do ?’ I said *‘ Yes, exoeg_t she has a legacy of 19
guineas, which will invalidate it.” He then said *‘ Perhaps Miss Ewings will
it her name being left out of the will, and will 5;;0 it to her in her life-
g’me.” She assented. She and Dr. Shapter were standing side by side. The will
was executed by Miss Ewings in the usual way. Dr. ter handed up to her
what was the will, which he had prepared, and she said ** ¢ am I to do with
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this,” holding it in her hands, I said * You can destroy it,” and she did tear
it up in very small pieces. She said ‘I will tear it up, no one shall
see the contents.” Dr. Shapter did not make any remarks. I then left. I did
not take charge of the will. During all these p dings I idered her in &
very sound mental state, and also on everly; occasion on which I have seen her.
I saw her last evening in a cab and shook hands with her, though Idid not speak
to her. She appeared to exercise an independent i‘;ffment in the matter.
Nothing indicated the slightest aberration of mind. she done so I should
not h:‘v‘? allowed her to do s0. It was evident that she was pleased when it was

Cross-examined by Mr. Karslake : I left the will upon the table. = Dr.
Shapter was there, and was the executor. I left Miss Ewings and Dr. Shapter.
l{i oE , which are in Queen-street, are about three-quarters of a mile from

wings’. I took paper with me. I went to the housc in Dr. Shapter’s
carriage. He was with her when she appeared. I waited about two minutes. .
She seemed prepared for the interview. When she said, *‘ Dr. Shapter, my dear .
friend, I leave the residue to you,” she burst into tears. I had seen her twice in
society. The first time I met her was on the 25th of May, at Dr. Shapter’s. The
witness was then questioned as to the affidavits which he said were sworn to
before him, on this occasion, he being a Commissioner. I do not come here as a
lcun:ﬁo man, I am the treasurer of tl:lt: asylum. Ibm:d&,no Iinft e?lf él;e will,

discussion sp: up respecting the original, but the Learn mmis-
sioner said he thought ug was nmcswnt evidence.

Cross-examination continued : There is & legw; given to a gentleman named
Ellicombe, that is Mr. Charles Ellicombe. Master Tom is about 15 years old. It
was to go to Dr., Shapter first, then Master Tom, and then to all the other
children equally. Dr. Shapter made no_objection to that. I left Dr. Shapter
in the room, and found himn there when I came back from making the will.

Re-examined by Mr. Coleridge : There was a list of legacies. There might
have been relatives in the list.

The court here adjourned, it being nearly eleven o’clock.

TUESDAY.—FOURTH DAY,

The court opened this morning at ten o’clock.

Esther Georgiana Cousens : I keep a lodging-house in St. Sidwell’s ; I have
known Miss Ewings for 15 or 16 years; she and her sister have stayed at my
house two or three times, remaining two years on each occasion. Miss Ewings
‘was brought to my house on the 15th February, by a gentleman and two females ;
it was about nine o’clock in the evening; she recognised me, and appeareé

ighted to see me ; she recognised my servant, who saw her first ; she has been

staying at my house since ; I have seen her almost every hour ; I consider her
perfectly sound in mind ; her memory is good, except as to names ; on the night
she arrived she enquired for her old friends in her usual manner; I recollect
hearing from Miss Ewings of a visit by Dr. Greenup ; she handed me his
and said, *‘ Another of my so-called relatives have come to see me, but I receiy:
him very ooldly.” She said, * I know nothing more about him than you ; I don’t
know that I have ever seen him before ; I think I recollect one or two of them
ocoming to my house in Wanin&ton; I think it must be seven years ago.” She
added, ‘‘ I suppose he is another after my money.” Dr. Shapter was there
almost constantly ; I was generally present ; I was there when Dr. Fox came ; I
recollect a gentleman coming with a paper (the process). When we were walkin
in Exeter, some days afterwards, Miss Ewings saw the name of *‘ Campion,” an
said, ‘I suppose that is the man who has served me with the paper.” She is
xite capable of shopping ; she is very exact about it ; if I ever paid for anything

e always manifested care to repay me again. This has often happened ; she
bought a shawl and a bonnet ; she attends church regularly, and seems to unders
stand the service as well as any one; she turns over the pages of the prayer-
book ; she has once taken the sacrament ; she was disturbed in consequence of
¢ those wicked people,” particularly Mr. Ellacombe, and did not, therefore, take
the sacrament oftener ; 1 have slept in the same room with her, and there has
been no disordered fear. When Igr. Shapter and Miss Ewi conversed about
her prg:rty, I never listened—I always avoided that topic of conversation with
her. the oocasion of the signing of the will, Miss Ewings said she wished to
leave me and my sister £20 a-piece, but she wished me to have it then ; I then
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igned the paper ; sometimo afterwards I signed another paper; Dr. Shapter
?’grl.‘ Gray, and Miss Ewings were there ; I saw Miss Ewings sign the paper, and i
then signed it. When Mr. Gray had left, she said, * I am glad I have done what
L have.” Two or three days after she said, ‘ You can ask Dr. Shapter for the
£20—you might as well have it now.” She then said, “I should like to make
it £50, and this I will tell Dr. Shapter—I mean bet you and your sister.”

Cross-examined by Mr. Smith : She was never left alone.

The Commissioner : Why was she never left alone ?—Witness : When I say
“ never,” I mean generally, but she used to prefer some one being with her.

Cross-examination continued : I did not hear what passed between Miss
Ewings and Dr. Shapter; I have not been in the habit of sitting with my
lodgers like I have with Miss Ewings ; she never told me that she cleared up the
‘‘ mystery” about Jane Warren ; she used the words ‘‘so-called relatives.”

By the Commissioner : I never told Dr. Shapter that she used these words.

Cross-examination resumed : Friends visited Miss Ewi.nﬁ; there were Mrs.
Smith and Miss Chamberlain ; after Jane Warren left Dr. Shapter did not give
me directions not to admit any one without his consent ; when she was absent
she constantly wrote to me ; I have never seen her writing letters during the
time she has been with me ; some time since she said ‘I cannot trouble myself
with letter writing ;” she never went shoﬁping alone.

By the Commissioner : I never recollect Dr. Shapter roqum?f me to go
with her ; she appeared much pleased with the visits of Dr. Bucknill so far as I
ut;; this t;ontinmd for a little time, and then she got distressed again as with
other 0.

Cg:&l-,enminaﬁon continued : I told Mr. Beamont that she would not be
left much alone ; I believe Dr. Shapter knew that I went out with her; some
shawls were sent to the house for her o.8elect from ; the bonnet was bought in
July ; she bought a small neckerchief and a few trifling things.

By the Commissioner : A little binding for a dress; she never went out for
a walk alone ; she asked me to go with her; I bought a few trifling things for
her when she first came ; no arrangements have been made for her lodgings, nor
has anything been paid ; Dr. Shapter and Mr. Beamont have spoken about it ;
the two sisters when they were here paid £1 1s. per week for their lodgings ; one
paid one week, and the other the next ; before Jane Warren left Miss Ewin
said ‘‘ Are {ou paid ?” Isaid ‘“ Do not trouble about that ;” when she said *“ We
are staying here like paupers.” At a conversation between Miss Ewings and Mr,
Beamont, she said, ‘‘ You will provide all for me, and I wish you. to be paid ;”
I did not come to any terms.

By the Commissioner : She frequently made allusion to the death of her

Cross-examination continued : She spoke of being at the asylum ; she said
her servant had behaved badly, but that she wished to say nothing about it.

By Mr. Smith : I cant’t say whether she ever spoke of Mr. mbe in Dr.
Shapter’s presence as ‘‘ that wicked man ;" she might have done so many times ;
she never called Miss Pengelley, Miss Ellacombe, in my presence ; she frequently
said ‘I feel I am safe now ;” she always appeared pleased after the visit of Dr.
Sll::pter 3 I have not had the legacy; I always told her not to trouble heeself
about it.

Re-examined by Mr. Coleridge: I have never been requested ‘‘to keep s
watch over her; she chose the first shawl at £1 1s., which was returned, and
likewise a second at £1 12s. ; whon I gave her the change, 9s., she counted it
over ; she looked at the receipt and put it away ; when Mr. Ellacombe called and
told her she must leave she, was in great grief, and cried much ; I do not consider
thatfh:t:goke kindly to her, and it was not till Dr. Shapter came that she was
comforted.

By the Commissioner : I breakfasted with her this morning ; she did not eat
quite as much as usual ; she got up at seven o’clock ; last night she asked me
how it was going on, and said she hoped it would soon be over. This morning
she grieved very much, and cried a good deal; she said how she had been
treated ; she said ‘‘ I suppose there will never be any rest for me again.”

By the Comunissioner : I told her last night that Dr. Siupter.gnd been ex-
amined. She said “‘I am sure he will do anything for me as a friend.” She
spoke about ‘‘the wicked man.,” Last mﬁl:: when she went to bed she said
““Ah! ah! how bad he (Mr, Ellacombe) treated me;” or ‘“Ah! how
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.he has been.” She never said anything about being made a ward under
m:d Chanoellor. She never said anything to me about being made a Papist
or a Roman Catholic. .

By the Commissioner : On my solemn oath I never heard her say so.
The Commissioner : “I ask you again solemnly”—(A long panse.) Witness:
No, sir, I do not recollect it.
The Commissioner: On your oath, did you not notice an alteration in her
. when she came? Witness: No, sir ; she was looking weak, and said she had

AL .

Aevlc“er written by Miss Ewings in June, last year, was here produced by the
witness, read by Mr. Oome, and handed to the jury. There was nothing in
the contents indicating i in the writer.

Ann Rattenbury : I have been a servant with Miss Cousens for 25
years ; 1 see no difference in Miss Ewings now from when I saw her before, ex-
cept in the want of memory as to dates, names, &c.

Mr. Charles Richard Ellicombe : I live at Alphington, on the Dawlish road.
I have known Miss Ewings from 20 to 30 years. I have seen her from time to
time. I am nephew of the Rev. Mr. Ellacombe. 'We spell our names differently.
I have oorresponded with the Misses Ewings. [A letter dated 2nd December,
1853, written by Miss Phosbe Ewings, upon the death of her sister, was here put
in.] I received other letters, but cannot s;(y when I had the last. I have not
mthe reports of Mr. Sharp. I recollect Miss Ewings came here in Febru

. uncle first informed me of it by letter. About ten days afterwards
call e saw me, I found her much better than I expected. She received
me very kindly. She enquired about my mother, and hoped she was better, and

. also about my sister. My mother had been poorly. I saw nothing about her
which indicated unsoundness of mind. Several other matters were discussed. I
have seen her four or five times altogether. On the 18th of May I spoke to her
about a horticultural fée coming off on Northernhay. She said she was going
there shortly for a walk. She asked if I was gom% to Scotland this year,
knowing that I had been in the habit of going there. I should think that her
memory was good. She spoke and conducted herself most rationally. I was
treated in the same way as any other person would treat me. I believe her to
be a n of sound mind.
e letter of the Znd December, 1853, was put in. It was written in a very
pious and affecting manner, alluding to her sister’s death.

The Commissioner said he thought it was written with singular propriety,
and certainly did not evince anything but the most proper feelings.

Mr. Coleridge : It shows her to be an educated person.

Mr. Smith : It was written in 1853.

The Commissioner : Of course, but it is exceedingly well written. I do

. nos If)elil‘iwe that a single person in this court could write with greater propriety
and feeling.

Cross-examined by Mr. Smith : Dr. Shapter told him that he could see her
when he liked.

By the Commissioner : She did not speak upon her * troubles.”

By Mr, Smith : I was not desired not to say anything upon that subject.

llnru‘ Henley : I am a servant to the mother of the witness ; & few
weeks sinoe, in June, I think, I took her some flowers from my mistress ; she
sent her kind love to Mrs. Ellicombe and was much obliged ; she said as soon as
she was well enough she would call; but lately she had 80 ““worried” that
she had not been able to do so.

Mr. George Carter: I am an optician of Exeter, and on the 20th of May
last I took some spectacles to Miss Cousens, and saw Miss Ewings; I showed
them to her ; she looked at several, and at last she found one that seemed to suit
her ; she shewed me a pair she had purchased from me some time since ; I found
that she had chosen a pair of medium power, and opening a praiier book she read
» text, remarking that it was the text about which she and Miss Cousens had
been speaking, she said she could read it remarkably well. She added that she
oould not see objects on the table better with the new than with the old
cles; I explained that they were for ‘ near sight.” She afterwards spoke of
persons whom she had seen in my shop. She also asked after my sister ; I did
not know that she was aware I b&; nsister ; she then enquired the price of the
spectacles ; I said two guineas ; she said the prive is not much more than for the
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black ones ; she put down two sovereigns, which I took up.” I paused while she

hed in her pocket for 2s. She seemed to make a calculation on the margin
of her purse, and then dropped the shillings back again ; she put the 2s. into
her purse, and *‘I mentally considered that they were gone for evermore.”
(Great laughter.)

The Commissioner : This is much too moving an incident not to ba put down.

‘Witness : She enquired for a case, and desired me to go home and get one.
I did so, and brought some to Miss Cousens, and told her to present my compli-
ments to Miss Ewings, and tell her that I had to receive 2s., the price of the
spectacles being two guineas. As I spoke thess words, Miss Ewi spmred
and said “‘ I am entitled to these 2s. for discount, and if you don’t like to let me
have them for the two sovereigns I will have the cheaper pair. I will have the
K:ir of “‘blacks, which were 18s.” That shut me up. (A lavgh.) Ilet her

ve the spectacles and case forthe £2. I thought her the *‘ shrewdest” woman
I ever knew. (Loud laughter.)

Mrs. Mayne : My daughter carries on business in High-street, as a milliner ;
T assist her in her business ; on the 15th of last month 4 lady came to the sho
my daughter showed her some bonnets, and she chose one : she said I am Aln!(i
you have not one to fit me, they are worn so small. (A laugh.) They are worn
small. (Another laugh.) She wanted one made larger, and chose one for that

urpose. She said it was more becoming for the bonnet to come further over the
Kead. She then asked to see the trimmings. She chose ‘‘ mauve.”
. ngt:e )Commi:sioner: I have not the slightest idea of what it is. (Much
ughter.

‘Witness : It was most decidedly a good colour for an old lady. The bonnet
was trimmed and sent home, and she said if she was pleased with it she would
call and pay for it. In the morning she did call, and said it fitted her exaotly,
and that she was pleased with it, and wanted her bill.

The Commissioner : Did it come over her head ?—Witness : Yes.

Mr. Coleridge : Was it a nice aged bonnet? (A laugh.)—Witness : She
ssid she liked the bonnet very much, but added ‘‘ You have put a different
straw. I shall be obliged to have the bonnet trimmed in a similar way if ever I
have it trimmed again.”

The Commissioner : Did she want it disgnised where the *‘ junction” was?
(Much laughtier by the ladies in court.)— Witness: She paid for the bonnet
there and then.

By the Commissioner : She did not ask for discount. She F-id £1 0s. 11d.
for it. She said she thought the cost increased in consequence of the trimmings.
She managed the whole business herself.—The witness then detailed several
instances of conversation to prove the rational manner in which Miss Ewings
conducted herself. A lady was with her at the.time, but did not interfere.

Cross-examined by Mr. Smith : She did it in a lady-like manner. - (A laugh.)
- Mx(-Asllmtl;) :)Does it require much intellect to chose a bonnet ?—Witness :

s, augh.

Mr. Smith : Is it the first thing they learn and the last they forget ?

The Commissioner : Take care, Mr. Smith—you are on ticklish ground !

The Witness—who appeared rather indignant at the observation of the
learned counsel—said, gentlemen are just as particular. (Renewed laughter.)

Mrs. Ann Carter, wife of Mr. orge Carter, said : Miss Ewings, when
passing her husband’s shop, came in and had a conversation with her. She
referred to her sister’s buying a pair of spectacles in the shop ten years before.
She mentioned her (witness) having had a little dog, and as what she had
done with it. She told her that she had parted with it. fn conclusion she
adverted to the fact of witness’s recollecting her. I did not observe the slightest
trace of nnsou‘ dl.mdnesl in her mind. She conducted herself the same as any other
person wo .
th (;lrou-enmined by Mr. Karslake : The little dog used to sit at the door of

e shop.

Mr. John Rickard deposed that Miss Ewings had a watch cleaned at his
shop, for which she paid. The manner in which she paid him indicated that she
must be a person of sane mind.

James Portbury : I am a gardener to Dr. Shapter, at his cottage. I have
seen Miss Ewings there several times., When there she ntwnh.rlf‘nohud
Exmouth, the Belvidere at Powderham Castle, and the Belvi&ro at Sir Lawrenoce
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Palk’s. She talked most rationally about flowers, &c. Her knowledge, in my
opinion, denoted :'Ecnon of superior mind.

: ‘Wood, fomerl{e ved as servant with the Misses Ewings, deposed
to the behaviour of Phoel Ewings. It was most rational and considerate.
She manifested great care in having her sister’s grave properly railed in. She
employed a person to watch the grave for some time in order that the brick-

. work might not be injured before the railings were put up.

Miss Susan Maria Louisa Anthony, governess in Dr. Shapter’s family, gave
evidenoe to prove the sanity of Miss Ewings. She said Miss Ewings was quick
in observation. Having had frequent opportunities of observing her, witness
should never have entertained the.op.mion that she was of unmn:ﬁ mind. The
witness narrated i n full the descriptions which Miss Ewings gave her of her
state of mind after the examination of the medical men. After a visit of Dr.
Bucknill, she said she felt fatigued and exhausted, adding “I have borne it

retty well.” Once she fell on witness's neck in a very excited state, and sobbed.

he said ‘I have gone through one of those questionings again ; it is dreadful.”
Her spirits were low in consequence. Miss Anthony was then examined at
great length upon some notes which she had made. he firmly believed there
was nothing about Miss Ewings to indicate insanity.

Cross-examined by Mr. Smith: I remember telling Mr. Gray that I had
some notes. I made the notes partly for my own satisfaction and partly on
sooount of Miss Ewings, when Dr. Tuke visited her, but not on account of Mr.
Gray. She has counted out her money before me, but I never counted it with
her.  She volunteered to count the money with Dr. Tuke. Last night she said
¢ A1l that I ask is to be put in the xonhon of a christian woman. I am not
mad, but they want to make me so. She constantly spoke of Mr. Ellacombe
as ab the bottom of it, and said he was & ‘ wicked man.” She said last night
that there was some mystery between Mrs. Lowe and Mr. Ellacombe, which she

could not fathom. . ]
Dr. George Andrews Paterson: I practise at Tiverton, and have some
knowledge of lunacy cases ; I have seen Miss Ewings for the purpose of forming
an opinion upon the state of her mind ; I met her on the 21st of May at Dr.
Shapter’s dinner table ; her manner is collected and lady-like ; she conversed
ith those near her ; in many instances she started the conversation with perfect
propriety ; she ‘mentioned the names of several of her friends and enquired after
them in s manner which showed she understood what she talked about; she
knew my object ; after dinner T had a private conversation with her; she spoke
of her trouble, of her being placed in an asylum, and also her fear of being ipom
in one again. but being aware of these proceedings, and evidently a g deal
affected by them ; there was nothing peculiar about her ; I thought her manner
wonderful for her time of life ; she sometimes used one word instead of another ;
she saw the print of an_epigram which was recited ; she seems to be a very
Jeasant person so far as I could f-indge ; on the 20th of July, I saw her again at
er lodgings ; I gave no notice of my visit beyond sending in my card, when I
saw her ; 1 said * Do you remember me ?” She replied ‘ Oh ! yes, I remember
meeting you at Dr. Paterson’s;” I did not correct her in this mistake of names ;
the two months which had elapsed between the first and second interviews were
favourable to her; in spealnn% of the bonnet bill, she said they had put
Hewings or Flewings i of Ewings; she said the Ewings were a much older
family than the Flewings, and that there was a knife grinder of that name.
(A laugh.) I think this went to show that she recollected things ; there was
nothing about her to indicate lunacy or insanity ; she has recovered from the
paralysis, except in the tongue, which is slightly affected.
Dr. Paterson was cross-examined at considerable length by Mr. Karslake,
ially as to his opinion respecting the difference between exaggerated impres-
gions and delusions. Dr. Paterson said that in his opinion mania did not as &
general rule follow paralysis. When such was the case, a change of character

erally took place. . .
gen Hr.yl'jonelpnoberts: T sam a surgeon in Exeter, and have been in practice
16 to 18 years. I have had occasional experience in lunaocy cases. On the 25th
of May I had an interview with Miss Ewings. I was with her about two hours,
but was not in conversation with her all that time. She demeaned herself in a
lady-like manner. I asked her the day of the week, and then the month. She
tep{iad correctly, May. I don’t think she was aware of my visit, there-
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fore the conversstion was natural. We had had oon WM
the soenery. I pointed out to her the estuary of the Exe, obgerved &
vessel. After a moment’s hesitation she gave me correctly the date of the
month. Her answers were unpremeditated. There was nothing $5 indfoate that
she was different from others. I was induced, taking into oon@onﬁon her
great t¢e, io consider that she had a strong mind.

By the Commissioner : A right answer avhich she gave about § ﬁmo she
had been in Exeter, toiether with her general demeanour, led me to
she was of strong min

Examination continued : The evidence I have heard does not slter nvbtlid
that, oonaid her age, she has a strong mind.

ed‘v r. Karslake : For a lady of wlhohutlh'ongmh‘.

l{r. Knlhke : When do you begin to discount from a lady’s age ?

‘Witnpess : I think in this case iou might have begun when she was 70.

Cross-examined by Mr. Ka T have never been asked before to discount
;5 lady. (L:u hter.) Some ladies would be far more imbecile at 70 than Miss

wings is at 80.

Cross-examination resumed : Hesitation in giving the day of the month
showed carefulness. I have not had many lunatic patients. did not know
that she had been questioned about the days of the month.

By Mr. Col engge I consider her a sensible person; the minds of persons
at 80 are generally not so sharp as at 40.

Mr. Charles Knighton Webb, consulting surgeon at St. Thomas’s Hospital,
said : He had visited Miss Ewmgs, and found nothing which manifested unsound-
ness of mind.

me &bmg Mthe ol of ihe mn‘ai: Dert of Miss He said he did not wish to
on
o o "t this whe o Hte and. doush .

he was sure they would not come to such a conclusion withontclurmdovmhelmm‘eﬂdm
It the poﬁuo'ner did not mke out that she wu of unsound they must say so. The
godﬁonn f at that t and incapable of m:

er own affairs. cwunouorhim(ur Coleri dzl?boohow that she wasa of bril
or even of strong and unusual POWGI’I of mind. e had not even to show she was quite

ual to all the f he sh that ent was still reasonable, that
D eaory s bor Wil more stil 1 the 180gaaGe of the loar 2 eoatng s b o that

mind disposing will and
e that the dosth of her sistey prodaced A" very pre) Piielal 6ffoet upen het : but he did nog
[ e of A very g upon her ; e did n
b she was 1. P" d sister, and that the death of
hat sister much affected her, therefore any oundauonvu laid at that time of insanity or
ndications of & mind off its balance. No doubt they knew instances of
lasting eff: Then she was not a woman fond of business,

1
g

£ they were date
her. It had been by his learned friend, Mr. Smith, that because she had her
sister's grave watched, therefore she unndathe influence of delusion. The fact was that she
'was vexed that her sister could not be buried with her mother and sister, and dnrlnc the time
the rails were being made to be erected round her sister’s ve, she had a Emm
there to prevent injury to the tomb ; but imm. liately the nl.l& ‘were put up, watching was
discontinued. Bnt last h’(w there came upon_her the slight—he npnud t— paralytio
stroke ; because from Shacp’s and Dr. Kenrick's was clear ﬂut she was
treated for paralysis in o mild form, and that nfter a time she was as well asever. He
it had been "‘{"3“ e&:i; where cg{nl.vsis hl mania zexi oonneoﬂ-a sud ";h:n mnnh
paralysis were intimat conne 0 such recov patient rather
went from t:.ai to worse. _But this old ladly had mo‘;:,mu from all tho extu-nal Mo! thh
attack of paralysis. In this state, and living by herself, s|
8he went uf one night to this girl’s bod-room. and there t.nou t that uhe uw a man. Hew
t might not have been a man, hut only a shadow. 8he dil not investigate the
matter, but became ut.tcmelx alarmed, excessively excite., and cushed out of the house cryin,
““thieves” and “murder,” an noﬂdnxwoul persuade her that she had not scen a man ; she
from bad to worse, was held down in her room, and having no authorised protector, no person
with whom she was on intimate terms, she was sent to a uesghhouﬂ::'f lunatic asylum. All this
vhnuhewunotnud but in a highly d state of th made upon
ggﬂibly real and possibly unreal. If, as he submitted, she really was not insane, could
ore horrible, more distasteful to an old lady in her state? She was labo
if they but not insanity. Wh, i 'was enough to ov
the mlnd of & man, much more zm of au old lady. At all evenu, rapidly recovered, and
when Mr. Ellacombe arrived she was nearly well; Mr. Ellacombe -mouve invtlmnchc was
no doubt that of & man of the world with £12,000 or £13,000 in view. The learned counsel then
reviewed the whole of the evidenoce in a very able manner. He contended that IQ did nos prove
mind .hedelend led Dr. 8hapter from the attack which had been made upon
bythewun-elfor the Wmnespmbothowmnmonbmmﬂnltomﬂn
%0 far as it threw light upon

i
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The Commissioner l.‘notll{ :
Mr. Ool.ﬂdgeoonﬁnued theywmotopinlon that Miss Ew'ngs had acted with her own

free will in with her

property, entertain
Bhapter's oondnot. t she vumtmeff mgﬂ“ erdlcf.. Il. on the
, and deserved to be vlih

‘was not a blood relation ; she

M:&:ﬁmlmmd Dr.

2. Dr.
suit; she knew that he came to look after her money, and she was determined that neither he
nor Mr. Ellacombe should

away at her expressed desire
have reason

be the ob of her bo Eunty. These were the o

m vhi:l},-he might well

—that nl?Zhlza'not et her will, sutf' it out o wer of any person
ks .n3° took

ve to
to interfere with her ; she asked Dr. Shapter to make the will f¢
instructions with his own

hand. Now were those inlcmot. her own? What

know about the persons at Warrington to whom she to leave I e-?

How could h:.k." got at the diff

t persons’ ? Itwas clear that he did- as
lerent pe names perfectly u y

down these names. It would have um}zubtedly been much

he
8 had then done that which he afterwards did—
.z"a?)"rf.?y, and say, *'Now you go and nmyyourselt t&tumt is really her will, and

not interfering in the matter.”

ctions in the hand of an

e
B

But she said, after making the various bequests, ‘' I wish to

ma|
give these thoumd:wlll).n‘-ishapm" Dr. Shapter had vindicated his tion to the several

gentlemen who

called. If Dr. S8hapter had acted in first instance as he

d.ldl.fterwu-dl, no doubt a great deal of this inves on would have been saved, but he did
not distinctly understand the matter in his own mind. Dr. Shapter’s honesty, however, could
n.::“bkoldupum 1t was clear that if Miss Ewings desired it was that Dr.%

the hon 3 3 i
m:mnotwammthno:m.mmm monw ht than to t.hltofm
witness. He

this petition because the h:g ‘e depended

one lhble to them upon the duty they had to perform He knew that they undetlwod it
woul perly disch: it. But he would ug_ t,ha oomtort. and the happiness of
the rest ot the life of Miss Ewings were in thel g: not allow
her to be interfered with for any mercenary or sordid mot.we. Il they th c lho ocould not
protect herself and pro; they must say 80, but if that was left in doubt, an

she was a m of o lnﬁellocv for a My at her age, he hoped they wonld oonunu her

in the uon she now occapied.

It now after eleven o'clock, the court adjourned.

‘WEDNESDAY.—FIFTH DAY.
'l‘heeounnsatuno’clock.th 1 the petiti ' th »n the
Mr. Karslake, in replying on the part of the gratulated the jury
oen:'mn.tion of ﬁxe case. Io could not ulnd?r:rt.m?nwhy his learned o&ﬂem‘l? or the

ert nharﬂ his
buse their minds upon that point. . Coleridge had ed them

begged to disa pray
not to consent that this old lady should be the subject of a lunati 1 The sole object in

this enquiry was to know whether she was in a state of mind to take care of her own affairs.
Taeir verdict would not affect her future destiny, as regarded her residence or the mode in which

she was to be taken care of.

The place of residence would doubtless be left to her own

choice. He, tnere(ore'h begged them to dismiss that thought from their mind. The only

quesﬁon was whether

e was of sound mind and understanding, capable of taking care of her
chiefly embraced the period since the h 853,

eath of her sister in 1

wn aff: The enquiry
m he asked their attention to her conduct before and subsequently to tha.t date, for there

& most marked change in the

which she conducted herself.

e manner in which she was trea d also in omin

id they expect to find ns of som mind %

mo‘ninxlnddghincinme way Miss Ewin, done? However,
her own affairs, writing lef Welg:h. in.mannerwhlchahdyofherm

minhtdo At mne lt was

ved that she had written a very affectionate and
g of the kind since 1358 when she had this

Had
M? With tho exoepﬁon of s{ﬁi‘ng two or three cheques and two wills, there was

not & scrap of
dmmmp? Ip.

dcne 8o, Was that not a remarkable

858. he md \mhesihu that she had an attack of acute
ngly

ber.
mania. On_the 30th of that month had she or had she not an attack of madness, or
delirium ? He cared not what they called it. Did she believe in things which dld not exist?
8he did beyond all doubt. There was the delusion as to the one-arm woman attempting to
strangle her, and other thmgu, when b; Xnthe advice cf eight of her best friends it was

decided to place her in an asylum.

‘When Ann Worrall was before them they did not venture

to ask her about any man being n her room. Then, did Miss Ewings contract any
delusion about the Roman (,nhohcs while in the Haydock Lunatic Asylum "qu there

delusion about the man

her servant’s room? and did that delusion not exist now

in
‘Was there not any delusion about the Rev. Mr, El]acombeé who delivered her from the

asylum ? It was

that great crue‘z had been tewards her at the nﬂm

Bugg
Mon, lnd that upon seeing Mra. Bardsl e became violent, cried * Murder, pol
cdy are going to mke me a Roman Ca’holi& lmadotth.:: gentle perwad&nv?ni? used.
Di suppose the lady's friends near would have secn her ill-used? Then they had Dr.

8 '8 extrao! eondinz:.{:i wlnch he thouzht they must tmﬂzﬁ: hi:toonn-el. .
' ent @ ce
S it o MEr s BT S
4 go to €T, W]
iho understood beforehand.  Now, it was said she called Me Elaconie - that wisked

https://doi.org/10.1192/50368315X00007520 Published online by Cambridge University Press


https://doi.org/10.1192/S0368315X00007520

LI

mm.thootmoofdlhuhonuo." Did Dr. Shapter ldnth!lu\uotoheﬂ Did he
to disabuse her mind or diqwel thu deludon, nnd not an exaggerated im on ?
Mr. mhoombo' would say how fairly it mdbm
s:rnon who 8saw her r. Shapter had orders that none
to see her, yet ot Mr. Charles ilicombe and Mrs. Ratcliff hert
Dr. Iuphrwherut sane pemn Wlx if they looked at hlluh
would be used towards an insane person ; mtnaudl asa child
m the constant visiting, her whole mind was filled with Dr. Sha undl.r
onth other hand was quite Xuored. On the 10th of March Dr. Shaj mnveur
his plo that no will shoul withou his knowledge.
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gentleman who placed an e t under his charge was a promise which

learned fl’lenal 1
one before them, and had said * If it had not for the ese proceedings
not have been taken.” Dr. menn and Mr. Ellacombe were there to ukt’h Court

8OITY. . Coleridge

said,—that Dr. Shapter had acted impudently. They must assume that Dr. Shapter was in-
capable of a dishonest action. Could they then come to any other conclusion than that he
treated her as of unsound mind ? _He might have been blind to_the fact, but let them look.
l:vm 1 fessional to '“As I‘M& Hg d:.? no:fgnk ey
proper of & onal man say—*' ple come huntiog our _money,
had better &?your will.” Was ever such fe:peechmndotoaune ? Theweayy
which the instructions about the will were acted u range. If he were to give a
motive in opposition to that of Mr. Coleridge, heshould 83y ﬁut imtmctnona were given for the
will in consequenoce of the petition, and it was not the petitioner which brought them there, but
Miss Ewings henel Dr. 8hapter, sitting by her side at the dinner-table, did not afford the
The Act of Parliament

medical men per opportunity of sceing the state of her mind.
nnpentivo at such examination should not be in the presence of another medical man
Then with respect to the will. Why did not Dr. Shapter himself attest the will? He 'would

then luve got rid of the £14,000 or £15.000 by a stroke of his pen. But no. It occurred to Dr.
Shapter that if Mi Consens signed the will—having a legacy—it would be invalid, and, there-
fore, t.he 19 guineas were to be given to her. He asked them to look at it as reasonable men of
the worls Dr. 8haj made up his mind that he wovld not take one shilling he could
have so acted. He did not say it ot!enslve!y, but let tbem look at facts and_draw their con-
ehllom about this matter. r. Shapter was asked ‘° Whit do you intend to do with this
upon you?” He understood that he was to have suflicient power y the
lqaciu. and yet to rejoect the other. Would the relatives have it? Yes, certainly. TE‘
men she disliked were to have it. Was this not a deception? The thing she most disliked
‘was to be done the moment the breath is out of her body 'I'hen they had Mr. Gray's evidence
about the will, and the disposal of the perty. He was t.
struck when he gave it. Dr. Shapter never gro thed a word n.bout hu chlldm hnvlnc the money
when in the witness-box, and when he left he (the ] to them
thohdiel on everybody" mind was not that he was the sole rcsui legatee? And yet the
L P 5, S o M o b el el S il
jons. as Wit alrly wi @ CO as
ﬂl 'l'hoyhad‘t).h 3 and he ded chotthe Was
in the petieloner‘n favour. They had men of the hwhest position and intelligence, and men
who had all their lifetime dealt with lunatics. Dr. Shapter was so blind, that he would not allow
the scales to fall from his eyes and see that Mms L laboured under delusions. The learned
counsel then proceeded at length, to review the whols of the evidence of the various
witnesses, whose testimony, he contended, established the fact that Miss Ewings was of unsound
ming thst she did suffer und.er exwgerated impressions, delusions, or whst the jury likod%
call them, and that she was not capable of taking care of herself and gm In conch
wfnch ied three hours and a hn.li Karslake criticised t.he evidence of
witnesses ea.lled on behalf of t.he rugondcnt. Ho thought Miss Anthony had acted like the
Chorus in the Greek drama.

At the conclusion of the learned counsel’s address the court adjourned until
half-past two o’clock. Upon its resuming, the learned Commissioner, in accord-
ance with an arrangement wlnch he had previously made with the jury, appeared
for & moment in court without his robes; and on withdrawing, was shortly
afterwards followed by the jury to the Grand Jury-room, where Miss Ewings,
accompanied by Dr. Shapter and Miss Cousens, awaited their arrival. We
understand that the learned Commissioner requested Dr. Shagt;r to withdraw,
but permitted Miss Cousens to stay. He also allowed the two London agents of
the solicitors for and against the ‘re’ahon, to remain and witness the proceedings.
The interview lasted one hour, during which, as we are informed, the learned
Commissioner and Miss Ewings were the onl parties to a long and animated,
and apparently easy and agreeable, conversatxon—two or thrce of the jury from
time to time sendin wntten uestions to the learned Commissioner, which they
wished put to Miss he appeared at once to enter into the most friendly
relations with the Commnmoner, and did not seem to notice the absence of Dr.
Shapter, nor the presence of so many strangers. Her manner, we learn, was
easy well-bred, and she was more ready to talk than the Commissioner, who
sucoeeded, we are informed, in making her imbecility apparent to all present,
and more and more dmhnotly till the interview was closed—he (the Commis-
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sioner looking round significantly, and asking if the jury were satisfied; Miss
Ewings ohervi& ¢ I have more to say, but f!‘eu I have fatigued you.”
+ The Learned Commissioner said—Gentlemen of the jury, atlength this pro-
tracted, painful, and important enquiry draws to a close. I have endeavoured
to discharge my duties hitherto couscientiously for the of having laid
before you evidence of a legitimate character, and excluding that which was
illegitimate, in order that when that evidenoe of facts, of conduct, of motive,
was before zf:, you might be in a condition to draw your own inferences.
That_is the function of a person presiding over an enqui.:r[y of this description,
and I have endeavoured to discharge it honestly, as I am sure you have
the still more important duty devolving on you. I am greatly
gratified at being assisted in this enquiry by the presence of 23 gentlemen
collected from different parts of this great county—gentl of education, of
position, of experience of life, knowledge of character, and acquaintance with
iness, and who under my personal observation during these five days,
through which tbis trial has necessarily, in my opinion, lasted, have listened
with signal patience and attention to the evidence. The publio is grestly
indebted to you. The case has passed now into a new phase. You see no
learned counsel at that table ; they are called away by professional duties else-
where ; but I beg, as a gentleman who never was on this circuit before, to
express publicly, what I dare say you agree in, my real admiration of the
temper, the eonrtet:g, the discretion, the eloquence, and the ability with which
counsel have assisted us in our enquiry. I am very glad to see on the j
a gentleman with whom I was acquainted in former years, and who is
of my own walk in the profession and experienced in the conduct of
legal %x;'ohceedings. The question now is "one to be determined you and
me. en I say ‘‘and rae,” I mean only as the presiding officer of the court
in which you are assembled, and of which you form part. But the verdict
which you are to pronounce, is no verdict of mine—I am no party to it—I have
nothing whatever to do in sharing your responsibility, or exercising your rights.
All that I can do is to suggest to you some observations of a general charactet
to enable you to distinguish between the present and the former phase of
this enquiry, in this respect. Whereas throughout we have had eloquent
and able counsel, whose interest it was to present the case of their respective
clients most &dvants%‘eously before you, keeping back, as far as they could fairly
and honourably, all those parts of their respective cases which they wished to
conceal from you, and to bring forward into prominence those parts which they
wished to present to you in a favourable a.sgect. That has passed ; and
now he who addresses you, has nothing to do, but, having the same object as
yourself, to give you a few suggestions, from the experience I am presumed
to have, which may contribute towards enabling you to discharge your duties
satisfactorily to yourselves and the country. Since we met an hour in this
court the matter has passed into still another phase, of which the public knows
nothing up to this moment. You and I have been for the last hour closeted
with the lady whose melancholy case is before us. I ask you what impression
that interview—which I conducted on your behalf—has produced wupon your
minds? Has it dislocated the evidence which has been laid before you during
the last five f:ﬂ" Or has it signally consolidated and confirmed it? Does it
lead you to believe that false facts have been told you, or erroneous inferences
drawn from true facts? You have had evidence from those who have been
surrounding this unfortunate lady during the last six months, some of them
desirous :;‘wsmntly of presenting her before you as a lady in the full possession
of her faculties. They say ‘‘ We never saw a person of greater strength of
intellect ; quite capable and fit to discharge all the ordinary duties of life,
with uncommon acuteness to deal in little business matters; to mingle with
society, and in all other respects exhibiting herself as a rational, accoun
respongible, and intelligent being, able to vindicate her own rights, to
herself, and her property, and to grevent the one or the other from becoming
the victim of over-reaching of any kind.” I ask, after the interview which you
have just had—and into which I shall not publicly enter here,—the verdict
being yours and not mine—nobody elses but yours—upon your solemn oaths—
what i1s the verdict to be? Do you believe at this moment—after what you
have seen and heard—that this lady now is, or is not of sound mind, and
. sufflcient for the government of herself and management of her affairs? I have
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formed an opinion of my own, but I shall not trouble you with it. I shall not
presume to disturb the exercise of your duties or your functions ; but I shall
if you think fit bring before you in detail all the evidence that you have
heard. If you think it unnecessary, you can prevent mﬁ doing it, but if you
think it consistent with your sense of duty—and the public behests of justice—
that I should go through the case in detail, here am I prepared to do it, and,
indeed, most anxious to do it if you require it.

The Foreman : Shall I en%mre of my brother jurymen ?

The Commissioner : I wish to go through it if you think it necessary, but
don’t lightly give an answer one way or the other.

The Foreman : Shall we retire for a minute or two?

The Commissioner : By all means.

Several jurymen intimated that they did not require to retire, and after &
brief consultation the

The Foreman said : We need not trouble you to read the evidenoe.

The Commissioner : Are you prepared to pronounce your verdiot upon the
question I have given you, or do you wish to retire?

The Foreman : We wish to retire.

The Commissioner : Perhaps, before you go, you will allow me to say a fow
words to you. You are charged with a question of very great importance, of
deep interest to the individual concerned, and to the public; I shall make
after your intimation only a few general observations. Do not leap rashly to &
conclusion. If your minds are really made up after what you and I have seen
during the last hour, combined with the evidence before you, then it becomes
your duty, upon your solemn oaths to say—is Miss Phosbe Ewings, or is she not,
at this moment, in your judgment— as men of the world—gentlemen of ex-
perience of human affairs, and knowledge of character—of a sound mind, so as
to be capable of governing and protecting herself and ll{n*operi:yr That is the
question. Before you retire I beg to say that having already coml},)limentuﬂy
alluded to the exertions of counsel, I particularly specify for honourable mention,
if not presumptuous in doing so, the two addresses which you have last heard—
from nf . Coleridge for the opponents of the pctition—and this morning that of
Mr. Karslake for the petitioner. I beg to say that I think their addresses,
founded as they both are on the entire evidence on both sides, after the whole
hus been laid before you, are far more entitled to your attention .than the
addresses which were delivered before that was the case. I really think there
has not been a mis-statement of a single fact by Mr. Coleridge last night, or by
Mr. Karslake to-day—or Ishould have interposed at once and corrected it—for
you cannot but have observed what extensive notes I have taken. I have
watched with particular vigilance every word, and each has abstained from any
mis-statement. Assuming, therefore, that each has Iresented to you the facts
exactly—more than that—that everything that could be urged oun both sides
has been most wnteli and ably presented to you, and that the most has been
made of each case—then you stand in the favourable position of being able to
apply to it your last hour’s experience, and say to which side of the line, dividing
sanity from insanity, you incline in the solemn verdict you have to pronounce ;
and I mnust disabuse you of any erroneous impression—though I think it is almost
an insult to gentlemen of your knowledge of life and of the law to do so—as to
what the result of your verdict will be. If you say this lady is of unsound mind,
don’t suppose that you will consign her ignominously and cruelly to a dungeon ;
nothing of the sort. Let me tell you the course which will be taken by the law,
and which I now authoritatively explain to you. This step is a step of mercy
and of protection. If you think the lady to be at this moment incompetent to
resist the attempts of those who would deceive and overreach her for their own
purposes, surely it is an act of mercy to place her out of the reach of such

ersons. If, on the contrary, you believe she is in no such danger—but has all

er faculties fairly about her—having to her advanced years—and that
she can really take care of herself as a lady 80 {ears of age—and you recollect
what she said to me—then if you think she is able to take care of herself and her
property, it will be an act of mercy and of justice, as, in the other case, to say
that she is competent. Suppose you say she is not competent, what will take
place? The lady will be under my charge—a most anxious, a most responsible,
and viligant charge. And as to her being incarcerated in a Lunatic Asylum
leave that to the Chancellor, the Lords Justices, and the humble individual

https://doi.org/10.1192/50368315X00007520 Published online by Cambridge University Press


https://doi.org/10.1192/S0368315X00007520

LIV

who is now addressing you. Gentlemen, I would not hurt a hair of her head,
nor would one of {lou. I would not bring down her grey hairs with sorrow to
the grave, or humble hgr. incarcerating a hdy (who has spent, as she herself
feelingly remarked, a life of fifty years in unim respectability,) in a
mad-house. God forbid. The evidence on both sides which has been given
by hiihly qualified men—and persons of honour who are not medical men—is,
that she ought not to be confined in an asylum. If you think she ought to be
pronounced of unsound mind, and that she ought to be protected, all personal
ocomforts of every description will most anxiously be secured to her, and secured
by the intervention of those who have the deepest interest in her welfare, and
who will have to give a very good guarantee before being allowed to assume the
office of committees of her person and estate. Their management of their sacred
trust is under constant surveillance, so that if they go wrong there are those in
existence whose interest it is to point out that they are going wrong. The lady
herself suffers no indignity whatever. She has liberty, consistent with her
mere personal safety ; and as to her property it is henceforth in the custody of
the law. Bat the object of the law, as I tell you— nsibly administer-
ing that law—is to let her have every imaginable comfort, and even
luxury, that her income and her means will allow. ntlemen, before you with-
dn:r{ will make one observation on a painful and delicate topic, ted
essentially and inevitably with this enquiry. I am not come here to try the
validity of this lady’s supposed will. It may be waste paper for aught I know,

or it may be an operative document. But the reason why I have alluded to it—
as responsible for the conduct of this emluir{l and anxious not to exclude, but to
let in light upon it from all quarters—is this—that the transaction respecting
that alleged will is one of a most remarkable character—undoubtedly to some
extent involving—at all events the discretion—of Dr. Shapter. I say not one
iylhble of a personal nature Coming here in the administration of lunacy law,
do not desire to leave behind me a single rankling wound or utter an expres-
sion which may be offensive or prejudicial to the interests of any one whatever.
I, therefore, make no remarks on the motives which have been alleged rather
freely, on one side and on the other, against persons interested in this will. I
do not say whether in my judgment that will is worth the paper on which it
is written, or whether it is an operative instrument. I do not say whether it
was extracted from this lady by Dr. Shapter when she was completely under his
control, and when he was—as was somewhat sarcastically and humorously said
by Mr. Karslake—in the relation of soul to the body of Miss Ewings. I
adopt not that expression. I offer no opinion upon the subject. It may
be that Dr. Shapter was acting from the purest motives, and yet hss
acted hastily, precipitately, and indiscreetly. I offer no opinion. I
invite you to avoid the pain of pronouncing any opinion; you are
not ed upon to do so. It is simply one element in the enquiry into
the state of her mental faculties. ere may be among you, gentlemen
acquainted with business in all its branches. It is for you to say
whether having heard the evidence as to that alleged will, and the manner in
which it was obtained, and having seen and heard that lady for yourselves,
whether that alleged will could have been obtained consistently with
with the complete sanity of the lady. But I am anxious to make myself under-
stood. It is only one element—one view of the subject. I repeat that I
express no opinion one way or the other. If you should pronounce this lady of
unsound mind, it will not affect the validity of that instrument, which if ever
it be attempted to be enforced must be subjected to the keen scrutiny of &
competent tribunal. If you pronounce her to be of sound mind, neither will
that affect the validity of that supposed will; for in that case also will it be
submitted to & competent tribunal. Therefore, I beg to dismiss you to your
responsible duties in your private chamber, bearing in mind that the matter of
the will is only one element to enable you to look into this lady’s mind, and say
whether you think it is, or is not, sound. You have to say whether in your
judgment that lady is a lady of sound mind and sufficient for the government
:lfn erselft .:11(.1 her property. That is the commission entrusted to me under
@ grea . .
One of the Jury : Would you kindly give us the very words of the order
and commission? = . . . . .
The Commissioner : The question I put to you is as to her existing condition
at the present moment.
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The oreman : That is the simple question ?

The Commissioner : Nothinﬁ else. The evidenoce as to the past is only to
bring you to & conclusion as to what you think her present state is.

The then retired, and returned in about ten minutes, when the Under
Sheriff over their names. Having all answered,

The Commisgioner said : Mr. Foreman, on the part of yourself aud fello
do you say that Phosbe Ewings is now, or that she is not, a person of soun

80 as to be sufficient for the government of herself and property ?
Foreman : The jury say that Phabe Ewings 12 not now a person of sound
mind, 20 as to be sufficient for the government of herself and property. I am
to snform you that this is an unanimous verdict.

Upon the delivery of the verdict there was some slight applause in court
which was instantly checked by the Commissioner.

The Commissioner then informed the jury that they would have to afix their
signatures to the return of their finding. Before doing so, he hoped they would
do him the justice to say that he had endeavoured scrupulously not to obtrude
his own judgment upon them : but, as they had now '&rononnood their
verdict, he might state that he entirely concurred in it. ey might safely
trust Miss Ewings in his hands, and she should never know the difference
between her present and her future mode of life, as far as related to her personal
ease, comfort, and enjoyment.

The Foreman of the Jury: I am desired by the jury to express our
strong sense of the kindness and courtesy with which we have been treated

ou.

b, e Commissioner : Gentlemen, I am very lmgpyto receive this tribute of

our approbation. It has been a very agreeable duty to me to preside over so
Ll-ge and able a body of gentlemen of the county of Devon.—The enquiry is now
closed.

THE INTERVIEW WITH MISS EWINGS.

‘We are indebted for the following to the kindness of a gentleman who was
present, and who took full notes, the correctness of which we have had an
opportunity of ascertaining from another quarter :—

NOTES OF THE INTERVIEW BETWBEN MISS EWINGS, THE COMMISSIONER, AND
THE JURY,

17th Aveusr, 1859,

The Commissioner (we are informed) introduced himselt to Miss Ewings
(who was el?mtlg dressed) in the Grand Jury Room at Exeter Castle, and con-
versed with her eheerfully for a few minutes, standing near the window, on the
weather and other indifferent subjects. Mise C was also t, sitting
close to Miss Ewings, but never speaking to her. The jury and the two London

ts of the ive solicitors on each side encereti within a few minutes’
time and seated themselves quietly round the table, immediately after which the
Commissioner and Miss Ewings also took their seats at the table. Miss Ewings
sat between the Commissioner and the Foreman of the Jury, who took copious
notes

The Commissioner spoke to Miss Ewings about Warrington,

Miss Ewingy said she had resided there until recently. .

The Commissioner told her he had been a great deal in Lancashire, and had
ﬁl%;gl there, ::d in (?heshifreﬁrméntioq‘iﬂ’g 1glne of tgeemf lj" also alluded to

e Epigram on the marriage of Mr. Green: e member for Warrington.

tem”:t Ewings was much amused, and said she could not remeq:xober who
wrote it.

The Commissioner said he had heard she was 80 years of age, but he really
could hardly believe it from her appearance, that she looked more like 60.

lﬁu”Ewings smiled, and said she should be 80 on the 18th of August—** to-
MOITow.

The Commissioner made allusion to her dark hair.

Miss Ewings : It is not my own hair. Aftersome other casual remarks,

The Commissioner asked if she had not ‘‘had trouble.”

Miss Ewings : Yes, I have had my troubles.

Commissioner alluded to her sister’s death,
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m-Ew’i'npnidithad distressed her very much, repeating *‘ I Aawe had
my troubles.

The Commissioner asked what other troubles she had had ?

Thlu.cnwinp : Iwas aﬁ-ai“ﬁd z!& wo;l’dtdm me. I was senttoan asylum.

e Commissioner questioned her about this, expressing t interest, and
said it was important he should know all about it. froa Y

She began eagerly—I was sitting at home about Christmas. I think it must
have been two days after Christmas day, and they told me I could not stay in my
house, that I should be in danger of my life, They said I must |go to stay two
or three days with a friend.

The Commissioner asked earnestly what the danger was ?

Miss Ewings : There were bad people about. I could not get out of my own
house. A noise was made. I tried to get out, and they bolted the door. As
soon as I got through one door they bolted it, and I went through another. The
women came and held me by my hands and feet, and thrust me feet foremost in
at the door ; then my neighbours entered the house, and I was safe. It was not
night time. I was afraid to g0 to bed, and sat up all that night. The women
said ‘‘ how strong she is !”—* Neighbours and that” got me home.

The Commissioner asked, who told her it was not safe to be in her house ?

Miss Ewings : Oh | a great many said I must go ; that I should not be safe
another day in the house; they told me it would fall down; theg!asked me to
80 to a friend’s for two or three days, near Mr. Greenalls ; they did not go the
right way ; they went another way ; the horses never intended to go the right
way ; they went towurds Winwick ; when I found them going the wrong way I
told them ; they said it was right.

The Commissioner : Who said it was right ?

Miss Ewings : The post-boy said it was right ; I tried to get out of the

The Commissioner asked who were with her.

Miss Ewings: Oh! mih women ; they got their clothes (or closed) round
me ; they kept me back ; when I got to the a?lnm I said ¢
to me of me?’ another woman pretended to be very genteel and said
“Oh ! I'll take care of you;” I did not know where I was going; I thought it
‘was some bad place ; it was a handsome place, large, with a handsome stair-case ;
after waiting some time some person came; it was a place with a gnmi
stairease ; we entered into a handsome drawing-room ; after a little time they
came and got the carriage stopped ; they sent my clothes ; a person came who
always attended these people, Elizabeth ; she came to protect me ; she asked if
I would have my tea ; I took tea ; she asked if I would go to bed alone? I said
I should prefer having another to sleep with me; the door had a great bolt ;
they bolted me in, ‘‘ we were fastened in ;”’ they had a brass bolt .to shut me in,
and they left me by myself ; Elizabeth slept with me ; I lay late, I was so
exhausted ; a lady came in the morning, one of the heads; eight o’clock they
said was the time for me to be up ; I thought I might be there for my life.

The Commissioner asked what the place was ? .

Miss Ewings : It was an asylum ; I found out afterwards it was Haydock
Lodge ; I have since heard of Haddock Lodge, that it was the same place (repeat-
ing the words several times). Here she was several times asked by the Commis-
sioner what the asylum was, without his receiving any answer.

The Commissioner asked whether it was a nunnery, and whether there was
a Lady Abbess, and whether there were any Roman Catholics there ?

iss Ewings : I don't know whether there were Catholics. I mind my own
business, and am a Christian—one of the true faith !”’ I found it was Haydock

he Commissioner asked whether she would become a Roman Catholio ?
Miss Ewings (very earnestly) No; I would die before I would become a

Catholic. .
The Commissioner asked whether they had tried to make her a Roman

Catholio ?
Miss Ewings: I don’t know that they ever tried to make me a Catholic
at all. I said I am of the trne Protestant Church—true Church of Christ.
The Commissioner questioned her about going to a Roman Catholic Chapel.
Miss Ewings : Sarah (meaning probably Elizabeth) said, would you like to
go? there is no difference, They asked me to go. They read the prayers of
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the Church—but some were left out. They had no surplice on. Here she

of seeing the drove of dismal people and other attendants telling her they
were the lunatics (paupers), and her horror at indmg she was in a Lunatic
Asylum. (The conversation was very rapid at this ﬁ

The Commissioner asked whether she went to the Bomm Catholic Church ?

Miss Ewings : I did not go that;aéy

The Commissioner said he had heard that she lmd very generously given
£500 to the Society for the Propagatxon of the Gospel ?

Miss Ewings : I ought to have given more than the £500.

The Commissioner asked about her sister ?

Miss Ewings : I lost my sister.

The Oommnmoner asked if she (Miss Ewings) was not a native of Devon ?

Miss Ewings :

m’{gst()ommmoner questioned her about her sister’s vault having been
w,

Miss Ewings : After my mother’s death, and my sister’s death, I did not
like to leave her remains.

The Commissioner asked why she had her sister’s vault watched ?

Miss Ewings : I had her grave watohed. I thought the grave was not very
goodhla:d that the boys might knock down the bricks.

Commissioner questmned her as to the purchase of some spectacles,
and whether she had not given two guineas for them ?

Miss Ewings : I gave £2 for them, not two guineas.
m”'l;he Commissioner asked if she had not some friends in Devonshire named

mbe ?

Miss Ewings : Ellacombe? Yes, I know a clergyman’s lady and her son,
Mr. Charles Ellacombe.

The Commissioner asked if she had not some relation of that name ?

Miss Ewings : I know another Ellacombe ; I dare say you do too.

The Commissioner asked if he took her from the Asylum, and about the
circumstances ?

Miss Ewings: When I got to where I was kept at the lum, I was
thankful to get out any way. I never heard of him before, but he said I was
at liberty to leave with him. This Ellacombe and Mr. Nicholson came ; I never
heard of him before. It was to get my money. He got me out to {mt me worse
in. I stopped at Mrs. Lowe’s two or three days as a friend, and the next day,
Sundsy morning, I said to Mrs. Lowe the first thing I have to do is to thank
God for delivering me from the Asylum. Ellacombe came and wished to shake
bands, sn:l at the church the clergyman and this Ellacombe administered the
sacrament

The Commissioner asked whether she would give more money for the

Church ?

Miss Ewings: I don’t know that I can afford to give any more {o the
Church. About the Asylum I should like to finish it, if I am not fati you.
‘When I got out the next day Sunday, Ellacombe said, ¢ Well, Miss I

should like you to go soon into Lancashire,” (meaning Devonshire.) I said I

hsve no intention of going ; I would rather ﬁrtso the poor-house.

ol The Commissioner questioned her about Lowe acoompanying her to the
vay

Ewings : Three da; Mrs. Lowe was a cruel en ! She tried
to send me away and baggage. ‘She forced me away in one of those common
sort of oarriages. . Shapter came to see me in the morning.
The Commissioner asked about Mr. Ellacombe visi her at Miss Cousens’ ?
Miss Ewings : I won’t say but what El]wombe was there. I don’t think he
was, I never heard of his being there. Dr. Shapter got rid of Ellacombe.
After some other conversation about the window blinds and other little

The Commissioner asked her if she could get her money when she wanted

an;

imemgs If I wanted any m Dr. Shapter would provide it, to be
sure, He is my protector. He always lets me have money.

Miss Ewings, (without bemgnkod) took out her purse and counted ten

loveteimandt-hdfsouman,twwe,m the Commissioner’s hands, with a
pleased air,
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The Commissianer asked her if that did not make ten guineas ?

Miss Ewings said : Oh ! no, not ten guineas, £10 10s. ; it has nothing to do
with ten guineas—there are no guineas now.

She offered the Commissioner two sovereigns rather bashfully, and “said I
will give égu a couple of guineas if you will not be offended.

The Commissioner asked what they were for? .

Miss Ewings : I will give you a couple of guineas, adding (after a pause
and a&puently embarrassed) for the poor.

Wak egto Commissioner returned suddenly to the subject of her leaving
arrington.

Miss Ewings : I did notknow where I was going when I left Warrington.

The Commissioner askedwhether she had made her will ?

Miss Ewings (quickly) : I kare made my will.

The Commissioner asked how she had given her money ?

Miss Ewings : I have given all my property to Dr. Shapter. I have no kind
friends ; he is very kind—he is my protector—it is my own act and deed
(emphatically.) I thoughtit a very blessed thing to have a kind friend.

The Commissioner asked the amount of her property ? ‘

Miss Ewings : £13,700 is the amount of property.

The Commissioner asked what her income was—whether £100 a-year ?

Miss Ewings: £100 a-year ! *‘ Lor!” what a way s{)on talk ! (lnughing.)

The Commissioner asked if she had money when she required it ?

Miss Ewings : When I want money I can always have it. (Showing her
purse, which, we are told, contained a few shillings short of £12.)

The Commissioner questioned her about Dr. Shapter.

Miss Ewings : He is m{ friend and protector, and also my guardian.

The Commissioner asked if she had made any one besides Dr. Shapter
“‘ residary ”’ legatee.

Miss Ewings : 1 don’t think there could be two residary legatees.

The Commissioner : Will you not make me your residary legatee? I am
your friend also.

Miss Ewings (laughing) : Oh, yes—perhaps so! I will make you residuary
legatee too, (or with Dr. Shapter.)

‘When the subject of the spectacles was mentioned, the Commissioner said
he also wore glasses, but they were not gold like hers—only steel. She said she
had had dark tacles too. The Commissioner asked her to try to see with
his. She put them on, but said they did not help her. She then put on her
own glasses, and the Commissioner took out his small Pocket-book Almanack
(Goldsmith’s,) shewed her the title page, and asked if she could read it through
her glasses ? After a slight mistake, reading ‘“ Smith” for ** Goldsmith,” which
she herself immediately corrected, she read it right—‘‘ Goldsmith,” and also
one or two other words. :

The Commissioner said more than once, ‘I am afraid I am fatiguing you.”
But Miss Ewings said ‘‘ Oh, no! I want to tell you more, but I am afraid I
am fatiguing you. I should like to tell you all about it—about my troubles.

She several times expressed great horror of being put into an asylum again ;
and when the Commissioner assured her he would take care that she never saw
the inside of one again as long as she lived, she exdpresaed great gratitude. She
several times grasped the Commissioner’s hand and held it in hers. She often
smiled, sometimes laughed outright, and once was nearly in tears when she
alluded to her sister’s death. She said she knew Winnick Church; it was a
hrgeeegbject, and could be seen very distinctly from the road. Oh! very distinctly

nd

Throughout the interview Miss Ewings conversed in the most affable and
cheerful manner with the Commissioner without embarrassment, or apparent
fatigue, and seemed not to be aware of the presence of the jury.

Miss Cousens sat close to, but a little behind her, and was never onoe turned
round to, or appealed to, by Miss Ewings ; who also, we are told, took nonotice
of Dr. Shapter’s withdrawing.

Two or three questions were proposed by jurymen, through written slips
passed to the Commissioner.

‘When the Commissioner took his leave, shaking Miss Ewings cordially by
the hand, she expressed a hope that she had not fatigued him, and said she should
always be happy to see him, and tell him more.
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